# Epidemiology and clinical researches on neuropsychiatric disorders in aging

**Edited by** Wuxiang Xie, Bao-Liang Zhong, Lirong Liang and Yutong Samuel Cai

**Published in** Frontiers in Psychiatry





#### FRONTIERS EBOOK COPYRIGHT STATEMENT

The copyright in the text of individual articles in this ebook is the property of their respective authors or their respective institutions or funders. The copyright in graphics and images within each article may be subject to copyright of other parties. In both cases this is subject to a license granted to Frontiers.

The compilation of articles constituting this ebook is the property of Frontiers.

Each article within this ebook, and the ebook itself, are published under the most recent version of the Creative Commons CC-BY licence. The version current at the date of publication of this ebook is CC-BY 4.0. If the CC-BY licence is updated, the licence granted by Frontiers is automatically updated to the new version.

When exercising any right under the CC-BY licence, Frontiers must be attributed as the original publisher of the article or ebook, as applicable.

Authors have the responsibility of ensuring that any graphics or other materials which are the property of others may be included in the CC-BY licence, but this should be checked before relying on the CC-BY licence to reproduce those materials. Any copyright notices relating to those materials must be complied with.

Copyright and source acknowledgement notices may not be removed and must be displayed

in any copy, derivative work or partial copy which includes the elements in question.

All copyright, and all rights therein, are protected by national and international copyright laws. The above represents a summary only. For further information please read Frontiers' Conditions for Website Use and Copyright Statement, and the applicable CC-BY licence.

ISSN 1664-8714 ISBN 978-2-83251-536-5 DOI 10.3389/978-2-83251-536-5

#### **About Frontiers**

Frontiers is more than just an open access publisher of scholarly articles: it is a pioneering approach to the world of academia, radically improving the way scholarly research is managed. The grand vision of Frontiers is a world where all people have an equal opportunity to seek, share and generate knowledge. Frontiers provides immediate and permanent online open access to all its publications, but this alone is not enough to realize our grand goals.

#### Frontiers journal series

The Frontiers journal series is a multi-tier and interdisciplinary set of openaccess, online journals, promising a paradigm shift from the current review, selection and dissemination processes in academic publishing. All Frontiers journals are driven by researchers for researchers; therefore, they constitute a service to the scholarly community. At the same time, the *Frontiers journal series* operates on a revolutionary invention, the tiered publishing system, initially addressing specific communities of scholars, and gradually climbing up to broader public understanding, thus serving the interests of the lay society, too.

#### Dedication to quality

Each Frontiers article is a landmark of the highest quality, thanks to genuinely collaborative interactions between authors and review editors, who include some of the world's best academicians. Research must be certified by peers before entering a stream of knowledge that may eventually reach the public - and shape society; therefore, Frontiers only applies the most rigorous and unbiased reviews. Frontiers revolutionizes research publishing by freely delivering the most outstanding research, evaluated with no bias from both the academic and social point of view. By applying the most advanced information technologies, Frontiers is catapulting scholarly publishing into a new generation.

#### What are Frontiers Research Topics?

Frontiers Research Topics are very popular trademarks of the *Frontiers journals series*: they are collections of at least ten articles, all centered on a particular subject. With their unique mix of varied contributions from Original Research to Review Articles, Frontiers Research Topics unify the most influential researchers, the latest key findings and historical advances in a hot research area.

Find out more on how to host your own Frontiers Research Topic or contribute to one as an author by contacting the Frontiers editorial office: frontiersin.org/about/contact

# Epidemiology and clinical researches on neuropsychiatric disorders in aging

#### **Topic editors**

Wuxiang Xie — Peking University, China Bao-Liang Zhong — Wuhan Mental Health Center, China Lirong Liang — Capital Medical University, China Yutong Samuel Cai — University of Leicester, United Kingdom

#### Citation

Xie, W., Zhong, B.-L., Liang, L., Cai, Y. S., eds. (2023). *Epidemiology and clinical researches on neuropsychiatric disorders in aging*. Lausanne: Frontiers Media SA. doi: 10.3389/978-2-83251-536-5

#### 🐉 frontiers | Research Topics

# Table of contents

- 04 Editorial: Epidemiology and clinical researches on neuropsychiatric disorders in aging Wuxiang Xie, Baoliang Zhong, Lirong Liang and Yutong Samuel Cai
- 07 Bidirectional Relationship Between Body Pain and Depressive
- Symptoms: A Pooled Analysis of Two National Aging Cohort Studies

Yujia Qiu, Yanjun Ma and Xuebing Huang

- 15 Prediction of Antidepressant Efficacy by Cognitive Function in First-Episode Late-Life Depression: A Pilot Study Weigang Pan, Chaomeng Liu, Dandi Zhu, Yi Liu, Peixian Mao, Yanping Ren and Xin Ma
- 23 Altered Intrinsic Brain Activity in Patients With Late-Life Depression: A Resting-State Functional MRI Study Chaomeng Liu, Weigang Pan, Dandi Zhu, Peixian Mao, Yanping Ren and Xin Ma
- 33 Persistent Depressive Symptoms and the Changes in Serum Cystatin C Levels in the Elderly: A Longitudinal Cohort Study Tiandong Han, Li Zhang, Weixing Jiang and Lei Wang
- 40 Socioeconomic Status Association With Dependency From Objective and Subjective Assessments: A Cross-Sectional Study

YiYang Pan, Ayizuhere Aierken, XiWen Ding, Yuan Chen and Ying Li

 Association of Dietary Inflammatory Index With Depression and Suicidal Ideation in Older Adult: Results From the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys 2005–2018

Yingqi Xiao and Wei Huang

- 56 Prevalence and correlates of suicidal ideation among older adults attending primary care clinics in Wuhan, China: A multicenter cross-sectional study Xiao-Min Zhu, Yan-Min Xu, Zong-Qin Wang and Bao-Liang Zhong
- 64 Associations of physical activity participation trajectories with subsequent motor function declines and incident frailty: A population-based cohort study

Yang Wang, Chenglong Li, Yanjun Ma, Fanfan Zheng and Wuxiang Xie

74 Temporal trends in anxiety and depression prevalence and their association with adverse outcomes in patients hospitalized for acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Beijing, China, from 2004 to 2020 Lin Feng, Jiachen Li, Xiaoshuang Lv, Shuilian Chu, Changwei Li, Ruiyuan Zhang, Xi Cao and Lirong Liang Check for updates

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

EDITED AND REVIEWED BY Elisa Tatti, City University of New York, United States

★CORRESPONDENCE
 Wuxiang Xie
 Xiewuxiang@hsc.pku.edu.cn

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 26 November 2022 ACCEPTED 04 January 2023 PUBLISHED 18 January 2023

CITATION

Xie W, Zhong B, Liang L and Cai YS (2023) Editorial: Epidemiology and clinical researches on neuropsychiatric disorders in aging. *Front. Psychiatry* 14:1108474. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2023.1108474

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2023 Xie, Zhong, Liang and Cai. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Editorial: Epidemiology and clinical researches on neuropsychiatric disorders in aging

#### Wuxiang Xie<sup>1\*</sup>, Baoliang Zhong<sup>2</sup>, Lirong Liang<sup>3</sup> and Yutong Samuel Cai<sup>4</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Peking University Clinical Research Institute, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Wuhan Mental Health Center, Wuhan, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Beijing Institute of Respiratory Medicine and Beijing Chao-Yang Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>4</sup>Centre for Environmental Health and Sustainability, University of Leicester, Leicester, United Kingdom

#### KEYWORDS

aging, depression, cognitive function, epidemiology, clinical research

#### Editorial on the Research Topic

Epidemiology and clinical researches on neuropsychiatric disorders in aging

With the rising aging population in a global range, related neuropsychiatric disorders such as depression and dementia, have emerged and caused a tremendous disease burden. Over the past decades, many risk factors have been identified (1–12), and advances have been made in developing prevention and intervention strategies. However, there still exist challenges to be addressed. These challenges include but are not limited to early detection and prediction of neuropsychiatric disorders, comorbidities of both neuropsychiatric and non-neuropsychiatric aspects, identifying novel indicators for disease progression and prognosis, as well as investigating potential mediating mechanisms. Facing unprecedented challenges, we launched this Research Topic to promote healthy aging and longevity from the neuropsychiatric perspective, *via* collaboration from a number of professional disciplines.

In this topic, Qiu et al. conducted a pooled analysis of two national aging cohort studies to explore a bidirectional relationship between body pain and depressive symptoms. This study detected bidirectional longitudinal influence, while most of the previous studies only explored a cross-sectional or unidirectional longitudinal association. The results indicated that medical practitioners should be aware of the bidirectional relationship and carry out early assessments or event interventions to reduce the possibility of depression in people with pain or to prevent pain in people with depressive symptoms.

Liu et al. performed a resting-state functional MRI study to investigate the altered intrinsic brain activity (IBA) in patients suffering from late-life depression (LLD) using a percent amplitude of fluctuation (PerAF) method. This study mainly found that compared with the normal control group, the late-life depression (LLD) group demonstrated decreased PerAF differences in the bilateral superior frontal gyrus, orbital part (Frontal\_Sup\_Orb), and bilateral anterior cingulate cortex (ACC), which was closely related to their attention control defects.

In a cross-sectional study published in this topic, Pan Y. et al. identified an association between poor socioeconomic status (SES) and increased prevalence of dependency personality disorder (DPD), and the results of this work represent preliminary evidence that perceived social status has a stronger association with DPD than objective SES. The impact of subjective SES on DPD is possibly associated with the perception of position in the social hierarchy. However, there is abundant room for further progress in determining the pathways of subjective SES and DPD to fully understand the complicated causality and provide targeted support strategies to reduce or delay the dependency of elderly people.

Pan W. et al. conducted a pilot study to identify cognitive function processes that may be associated with treatment response in LLD. In this study, first-episode LLD patients treated with 8-week of escitalopram or sertraline demonstrated improvement of depression and partial cognitive function including immediate memory, language, and delayed memory. The preliminary findings suggested that working memory, attention, visuospatial, and language function should be examined further as a means of providing the useful objective biomarkers of treatment response.

In a longitudinal cohort study, Han et al. examined the relationship between depressive symptoms and the changes in serum cystatin C levels, and they found that baseline persistent depressive symptoms were significantly associated with an increased rate of serum cystatin C levels during the 10-year follow-up. This study indicated that the level of serum cystatin C should be monitored in the elderly with persistent depressive symptoms. Potential mechanisms of the relationship between kidney dysfunction and depression need to be further characterized.

In another large-scale longitudinal cohort study, Wang et al. found that sustained or increasing physical activity was linked to slower declines in motor function and lower risk of incident frailty. These findings are encouraging, not confined to participants with persistently active participation in physical activity, who can still gain substantial benefits in the quality of life by becoming more physically active irrespective of past physical activity levels, providing further evidence to the broad public health benefits of physical activity.

Xiao and Huang performed a cross-sectional study based on the data from the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey, and found that high levels of dietary inflammatory index were associated with depression and suicidal ideation in older adults. In another cross-sectional study among 769 elderly primary care attenders from 13 primary care clinics in Wuhan, Zhu et al. reported that 12-month prevalence of suicidal ideation was 16.6%, which indicates the potentially high and urgent needs for suicide prevention and crisis intervention in Chinese older adults receiving primary care. Due to the rapid social changes and accelerating aging in recent decades, mental health problems and suicidal behaviors have been significant public health challenges for the older adults (13–17). Recognizing older adults with suicidal ideation in primary care settings could facilitate the early prevention of suicide in the elderly population.

In the last article published in this topic, Feng et al. presented the 17-year temporal trend in anxiety and/or depression prevalence in patients hospitalized for acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (AECOPD) in Beijing, which included 382,125 records from a city-wide representative database of hospitalizations. Three segments in the temporal trend were observed, with a mild increase during 2004–2009 (from 0.4 to 0.6%), followed by a sharp increase during 2009–2012 (from 0.6 to 2.5%), then stabilized at about 3% during 2012–2020. They also reported that patients with anxiety and/or depression had longer hospital stays, more medical costs and higher risks of readmission for AECOPD. These results show that anxiety and/or depression are undoubtedly important burdens for people with AECOPD, the health care systems and the medical insurance systems. Providing appropriate diagnosis and effective treatment of anxiety and/or depression for patients with AECOPD needs to be strengthened in clinical practice.

To conclude, the articles published in this topic provide additional evidence from epidemiology and clinical researches for current literature on neuropsychiatric disorders in aging. In the future, high-quality epidemiology and clinical researches, especially randomized controlled trials are needed to develop effective strategies of prevention and intervention for neuropsychiatric disorders in aging.

#### Author contributions

WX writing original draft of this editorial. All authors contributed to this topic design and manuscript editing efforts. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the authors for their cutting-edge works, and also express our gratitude to all the reviewers for their generously devoted time and highly valuable comments. Finally, we hope that the reader will enjoy these articles.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### References

3. Ma Y, Hua R, Yang Z, Zhong B, Yan L, Xie W. Different hypertension thresholds and cognitive decline: a pooled analysis of three ageing cohorts. *BMC Med.* (2021) 19:287. doi: 10.1186/s12916-021-02165-4

4. Li C, Ma Y, Hua R, Yang Z, Zhong B, Wang H, et al. Dose-response relationship between long-term blood pressure variability and cognitive decline. *Stroke.* (2021) 52:3249–57. doi: 10.1161/STROKEAHA.120.033697

<sup>1.</sup> Li C, Zhu Y, Ma Y, Hua R, Zhong B, Xie W. Association of cumulative blood pressure with cognitive decline, dementia, and mortality. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2022) 79:1321–35. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2022.01.045

<sup>2.</sup> Zhu Y, Li C, Xie W, Zhong B, Wu Y, Blumenthal JA. Trajectories of depressive symptoms and subsequent cognitive decline in older adults: a pooled analysis of two longitudinal cohorts. *Age Ageing.* (2021) 51:afab191. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afab191

5. Hua R, Ma Y, Li C, Zhong B, Xie W. Low levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cognitive decline. *Sci Bull.* (2021) 66:1684–90. doi: 10.1016/j.scib.2021.02.018

6. Zheng F, Yan L, Zhong B, Yang Z, Xie W. Progression of cognitive decline before and after incident stroke. *Neurology*. (2019) 93:e20–8. doi: 10.1212/WNL.000000000007716

7. Xie W, Zheng F, Yan L, Zhong B. Cognitive decline before and after incident coronary events. *J Am Coll Cardiol.* (2019) 73:3041–50. doi: 10.1016/j.jacc.2019.04.019

8. Zheng F, Zhong B, Song X, Xie W. Persistent depressive symptoms and cognitive decline in older adults. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2018) 213:638–44. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2018.155

9. Zheng F, Yan L, Yang Z, Zhong B, Xie W. HbA1c, diabetes and cognitive decline: the english longitudinal study of ageing. *Diabetologia*. (2018) 61:839-48. doi: 10.1007/s00125-017-4541-7

10. Li C, Ma Y, Hua R, Zheng F, Xie W. Long-term physical activity participation trajectories were associated with subsequent cognitive decline, risk of dementia and all-cause mortality among adults aged  $\geq 50$  years: a population-based cohort study. Age Ageing. (2022) 51:afac071. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afac071

11. Ma Y, Liang L, Zheng F, Shi L, Zhong B, Xie W. Association between sleep duration and cognitive decline. *JAMA Network Open.* (2020) 3:e2013573. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.13573

12. Zheng F, Xie W. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein and cognitive decline: the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. *Psychol Med.* (2018) 48:1381-9. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717003130

13. Zhong BL, Chen SI., Tu X, Conwell Y. Loneliness and cognitive function in older adults: findings from the chinese longitudinal healthy longevity survey. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. (2017) 72:120–8. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbw037

14. Chen WC, Chen SJ, Zhong BL. Sense of alienation and its associations with depressive symptoms and poor sleep quality in older adults who experienced the lockdown in Wuhan, China, during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol.* (2022) 35:215–22. doi: 10.1177/08919887221078564

15. Zhong BL, Chiu HF, Conwell Y. Rates and characteristics of elderly suicide in China, 2013-14. J Affect Disord. (2016) 206:273–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.09.003

16. Zhong BL, Xiang YT. Challenges to and recent research on the mental health of older adults in China during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol.* (2022) 35:179–81. doi: 10.1177/08919887221078558

17. Yuan MD, Wang ZQ, Fei L, Zhong BL. Prevalence of prolonged grief disorder and its symptoms in Chinese parents who lost their only child: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Front Public Health.* (2022) 10:1016160. doi: 10.3389/fpubh.2022.1016160



## Bidirectional Relationship Between Body Pain and Depressive Symptoms: A Pooled Analysis of Two National Aging Cohort Studies

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Bao-Liang Zhong, Wuhan Mental Health Center, China

#### Reviewed by:

Bo Hou, Bradford Teaching Hospitals NHS Foundation Trust, United Kingdom Xu Weihao, Guangdong Academy of Medical Sciences, China Chuanjun Zhuo, Tianjin Anding Hospital, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Xuebing Huang huangxuebing@bjmu.edu.cn

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work and share first authorship

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 23 February 2022 Accepted: 17 March 2022 Published: 26 April 2022

#### Citation:

Qiu Y, Ma Y and Huang X (2022) Bidirectional Relationship Between Body Pain and Depressive Symptoms: A Pooled Analysis of Two National Aging Cohort Studies. Front. Psychiatry 13:881779. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.881779 Yujia Qiu<sup>1†</sup>, Yanjun Ma<sup>2†</sup> and Xuebing Huang<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> NHC Key Laboratory of Mental Health (Peking University), Clinical Research Center, Peking University Sixth Hospital, Peking University Institute of Mental Health, National Clinical Research Center for Mental Disorders (Peking University Sixth Hospital), Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup> Peking University Clinical Research Institute, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China

**Aims:** To investigate the bidirectional longitudinal association between pain and depressive symptoms and explore whether gender modifies the association.

**Methods:** This study used data of 17,577 participants without depressive symptoms and 15,775 without pain at baseline from waves 1-8 (2002/2003 to 2016/2017) of the English Longitudinal Study of Aging (ELSA) and waves 1 to 3 [2011–2015] of the China Health Retirement Longitudinal Study (CHARLS). Cox regression models were performed at the cohort level to evaluate the potential longitudinal associations, and then random-effect meta-analyses were conducted to pool the results. The potential modifying effect was detected by *Z*-test.

**Results:** During 103,512 person-years of follow-up in participants without depressive symptoms, baseline pain intensity was associated with incident depressive symptoms. Compared with individuals who reported no pain at baseline, the pooled adjusted hazard ratio (HR) of incident depressive symptoms for participants with mild to moderate pain and for those with severe pain was 1.37 (95% CI: 1.22–1.55, p < 0.001) and 1.52 (95% CI: 1.34–1.73, p < 0.001), respectively. During 81,958 person-years of follow-up in participants without pain, baseline depressive symptoms were associated with a significantly higher incidence of pain, and the pooled adjusted HR of incident pain was 1.71 (95% CI: 1.60–1.82, p < 0.001). These associations were not modified by gender.

**Conclusions:** A bidirectional longitudinal association between pain and depressive symptoms was demonstrated, not modified by gender. Family doctors should be aware of the bidirectional association and advice individuals with pain or depressive symptoms to be screened for both kinds of symptoms.

Keywords: pain, depressive symptoms, nationally representative aging cohorts, prospective study, association between pain and depressive symptoms

7

#### INTRODUCTION

Both pain and depression are considerable health-related concerns that draw increasing attention globally (1). As indicated by a study that covered 17 countries, nearly two-fifths of adults reported chronic pains during the previous year, and it is noteworthy that the figure is rising in line with the population aging (2). Depression is another age-related disease that affects 322 million individuals worldwide (3). The annual financial costs of pain and depression had been up to \$560 billion and \$210.5 billion in the US, respectively (4, 5). The comorbidity of these two diseases is quite common. Pain conditions were complained by more than half of depression patients (6). In turn, more than 50% of patients with chronic pain suffered from depressive symptoms (7). The pain in depressive patients affected the treatment and prognosis of depression and vice versa (7). Thus, a thorough understanding of the association between pain and depressive symptoms is necessary.

Most of the previous studies on the association between pain and depression used cross-sectional data or only researched unidirectional longitudinal association. There have been several prospective studies on the bidirectional relationship between pain and depression, while these studies yielded inconsistent conclusions and were limited by representativeness, follow-up duration, or other methodological pitfalls (1, 8–12). The evidence from community-based large cohorts is still lacking. Moreover, the gender difference in the potential bidirectional longitudinal association remains unclear.

The English Longitudinal Study of Aging (ELSA) (13) and the China Health Retirement Longitudinal Study (CHARLS) (14) are two nationally representative aging cohorts that involved pain and depressive symptoms at multiple waves. These two cohorts provided an opportunity to investigate the longitudinal associations between pain and depressive symptoms. Our aims were (1) to examine the bidirectional longitudinal association between pain and depressive symptoms in community-based aging populations and (2) to explore whether gender modifies the association.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Participants**

The data were derived from the ELSA and the CHARLS, both of which are community-based and nationally representative aging cohorts. The ELSA and the CHARLS were approved by London Multicentre Research Ethics Committee and Peking University Institutional Review Board, respectively (13–15). Written informed consent forms were obtained from all participants in both cohorts.

The CHARLS cohort was of individuals who aged 45 years and older and were living in China (14). Multistage probability sampling was used in the CHARLS to ensure the nationally representativeness. The present study used the data from wave 1 (2011) as a baseline and considered waves 2–3 (2013–2015) as a follow-up period. The ELSA sample was from the Health Survey for England, which randomly enrolled individuals who aged 50 years or older and were living in England using the postcode (13, 16). The baseline of the ELSA cohort was wave 1 (2002/2003) and the follow-up waves included waves from 2 to 8 (2004/2005 to 2016/2017) (17).

**Figure 1** shows the flow chart of participant selection for the present study. In the analysis of the association between baseline pain intensity and incident depressive symptoms, 17,577 participants (9,566 from the CHARLS and 8,011 from the ELSA) free of depressive symptoms at baseline and with  $\geq$ 1 remeasurement of depressive symptoms were included in the present study (**Figure 1**). To analyze the association between baseline depressive symptoms and incident pain, this study included 15,775 participants (9,224 from the CHARLS and 6,551 from the ELSA) free of pain at baseline and with  $\geq$ 1 reassessment of pain (**Figure 1**).

#### Assessments

#### Assessment of Pain

In both cohorts, pain intensity at baseline and each followup wave were assessed. In the CHARLS cohort, baseline pain intensity was categorized into three groups: no pain, mild to moderate pain, and severe pain. If there were more than one pain location, the most severe one among them was recorded. Fifteen specific common pain locations have been assessed in the CHARLS: head, shoulders, arms, wrist, fingers, chest, stomach, back, waist, buttocks, legs, knees, ankles, toes, and neck (18). In the ELSA cohort, pain intensity was measured based on pain intensity scores ranging from 0 to 10 (0 was no pain and 10 was severe or excruciating pain). Four specific pain locations have been evaluated in the ELSA: back, hips, knees, and feet (17). For pooling analyses in this study, we divided the ELSA participants into three categories of pain intensity according to the pain intensity scores: no (scored 0), mild to moderate (scored 1-7), and severe pain (scored 8-10). The cutoff points were established according to Boonstra et al. (19). The most severe one among the four locations was used in our analyses.

In the longitudinal association analysis of baseline pain and incident depressive symptoms, pain intensity was used as a potential risk factor. In turn, incident self-reported pain that includes mild to severe pain was used as the outcome when analyzing the association between baseline depressive symptoms and incident pain.

#### Assessment of Depressive Symptoms

Depressive symptoms were assessed by an eight-item version of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CES-D) in the ELSA (20). One point was given for each item, and the total scores were ranged from 0 to 8. According to previous studies, a score of 4 or more was defined as depressive symptoms (20, 21). The CHARLS used CES-D (ten-item version) to assess depressive symptoms (22). Three points were given for each item. Thus, the scores were ranged from 0 to 30. Depressive symptoms were defined as a score  $\geq 12$  according to prior validation studies (22, 23).

#### Covariates

Covariates that were selected in our study include demographics (age and gender), socioeconomic status (education in years



and cohabitation status), lifestyle factors (smoking and alcohol consumption), and relevant clinical characteristics (self-reported physician-diagnosed history of hypertension, diabetes, coronary heart disease, stroke, cancer, and chronic lung disease) (15). Education levels of  $\geq$ senior high school in the CHARLS and  $\geq$ level 1 national vocational qualification or General Certificate of Education Advanced level in the ELSA were defined as a high level of education (24). Cohabitation status was defined as currently living alone or not. Only current smokers were defined as smokers.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The results are presented as percentages for categorical variables and means  $\pm$  standard deviation (SD) for continuous variables. Data were firstly analyzed at cohort level according to the following uniform protocol. We used Cox regression models to evaluate the relationship between baseline pain category and incident depressive symptoms and the association between baseline depressive symptoms and incident pain. After adjustment for the covariates mentioned above, hazard ratios (HRs) and corresponding 95% confidence intervals (CIs) were reported. Then, pooled analyses were performed to estimate the pooled effect and 95% CIs with random-effect meta-analyses, which took heterogeneity of the two cohorts into consideration.

The  $I^2$  statistic was used to present the extent of variability between the two studies that were attributable to heterogeneity. To assess the potential modifying effects of gender on the bidirectional relationship, a Z-test was performed to compare the coefficients between two subgroup analyses, with the method proposed by Altman and Bland (25). To evaluate the stability of our main results, we performed longitudinal analyses of baseline pain and incident depressive symptoms repeatedly and restricted to participants with baseline CES-D scores  $\leq 1$  (median) in the ELSA and  $\leq 5$  (median) in the CHARLS to control the reverse causality.

Regression analyses were conducted using SAS software, version 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Meta-analyses were performed using STATA (version 11; Stata Corp, College Station, TX, USA). All analyses were two-sided with a threshold value of p- equals to 0.05 for statistical significance.

#### RESULTS

#### **Baseline Characteristics**

A total of 17,577 individuals (9,566 from the CHARLS and 8,011 from the ELSA) without depressive symptoms at baseline were included in the pooled analysis of the association between pain intensity and incident depressive symptoms, and 15,775

TABLE 1 Characteristics of participants in the China Health Retirement Longitudinal Study (CHARLS) and the English Longitudinal Study of Aging (ELSA) at baseline.

Characteristics	Participants without	ut depressive symptoms at baseline	Participants without	ut pain at baseline
	CHARLS ( <i>n</i> = 9,566)	ELSA ( <i>n</i> = 8,011)	CHARLS ( <i>n</i> = 9,224)	ELSA (n = 6,551)
Age (years)	57.8 ± 9.2	63.2 ± 10.3	$58.2 \pm 9.5$	$62.9 \pm 10.5$
Women (%)	4,656 (48.7)	4,357 (54.4)	4,491 (48.7)	3,554 (54.3)
Pain severity (%)				
No pain	7,460 (78.0)	5,827 (72.7)	9,224 (100.0)	6,551 (100.0)
Mild to moderate pain	1,465 (15.3)	1,564 (19.5)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Severe pain	641 (6.7)	620 (7.7)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)
Depressive symptoms (%)	0 (0.0)	0 (0.0)	1,554 (16.9)	724 (11.1)
CES-D scores*	$5.1 \pm 3.3$	$0.81 \pm 0.97$	$6.6 \pm 5.3$	$1.16\pm1.70$
High level of education (%)	1,427 (14.9)	2,631 (32.8)	1,349 (14.6)	2,264 (34.6)
Living alone (%)	864 (9.0)	2,310 (28.8)	990 (10.7)	2,022 (30.9)
Current smoking (%)	3,059 (32.0)	1,314 (16.4)	2,939 (31.9)	1,104 (16.9)
Alcoholic drink $\geq$ once per week (%)	1,727 (18.1)	4,994 (62.3)	1,624 (17.6)	4,197 (64.1)
Hypertension (%)	2,176 (22.8)	2,842 (35.5)	2,031 (22.0)	2,222 (33.9)
Diabetes (%)	481 (5.0)	484 (6.0)	451 (4.9)	357 (5.5)
Coronary heart disease (%)	942 (9.9)	799 (10.0)	862 (9.4)	587 (9.0)
Stroke (%)	141 (1.5)	244 (3.1)	133 (1.4)	191 (2.9)
Cancer (%)	70 (0.7)	434 (5.4)	62 (0.7)	352 (5.4)
Chronic lung disease (%)	770 (8.1)	400 (5.0)	696 (7.6)	273 (4.2)
Asthma (%)	242 (2.5)	819 (10.2)	219 (2.4)	646 (9.9)

The results are presented as mean  $\pm$  SD or n (%).

\*The ranges of CES-D scores in the CHARLS and the ELSA were different.

participants free of pain (9,224 from the CHARLS and 6,551 from the ELSA) at baseline were included in this analysis of the association between depressive symptoms and incident pain. **Table 1** presents the baseline characteristics of the two cohorts separately.

# Baseline Pain Intensity and Incident Depressive Symptoms

During 103,512 person-years of follow-up (the CHARLS: 33,586 and the ELSA: 69,926), we identified 2,140 participants (22.4%) in the CHARLS and 2,060 (25.7%) in the ELSA who have had incident depressive symptoms. The incidence of depressive symptoms was significantly increased by pain intensity in both cohorts (**Figure 2** and **Supplementary Table 1** in Supplementary File).

Compared with individuals who reported no pain at baseline, the pooled adjusted HR of incident depressive symptoms for participants with mild to moderate pain and for those with severe pain was 1.37 (95% CI: 1.22–1.55, p < 0.001) and 1.52 (95% CI: 1.34–1.73, p < 0.001), respectively (**Table 2**).

# Baseline Depressive Symptoms and Incident Pain

During 81,958 person-years of follow-up (the CHARLS: 30,946 and the ELSA: 51,012), 3,209 individuals (34.8%) from the CHARLS cohort and 2,646 (40.4%) from the ELSA cohort reported incident pain. Compared with participants without depressive symptoms, individuals with baseline depressive

symptoms at baseline had a significantly higher incidence of pain in both cohorts (**Figure 2** and **Supplementary Table 2** in Supplementary File).

Compared to participants without baseline depressive symptoms, those with depressive symptoms at baseline had a significantly higher incidence of pain in both cohorts after multivariable adjustment (pooled HR 1.71, 95% CI: 1.60–1.82, p < 0.001; **Table 3**).

#### Non-Response Analyses

Among the baseline population, 1,395 (12.7%) participants from the CHARLS and 1,633 (16.9%) from the ELSA with complete baseline data were excluded from the analyses on the association between baseline pain intensity and incident depressive symptoms for loss to follow-up. The excluded participants in both cohorts were older, had a higher percentage of living alone, smoking, coronary heart disease, self-reported diabetes, stroke, and chronic lung disease, and had a lower percentage of alcohol consumption (**Supplementary Tables 3**, **4** in Supplementary File). Similarly, individuals who were excluded from the analyses on the association between baseline depressive symptoms and incident pain also had higher levels of the major risk factors than those who were included in this study (data not shown).

#### Subgroup Analyses by Gender

We performed repeated analyses by gender and found that the associations between baseline pain severity and incident



FIGURE 2 | Incident depressive symptoms by baseline pain severity (A) and incident pain by baseline depressive symptoms (B).

depressive symptoms were still significant in both men and women (**Supplementary Tables 5**, **6** in Supplementary File). **Table 4** shows the summarized results of pooled analyses by gender, and we found that these associations were not modified by gender.

#### **Sensitivity Analyses**

We restricted analyses to participants with baseline CES-D scores  $\leq 5$  in the CHARLS and  $\leq 1$  in the ELSA. The results

show that the associations between pain categories and incident depressive symptoms became stronger (**Supplementary Table 7** in Supplementary File).

#### DISCUSSION

In this pooled study of two nationally representative aging cohorts, we detected a significant bidirectional longitudinal association between pain and depressive symptoms after TABLE 2 | Association between baseline pain severity and incident depressive symptoms, using Cox regression models.

Pain category H	CHARLS ( $n = 4,656$ )		ELSA ( $n = 4$	ELSA ( <i>n</i> = 4,357)		Meta-analysis ( $n = 9,013$ )			
	HR (95% CI)*	P value*	HR (95% CI)*	P value*	Pooled HR (95% CI)	P value	l² (%)	P value	
No pain	Ref	/	Ref	/	Ref	/	/	/	
Mild to moderate pain	1.29 (1.16–1.44)	< 0.001	1.46 (1.32–1.62)	< 0.001	1.37 (1.22–1.55)	< 0.001	62.3	0.103	
Severe pain	1.42 (1.23-1.64)	< 0.001	1.62 (1.41–1.85)	< 0.001	1.52 (1.34–1.73)	< 0.001	41.3	0.192	
Per category increase	1.22 (1.14–1.30)	< 0.001	1.31 (1.23–1.39)	< 0.001	1.27 (1.18–1.36)	< 0.001	58.6	0.120	

\*After adjusting for baseline CES-D scores, gender, age, education, marital status, current smoking, alcohol consumption, self-reported hypertension, diabetes, coronary heart disease, stroke, cancer, chronic lung disease, and asthma.

TABLE 3	Association between	baseline depressive	e symptoms and incide	ent pain usin	g Cox regression model.
	7.0000101011 0010001		<i>y</i> symptom s and molad	nit pain, uon	g oox regression model.

Depressive symptoms	CHARLS (n = 9,224)		ELSA (n = 6,551)		Meta-analysis ( $n = 15,775$ )			
	HR (95% CI)*	P value*	HR (95% CI)*	P value*	Pooled HR (95% CI)	P value	l² (%)	P value
No	Ref	/	Ref	/	Ref	/	/	/
Yes	1.74 (1.61–1.89)	< 0.001	1.65 (1.48–1.84)	< 0.001	1.71 (1.60–1.82)	<0.001	0.0	0.441

\*After adjusting for gender, age, education, marital status, current smoking, alcohol consumption, self-reported hypertension, diabetes, coronary heart disease, stroke, cancer, chronic lung disease, and asthma.

**TABLE 4** | Modifying effects of sex on the association between baseline pain intensity and incident depressive symptoms, and on the association between baseline depressive symptoms and incident pain.

	Pooled HR (95% CI)*	P for interaction
Baseline pain intensity and	l incident depressive sympt	oms
No Pain	Ref	/
Mild to moderate pain		
Women	1.33 (1.09–1.62)	0.436
Men	1.46 (1.29–1.66)	
Severe pain		
Women	1.51 (1.25–1.83)	1.000
Men	1.51 (1.28–1.78)	
Per category increase		
Women	1.25 (1.12–1.41)	0.734
Men	1.28 (1.19–1.38)	
Baseline depressive symp	toms and incident pain	
No depressive symptoms	Ref	/
Depressive symptoms		
Women	1.63 (1.48–1.80)	0.075
Men	1.86 (1.67–2.07)	

\*After adjusting for baseline CES-D scores (when analyzing the association between baseline pain intensity and incident depressive symptoms), age, education, marital status, current smoking, alcohol consumption, self-reported hypertension, diabetes, coronary heart disease, stroke, cancer, chronic lung disease, and asthma.

adjustment for potential confounders. This bidirectional association was not modified by gender. To the knowledge of the authors, the present study is one the of largest cohort studies on this topic.

Our study provided additional evidence for the bidirectional association between pain and depression from community-based

middle-aged and elderly people. Magni et al. firstly investigated and found the bidirectional relationship in a prospective study among patients with pain or depression in 1993, while they found the association was small in magnitude (8). Some short-term studies, which lasted only 1 or 2 years, found a bidirectional association between lower back pain and depression (9, 10, 26). Besides the limited follow-up period, these three studies were conducted among patients from outpatient or healthcare plans, thus the representativeness limited their power to demonstrate the association in the general population. In 2006, Chou analyzed the 2-year data of the ELSA and found the bidirectional longitudinal association between pain and depression (1). While this study did not perform a subgroup study according to gender and was limited by the short period, as Chou admitted (1). In a long-term cohort of 2,028 seniors, the bidirectional influence was also noticed but did not remain after adjustment for covariates (11). Recently, a large-sampled study proved a stronger bidirectional association between pain and mental illness than what we found (12). Nevertheless, this study only employed data from a register system, which not only caused selection bias but also limited its ability to investigate the temporal association between pain and depression, since patients with pain or depression did not necessarily go to see a doctor at the onset. Moreover, the registered study did not differentiate between depression and anxiety (12).

Some researchers suggested that female depression patients were more likely to be affected by chronic pain than male patients (27, 28). Besides, previous studies also observed that women were more sensitive to pain and pain-related distress in both real life and experiment (28–30). Thus, we assumed that gender might modify the bidirectional association between pain and depressive symptoms. However, our study did not find this modifying effect. It probably resulted from the age category, for all the participants

who were above 45 in China and above 50 in England, around or after menopause. This population was nearly free from the effect of sex hormones. Consequently, future research could extend the population to younger individuals to investigate the potential gender difference of the bidirectional association between pain and depression.

The precise mechanisms that link pain and depression remain unclear. An adequate understanding of the bidirectional relationship and underlying mechanism may contribute to screening approach and prevention strategies for pain in patients with depressive symptoms and vice versa. The following potential mechanisms might explain the bidirectional relationship. It has been proved that neuroinflammation was of pivotal importance in the pathogenesis of both chronic pain and depression. High levels of corticosterone and cytokines induced microglial activation (31). This activation probably suppresses neurogenesis and neuroplasticity, leading to depressive symptoms (28, 32). Meanwhile, microglial activation has been identified as a key role in chronic pain development and maintenance (33). Thus, pain and depression probably share neuropathological mechanisms. Moreover, psychological factors that include self-perceived health-related quality of life might also mediate the bidirectional association between pain and depression (33).

The major strength of our study is the large longterm community-based cohorts. Both the ELSA and the CHARLS were nationally representative of two countries with substantial cultural differences and provided free premium multiwave data that cover depressive scores, pain severities, and covariates measurement. Second, this study detected bidirectional longitudinal influence, while most of the previous studies only explored across-sectional or unidirectional longitudinal association.

However, the presented study has several limitations. First, it is an observational study, which inevitably limited its ability to demonstrate the causal association. Thus, further mechanisms or experimental studies that focus on the bidirectional association are required. Second, over 10% of individuals were excluded in both cohorts due to loss to follow-up. These excluded individuals had higher levels of risk factors than those included in this study, which may limit the generalization of our results to the original populations (24). Third, it is noteworthy that the scales of pain intensity and depressive symptoms used in the ELSA and CHARLS were different. However, the consistent results under the different scales might be more persuasive than under a uniform scale. Fourth, pain and depressive symptoms used in this study were self-reported but not doctor-diagnosed, which might have biased our results. Fifth, current confounding might exist even though we have adjusted for a series of potential covariates. For example, the rural/urban differences in China might bias the bidirectional association between pain and depressive symptoms without a certain direction, while the consistency of the findings between the two cohorts indicated the magnitude of the bias might be small. Finally, there was small heterogeneity between the results of the ELSA and the CHARLS, which had been located as the influence of baseline depressive symptom scale on later incident pain for women.

#### CONCLUSIONS

This pooled analysis of two national aging cohort studies provides further evidence that supports the bidirectional association between pain and depressive symptoms. Individuals with pain had a higher risk of incident depressive symptoms and vice versa. Gender does not modify the bidirectional association. This study suggested that family doctors should be aware of the bidirectional relationship and carry out early assessments or event interventions to reduce the possibility of depression in people with pain or to prevent pain in people with depressive symptoms. Future studies are necessary to explore the potential mechanisms underneath the bidirectional association.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: http://charls.pku.edu.cn/; https://beta.ukdataservice.ac.uk/datacatalogue/series/series?id=2 00011.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by London Multicentre Research Ethics Committee and Peking University Institutional Review Board. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YQ and YM conducted the statistical analysis and drafted the original manuscript. XH conceived the study and revised the manuscript. All authors had final responsibility for the submission and all of them read and approved the final version of the manuscript.

#### FUNDING

This study was supported by the Capital Health Research and Development of Special Fund Program (No. 2018-2-4114) and Self-exploration Project of National Clinical Research Center for Mental Disorders (No. NCRC2020Z05).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the original data creators, copyright holders, depositors, the funders of the data collections for the use of

data from the China Health Retirement Longitudinal Study: Waves 1–3, and the English Longitudinal Study of Aging: Waves 1–8. The original data creators, copyright holders or depositors bear no responsibility for the current data analysis or interpretation.

#### REFERENCES

- Chou KL. Reciprocal relationship between pain and depression in older adults: Evidence from the English Longitudinal Study of Ageing. J Affect Disord. (2007) 102:115–23. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2006.12.013
- Tsang A, Von Korff M, Lee S, et al. Common chronic pain conditions in developed and developing countries: gender and age differences and comorbidity with depression-anxiety disorders. J Pain. (2008) 9:883– 91. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2008.05.005
- Friedrich MJ. Depression Is the Leading Cause of Disability Around the World. JAMA. (2017) 317:1517. doi: 10.1001/jama.2017.3826
- Greenberg PE, Fournier AA, Sisitsky T, Pike CT, Kessler RC. The economic burden of adults with major depressive disorder in the United States (2005 and 2010). J Clin Psychiatry. (2015) 76:155–62. doi: 10.4088/JCP.14m09298
- Simon LS. Relieving Pain in America: A Blueprint for Transforming Prevention, Care, Education, and Research. *Mil Med.* (2016) 181:397– 9. doi: 10.7205/MILMED-D-16-00012
- Linton SJ, Bergbom S. Understanding the link between depression and pain. Scand J Pain. (2011) 2:47–54. doi: 10.1016/j.sjpain.2011.01.005
- Bair MJ, Robinson RL, Katon W, Kroenke K. Depression and pain comorbidity: a literature review. Arch Intern Med. (2003) 163:2433– 45. doi: 10.1001/archinte.163.20.2433
- Magni G, Marchetti M, Moreschi C, Merskey H, Luchini SR. Chronic musculoskeletal pain and depressive symptoms in the National Health and Nutrition Examination. I Epidemiologic follow-up study. *Pain.* (1993) 53:163– 8. doi: 10.1016/0304-3959(93)90076-2
- Hurwitz EL, Morgenstern H, Yu F. Cross-sectional and longitudinal associations of low-back pain and related disability with psychological distress among patients enrolled in the UCLA Low-Back Pain Study. J Clin Epidemiol. (2003) 56:463–71. doi: 10.1016/S0895-4356(03)00010-6
- Meyer T, Cooper J, Raspe H. Disabling low back pain and depressive symptoms in the community-dwelling elderly: a prospective study. *Spine*. (2007) 32:2380. doi: 10.1097/BRS.0b013e3181557955
- Hilderink PH, Burger H, Deeg DJ, Beekman A, Voshaar RO. The temporal relation between pain and depression: results from the longitudinal aging study Amsterdam. *Psychosom Med.* (2012) 74:945. doi: 10.1097/PSY.0b013e3182733fdd
- Bondesson E, Pardo FL, Stigmar K, et al. Comorbidity between pain and mental illness – Evidence of a bidirectional relationship. *Eur J Pain.* (2018) 22:1304–11. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1218
- Steptoe A, Breeze E, Banks J, Nazroo J. Cohort profile: the English longitudinal study of ageing. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2013) 42:1640–8. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys168
- Zhao Y, Hu Y, Smith JP, John S, Yang G. Cohort Profile: The China Health and Retirement Longitudinal Study (CHARLS). *Int J Epidemiol.* (2014) 43:61– 8. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys203
- Ma Y, Liang L, Zheng F, Shi L, Zhong B, Xie W. Association Between Sleep Duration and Cognitive Decline. *JAMA Network Open.* (2020) 3:e2013573. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.13573
- Rogers NT, Banks J, Nazroo J, Steptoe A. English Longitudinal Study of Aging (ELSA). Encyclopedia Geropsychol. (2017). doi: 10.1007/978-981-287-082-7\_52
- Rong W, Zhang C, Zheng F, Xiao S, Yang Z, Xie W. Persistent moderate to severe pain and long-term cognitive decline. *Eur J Pain.* (2021) 25:1857– 8. doi: 10.1002/ejp.1826
- Li W, Gamber M, Han J, Sun W, Yu T. The Association Between Pain and Fall Among Middle-Aged and Older Chinese. *Pain Manag Nurs.* (2021) 22:343–8. doi: 10.1016/j.pmn.2020.10.004
- Boonstra AM, Stewart RE, Koke AJ, Oosterwijk RF, Swaan JL, Schreurs KM, et al. Cut-Off Points for Mild, Moderate, and Severe Pain on the Numeric Rating Scale for Pain in Patients with Chronic Musculoskeletal Pain: Variability and Influence of Sex and Catastrophizing. *Front Psychol.* (2016) 7:1466. doi: 10.3389/fpsyg.2016.01466

#### SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.881779/full#supplementary-material

- Zheng F, Zhong B, Song X, Xie W. Persistent depressive symptoms and cognitive decline in older adults. Br J Psychiatry. (2018) 213:1– 7. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2018.155
- Hamer M, Batty GD, Kivimaki M. Risk of future depression in people who are obese but metabolically healthy: the English longitudinal study of ageing. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2012) 17:940–5. doi: 10.1038/mp.2012.30
- 22. Li C, Toni M, Shen L, et al. Early-life exposure to severe famine and subsequent risk of depressive symptoms in late adulthood: the China Health and Retirement Longitudinal Study. Br J Psychiatry. (2018) 213:1– 8. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2018.116
- Chen H, Mui AC. Factorial validity of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale short form in older population in China. *Int Psychoger.* (2014) 26:1–9. doi: 10.1017/S1041610213001701
- Liang L, Hua R, Tang S, Li C, Xie W. Low-to-Moderate Alcohol Intake Associated with Lower Risk of Incidental Depressive Symptoms: A Pooled Analysis of Three Intercontinental Cohort Studies. J Affect Disord. (2021) 286:49–57. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2021.02.050
- Altman, Douglas G, Bland, Martin J. Interaction revisited: the difference between two estimates. *BMJ*. (2003) 326:219. doi: 10.1136/bmj.326.73 82.219
- Kroenke K, Wu J, Bair MJ, Krebs EE, Damush TM, Tu W. Reciprocal relationship between pain and depression: a 12-month longitudinal analysis in primary care. *J Pain.* (2011) 12:964–73. doi: 10.1016/j.jpain.2011. 03.003
- Martin, Scherer, Heike, et al. Association between multimorbidity patterns and chronic pain in elderly primary care patients: a cross-sectional observational study. BMC Fam Pract. (2016) 17:68–68. doi: 10.1186/s12875-016-0468-1
- Panagiotis Z, Argyro D, Ilia B, Panagiota S, Giustino V, Antonella P. Depression and chronic pain in the elderly: links and management challenges. *Clin Interv Aging.* (2017) 12:709–20. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S113576
- Paller CJ, Campbell CM, Edwards RR, Dobs AS. Sex-Based Differences in Pain Perception and Treatment. *Pain Med.* (2010) 289–99. doi: 10.1111/j.1526-4637.2008.00558.x
- Van HO, Torrance N, Smith BH. Chronic pain epidemiology and its clinical relevance. *Br J Anaesth.* (2013) 111:13–18. doi: 10.1093/bja/aet123
- Réus GZ, Fries GR, Stertz L, Badawy M, Quevedo J. The role of inflammation and microglial activation in the pathophysiology of psychiatric disorders. *Neuroscience*. (2015) 300:141–54. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroscience.2015.05.018
- Brites D, Fernandes A. Neuroinflammation and Depression: Microglia Activation, Extracellular Microvesicles and microRNA Dysregulation. Front Cell Neurosci. (2015) 9:476. doi: 10.3389/fncel.2015.00476
- Gosselin RD, Suter MR Ji RR, Decosterd I. Glial cells and chronic pain. Neuroscientist. (2010) 16:519–31. doi: 10.1177/1073858409360822

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Qiu, Ma and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



### Prediction of Antidepressant Efficacy by Cognitive Function in First-Episode Late-Life Depression: A Pilot Study

Weigang Pan<sup>1,2</sup>, Chaomeng Liu<sup>1,2</sup>, Dandi Zhu<sup>1,2</sup>, Yi Liu<sup>1,2</sup>, Peixian Mao<sup>1,2</sup>, Yanping Ren<sup>1,2\*</sup> and Xin Ma<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The National Clinical Research Center for Mental Disorders and Beijing Key Laboratory of Mental Disorders, Beijing Anding Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup> Advanced Innovation Center for Human Brain Protection, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Lirong Liang, Capital Medical University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Jun Li, Beijing Normal University, China Dae Jong Oh, Seoul Metropolitan Government – Seoul National University Boramae Medical Center, South Korea

#### \*Correspondence:

Yanping Ren renyanping@ccmu.edu.cn Xin Ma maxinanding@ccmu.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 08 April 2022 Accepted: 02 May 2022 Published: 20 May 2022

#### Citation:

Pan W, Liu C, Zhu D, Liu Y, Mao P, Ren Y and Ma X (2022) Prediction of Antidepressant Efficacy by Cognitive Function in First-Episode Late-Life Depression: A Pilot Study. Front. Psychiatry 13:916041. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.916041 The response rate of treatment for late-life depression (LLD) is only 25-60%. The cognitive impairment associated with LLD often affects the effectiveness of antidepressants and may has the potential ability to predict response. This study seeks a biomarker for baseline cognitive function to predict efficacy of antidepressants. Sixty patients diagnosed with LLD received escitalopram or sertraline treatment for 8 weeks. Clinical symptom was measured using Hamilton Depression Rating Scale-17 (HAMD-17) and cognitive function was measured using the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS), Trail Making Test (TMT) before and after 8-week treatment. Patients were divided into treatment effective group (TE) and treatment ineffective group (TI) according to reduction rate in scores of HAMD-17 after treatment. Thirty-eight matched healthy controls (HC) were assessed using RBANS and TMT. There was significant decrease of score of RBANS and increase of score of TMT in patients with LLD compared with HC. Regression analysis revealed that change in HAMD-17 score was significantly positively associated with baseline score of picture naming, figure copy, digit span, and delayed memory. The preliminary findings suggested that working memory, attention, visuospatial, language function, and delayed memory should be examined further as a means of providing the useful objective biomarkers of treatment response.

Clinical Trials Registration: [www.ClinicalTrials.gov], identifier [ChiCTR2100042370].

Keywords: treatment response, remission, aging population, major depression (MDD), cognitive predictors, cognitive function

#### INTRODUCTION

Late-life depression (LLD) can be defined as major depressive disorder that occurs for 60 years of age or older (1, 2). The global prevalence of LLD is 13.3%, which is significantly higher than that of depression in younger age (3). The response rate of treatment for late-life depression (LLD) is only 25–60% (4). Because treatment effects may be delayed during antidepressant treatment, the guideline continues to recommend 4–6 weeks of treatment until treatment failure. This approach to

medication selection contributes to treatment failure and unnecessarily exposes patients to lengthy and inadequate treatment trials, prolonging patient morbidity (5). Identifying predictors of early efficacy for antidepressants is an important issue to be solved and have great clinical significance because it will enable clinicians to determine as early as possible whether patients will benefit from specific types of treatment (4, 5). In addition, the prediction of antidepressant efficacy could improve treatment sensitivity, which would help reduce unnecessary drug exposure (6). Treatment-resistant depression is detected promptly and antidepressant therapy can be optimized as early as possible (7) which could improve the patient's quality of life, reduce the medical burden, and even reduces the risk of suicide of patients (8).

Cognitive dysfunction, such as decreased ability to think and concentrate, and difficulty in making decisions, is one of the main clinical manifestations of depression and a diagnostic item in the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, fifth edition (DSM-5) (9). LLD has a particularly prominent cognitive impairment compared with youth depression (10). Cognitive symptoms in LLD are mainly manifested as functional impairments in executive function, memory, and information processing speed, which are risk factors affecting social functional outcomes (5, 10, 11). There was discrepancy of the relationship for cognitive function and response to antidepressant therapy in LLD. Several studies suggested that cognitive symptoms appeared in the acute periods of depression, which would affect the effective rate of antidepressant treatment (12, 13). A recent metaanalysis investigated the relationship between antidepressant efficacy in LLD and attention, suggesting that executive function deficits in LLD are associated with poor prognosis (5). It is generally believed that the impairment of executive function in LLD affects the efficacy of antidepressants (10). Morimoto et al. (14) found that baseline TMT scores (indicative of greater executive dysfunction) predicted percent change of Montgomery Asberg Depression Rating Scale (MADRS) over the 4 weeks in LLD. The result appeared to distinguish verbal perseveration from verbal initiation as the cognitive process that was most associated with poor treatment response. Similarly, in the largest positive study, Potter et al. (15) found that perseverative responses during verbal initiation tasks that fewer perseverative errors on the Controlled Oral Word Association Task and better performance on Digit Span significantly predicted better remission status in LLD (n = 110). Another meta-analysis (17 studies) analyzed the prediction of antidepressant efficacy by different cognitive impairments (90 cognitive assessment tools) found that impairment of working memory and delayed recall were associated with poor antidepressant efficacy (16). This finding was also reported by Sheline et al. (17), who found that baseline episodic memory, language, working memory predicted percent change of MADRS in LLD. In accordance with the present results, previous study had demonstrated that best prose recall at baseline exhibited the greatest treatment response at follow-up (18). It was inconsistent about the relationship of cognitive function impairment and antidepressant efficacy in LLD. Pimontel et al. (4) concluded from a metaanalysis of cognitive testing in LLD, that only planning and

organization (measured by a subtest of the Dementia Rating Scale) were associated with antidepressant efficacy. Other studies have found that there was no association between executive function and antidepressant efficacy (19–21). Several other studies have suggested no correlation between verbal learning and memory performance in LLD and antidepressant efficacy (22–24).

Although there is emerging evidence indicating that there might be potential cognitive function to predict treatment response in LLD, conclusions from these studies are limited by the using of unequally treatment, inadequate follow-up time and frequency, small sample size subjects, and only assessed one or a small number of cognitive domains, which resulting in inconsistent information to identify the cognitive function on prediction of response of treatment. In addition, some studies included relapsed patients, which is difficult to differentiate the effect on cognition of previous use of antidepressant drugs from the factors of the disease itself (5). Especially, patients with LLD are a heterogeneous group, including individuals with early-onset depression in whom the initial depression manifesting occurs earlier in life, and individuals with late-onset depression who had a first depressive episode after age 60 years (1, 2). Late-onset depression has a particularly prominent cognitive impairment compared with early-onset depression (10). To the best of our knowledge, it is still unclear which cognitive function best predicts antidepressant response of first-episode, drug naive LLD patients.

In this study, we discuss how cognitive dysfunction may contribute to the treatment response in late-onset depression. During this longitudinal study, we measured Trail Making Test A (TMT-A), Trail Making Test B (TMT-B) and Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS), to determine whether the baseline measures of these could be used to predict response after 8 weeks of antidepressant treatment. The association between baseline cognitive testing (TMT-A, TMT-B, and RBANS) score and percent change in 17-item Hamilton Depression (HAMD-17) score after antidepressant was assessed.

We hypothesized that LLD was widespread cognitive function impairment affect disease prognosis. The purpose of the current study was to identify cognitive function processes that may be associated with treatment response in LLD. One goal was to further examine the roles of cognitive function as predictor of treatment response. Moreover, we aimed to identify the role of cognitive function, such as immediate memory, delayed memory, visuospatial, language, and executive function, that might influence treatment response in LLD.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Participants

Eighty LLD patients were recruited from the outpatient clinic of Beijing Anding Hospital, Affiliated Capital Medical University from January 2021 to November 2021. LLD patients met the following inclusion criteria: (1) age  $\geq 60$  years old, with an education level more than 6 years; (2) first episode of depression occurred after the age of 60; (3) met the criteria for major depression according the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, Fifth Edition (DSM-5); (4) HAMD-17 score  $\geq$  17; (5) not taking antidepressants when enrollment. Twenty of these patients did not complete the study. Thus, the final analysis consisted of sixty LLD patients. Thirty-eight healthy controls (HC) were recruited from the communities in Beijing, China. The inclusion criteria for HCs as follows: (1) age > 60 years old; (2) no psychiatric disorder, cognitive function is normal; (3) no psychotropic drug treatment. The exclusion criteria of all participants were as follows: (1) participants with previous manic or hypomanic episode; (2) comorbid dementia, psychiatric or medical conditions; (3) serious medical illnesses like cardiovascular, hepatic, renal, etc.; (4) history of brain injury; (5) substance abuse or dependence; (6) score of Minimum Mental State Examination (MMSE) more than 20 for primary education level, or score of MMSE more than 24 for equal to and over middle school education level over middle school (25, 26).

The study was approved by the Ethics Committee of Beijing Anding Hospital, Capital Medical University (2020-Scientific Research-97). All participants or their family members were required to provide written informed consent before entering the study. The trial was registered in the Chinese Clinical Trial Registry (ChiCTR2100042370).

# Antidepressant Treatment and Efficacy Assessment

Patients diagnosed with LLD received 8-week antidepressant treatment with escitalopram or sertraline. The dosage of the drug was adjusted by doctor according the patient's clinical conditions. Patients with severe sleep disturbance, anxiety or agitation may be treated with short-term benzodiazepines. During the 8-week treatment period, none of the patients received neurostimulation therapy such as electroconvulsive therapy or transcranial magnetic stimulation therapy. The clinical symptom was measured using the HAMD-17 at baseline and 8-week after treatment.

Rates of response was defined as a  $\geq$  50% reduction in HAM-17 total score from baseline to post 8-week treatment. The percent changes in HAMD-17 were determined using: (baseline HAMD-17– posttreatment HAMD-17)/baseline HAMD-17 ×100%. The patients with LLD were divided into two groups based on change of HAMD-17. Treatment effective group (TE) was defined as the changes in HAMD-17 score 50% or higher and treatment ineffective group (TI) was defined as changes in HAMD-17 score less than 50%.

#### **Cognitive Function Assessment**

TMT and RBANS were used to assess cognitive function. The TMT-A test connects the circles with numbers (1 $\sim$ 25) written in sequence, and the TMT- B test connects the numbers and Chinese characters in an alternating manner. The operation time and error number of TMT-A test reflects the visuospatial scanning and writing ability of the subjects, and the operation time and error number of TMT-B test reflects the ability of the subjects to transform between different sequences. The longer

the time spent and the more errors, the lower the cognitive flexibility of the subjects. The test reflects executive function, attention, and information processing speed. RBANS consists of 12 test tasks (12 items) to assess 5 cognitive function indicators (5 factors): Immediate Memory: assessed by list learning and story memory; Visuospatial: composed of figure copy and line orientation; Language: including picture naming and semantic fluency; Attention: consisted of digital span and coding; Delayed Memory: composed of list recall, list recognition, story recall and figure recall. RBANS is easy to perform and takes nearly 20 min to administer. The mean of the RBANS index score and subscale score is 100 in each instance, with the standard deviation of each instance is 15.

LLD patients were assessed for cognitive function at baseline and after 8-week treatment. HC participants completed the cognition test once when entering the trial.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

The data were analyzed using Statistical Package for Social Sciences version 23.0 (IBM SPSS 23.0, Chicago, IL, United States). Data were tested for normality using Kolmogorov-Smirnov test. The non-parametric data were compared by Wilcoxon-Mann-Whitney test. Between the NC group and LLD group, we examined differences in demographics, cognitive testing using *t*-test for continuous variables and  $\chi^2$ -test for categorical variables. The difference of change in cognitive testing (TMT-A, TMT-B and RBANS) score and HAMD-17 score between TE and TI group were examined using repeated-measures ANCOVAs. Multiple linear regression analysis was performed to analyze potential impact on response rate of various risk factors including cognitive function, clinical characteristic, and sociodemographic data. Binary logistic regression analysis was performed to analyze the predictors of efficacy. Receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was used to evaluate the predictive ability of the model constructed by logistic regression analysis. p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant. The significance level was set to p < 0.05, two-tailed.

#### RESULTS

#### **Participants**

A total of eighty LLD patients and 38 HC were recruited. Twenty of LLD patients did not complete the study. Thus, the final analysis consisted of sixty LLD patients and 38 HC. There were no significant differences in age, gender, and education level between two groups (see **Table 1**).

The scores of TMT-A (z = 4.259, p < 0.001) and TMT-B (z = 5.042, p < 0.001) in LLD group were significantly higher than those in HC group. There were significant differences in immediate memory (t = -38.977, p < 0.001), visuospatial (t = -40.824, p < 0.001), language (z = -8.319, p < 0.001), attention (t = -75.350, p < 0.001), delayed memory (t = -30.671, p < 0.001), and RBANS total score (z = -4.871, p < 0.001) between LLD and HC groups, with the LLD patient group being worse overall (see **Table 2**). **TABLE 1** | The demographic and clinical characteristics of the LLD and HC group.

Variables	LLD ( <i>n</i> = 60)	HC ( <i>n</i> = 38)	$t/\chi^2$ -value	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	$67.75 \pm 4.732$	$65.92 \pm 4.122$	1.957	0.053
Sex (male/%)	19 (31.7%)	15 (39.5%)	0.626	0.429
Education years	$10.32 \pm 3.311$	$10.97 \pm 1.881$	-1.113	0.268

LLD, late life depression; HC, healthy control.

**TABLE 2** Comparison of cognitive function between LLD and HC group.

Cognitive task	LLD ( <i>n</i> = 60)	HC ( <i>n</i> = 38)	t/z-value	<i>p</i> -value
TMT-A	54.27 ± 20.98	36.7 ± 11.36	4.259*	< 0.001
TMT-B	$95.24 \pm 39.3$	$58.77 \pm 19.08$	5.042*	< 0.001
RBANS total score	$119.34 \pm 14.44$	$147.05 \pm 28.97$	-4.871*	< 0.001
Immediate memory	$24.27 \pm 7.81$	$112.16 \pm 14.48$	-38.977	< 0.001
List learning	$17.23 \pm 4.79$	$24.32 \pm 6.19$	-5.123*	< 0.001
Story memory	$7.08 \pm 3.91$	$10.71 \pm 3.76$	-4.542	< 0.001
Visuospatial	$31.5 \pm 8.56$	$107.61 \pm 9.64$	-40.824	< 0.001
Figure copy	$15.18 \pm 3.79$	$16.97 \pm 2.77$	-2.726*	0.006
Line orientation	$13.37 \pm 3.35$	$16.05 \pm 2.61$	-3.940*	< 0.001
Language	$28.53 \pm 5.5$	$107.39 \pm 6.36$	-8.319*	< 0.001
Picture naming	$9.15 \pm 1.49$	$9.79 \pm 0.41$	-2.898*	0.004
Semantic fluency	$16.8 \pm 4.46$	$22.47 \pm 4.05$	-5.445*	< 0.001
Attention	$25.9 \pm 5.15$	$123.11 \pm 7.63$	-75.35	< 0.001
Digit span	$13.35 \pm 2.83$	$15 \pm 1.43$	-2.997*	0.003
Coding	$23.98 \pm 9.61$	$38.47 \pm 10.01$	-7.155	< 0.001
Delayed memory	$36.8 \pm 11.4$	$105.74 \pm 9.88$	-30.671	< 0.001
List recall	$2.98 \pm 4.01$	$4.68 \pm 2.27$	-4.246*	< 0.001
List recognition	$17.03 \pm 1.96$	$18.84 \pm 1.35$	-4.955*	< 0.001
Story recall	$3.17 \pm 2.25$	$5.42 \pm 2.34$	-4.213*	< 0.001
Figure recall	$8.63 \pm 4.87$	$11.58 \pm 4.45$	-3.017	< 0.001

LLD, late life depression; HC, healthy control; TMT, trial making test; RBANS, Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status. \*z-test.

#### Effects of Clinical Symptoms and Impact on Cognitive Function of Antidepressant Treatment in Late-Life Depression Group

In the LLD group, compared with baseline, there was a significant improvement in the HAMD (t = 13.925, p < 0.001) after 8-week treatment. The reduction rates (%) of HAMD was  $58.091 \pm 24.495$ .

Compared with baseline, there were statistically significant differences in immediate memory (t = -3.389, p = 0.001), language (t = -2.160, p = 0.035), delayed memory (t = -4.946, p < 0.001), and RBANS total score (t = -5.238, p < 0.001) after treatments in the LLD group.

#### Comparison of Cognitive Performance Between Treatment Effective Group and Treatment Ineffective Group in Late-Life Depression Group

A total of 39 cases (65%) were responsive (TE) and 21 LLD patients (35%) were non-responsive (TI) after 8-week treatment. There was no significant difference between the TE and TI group in age, gender, education level, age of onset, duration of

disease, antidepressant drugs, and baseline scores of HAMD-17 (see Table 3).

There was no significant difference of baseline TMT and RBANS (all p > 0.05) between TE and TI patients. All differences in the change of TMT and RBANS after treatment were not statistically significant between TE and TI patients (all p > 0.05). Repeated-measure ANCOVA analysis showed that there was no significant time and group interaction for the TMT and RBANS score between TE and TI patients (all p > 0.05).

#### Predictors of Baseline Cognitive Performance on Efficacy in Late-Life Depression Group

Multiple linear regression analysis showed that the change in HAMD-17 score after treatment was significantly correlated with baseline score of picture naming (B = 0.043; p = 0.04), figure copy (B = -0.025; p = 0.004), and digit span (B = 0.028; p = 0.027) in the LLD group (see **Table 4** and **Figure 1**).

Binary logistic regression analysis was performed with response or non-response (TE = 1, TI = 0) as the dependent variable and the baseline cognitive function including TMT and RBANS scores as independent variables. The results showed that

#### TABLE 3 | The demographic and clinical characteristics of the TE and TI group.

Variables	TE (n = 39)	TI ( <i>n</i> = 21)	$t/\chi^2$ -value	<i>p</i> -value
Age (years)	$67.79 \pm 4.98$	67.67 ± 4.35	-0.099	0.921
Sex (male, <i>n</i> , /%)	13 (33.3%)	6 (28.6%)	0.143	0.705
Education years	$10.18 \pm 3.07$	$10.57 \pm 3.79$	-1.113	0.268
Age of onset (years)	$66.18 \pm 5.20$	$65.48 \pm 4.43$	-0.525	0.601
Disease duration (months)	$5.33 \pm 5.27$	$8.05 \pm 7.61$	1.622	0.11
With or without etiology (n, %)	24 (61.5%)	15 (71.4%)	0.587	0.444
Types of antidepressant drugs				
Escitalopram (n, %)	21 (53.8%)	15 (71.4%)	1.758	0.185
Sertraline (n, %)	18 (46.2%)	6 (28.6%)		
Antidepressant dosage (mg/day)				
Escitalopram	$13.81 \pm 4.445$	$16.33 \pm 4.419$	-1.684	0.101
Sertraline	$102.78 \pm 3.907$	$116.67 \pm 18.960$	1.422	0.169
HAMD-17	$21.52 \pm 3.53$	$21.79 \pm 3.53$	-0.284	0.778

TE, treatment effective group; TI, treatment ineffective group; HAMD, Hamilton Depression Rating Scale.

TABLE 4 | Multiple linear regression analysis of predictors of antidepressant efficacy in LLD.

Variable	В	Std. error	Beta	t-value	<i>p</i> -value
(Constant)	0.196	0.202		0.973	0.335
Picture naming	0.043	0.02	0.269	2.101	0.04
Figure copy	-0.025	0.008	-0.397	-2.98	0.004
Digit span	0.028	0.012	0.325	2.282	0.027

LLD, late life depression.





the higher of the delayed memory score, the better of the efficacy (OR = 1.107, 95% confidence interval: 1.026–1.199, p = 0.009). The area under the ROC curve suggested that the predicting efficacy of delayed memory was 0.665 (95% confidence interval: 0.529–0.802, p = 0.036), and the sensitivity was 0.436, specificity was 0.952, and Youden index was 0.388 when the optimal cut-off value was taken (see **Figure 2**).

#### DISCUSSION

In this study, first-episode LLD patients treated with 8-week of escitalopram or sertraline demonstrated improvement of depression and partial cognitive function including immediate memory, language, and delayed memory. Patients with lower level of baseline cognitive function, including figure copy, picture naming, digital span, delayed memory had poorer response after 8-week treatment. This finding suggested that cognitive function may be a predictor of 8-week antidepressant treatment outcome.

The results of this study showed that there was broad cognitive function impairment in first-episode, drug naïve LLD patients and supports evidence from previous observations. Recent studies have found that cognitive deficits are a core feature of depression in elderly, and cognitive complaints in older adults with depression include learning difficulties, slow processing, and executive dysfunction (13, 27).

Digital span consisted of digit span forward and digit span backward. Digit span forward was used to assess working memory (28). Working memory involves holding information in mind and mentally working with it (29). A deficit in working memory may correlate with functional difficulties in maintaining mental set in the face of distracting affective input during depressive episode. A positive relationship between digit span forward and treatment remission was reported that LLD patients with poorer working memory performance was slower to remit at the end of treatment (15). Another study had demonstrated that poorer working memory was associated with poorer response at 4 weeks fluoxetine treatment in 72 youth depressed patients (30). Furthermore, this study demonstrated that poor working memory was related with worse efficacy in LLD patients.

Digit span backward was used to assess sustained attention. Shiroma et al. (31) found that people with good concentration at baseline were more likely to better treatment respond. Etkin et al. (20) analyzed predictors of efficacy in patients with youth depression (n = 1,008; 665 completers) and found that impaired attention was associated with antidepressant efficacy. This study also supported that attention was a predictor of response to antidepressant treatment.

This study confirms that figure copy was also correlated with treatment response. Figure copy was used to assess visuospatial function including stereopsis vision. Stereopsis vision with binocular disparity mainly through the threedimensional reconstruction of depth-related information in the visual cortex, and stereopsis was considered a visual perception that may affect cognitive-related tasks, including visual memory, visual attention (32). A previous large scale retrospective study reported that visuospatial was significantly related to eventual reduction of depression severity in youth depression patients (33). Another finding was that youth depression patients obtained rehabilitation of psychosocial function by improving cognitive ability in spatial structure (34). This study suggested that visuospatial also played an important role in predicting the efficacy of LLD patients.

We also observed that picture naming and delayed memory could be serve as a significant predictor of treatment response. Picture naming was used to reflect language function. Several studies suggested that language function has the potential to predict antidepressant efficacy in geriatric depression (18, 35). A study found that 25 patients with depression performed significantly worse delayed memory than non-responders after a single injection of ketamine (36). Decreased verbal function may have a "top-down" negative impact on verbal episodic memory performance and may predict remission rates in geriatric depression (35, 37).

Cognitive impairments in LLD maybe related with the alteration in neuroimaging. Cognitive impairment in LLD may be associated with cerebral abnormalities in the prefrontal, medial prefrontal, and parietal cortex (38). Imaging studies of LLD identified microstructural abnormalities in white matter tracts that connect the prefrontal cortex with subcortical and posterior cortical regions, which have been linked to cognitive dysfunction (10, 39). Low white matter integrity in distributed networks tracts supporting executive function was associated with poor response in LLD patients (10). Functional neuroimaging study has shown that the increased functional connectivity of the left dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and bilateral prefrontal regions was associated with the severity of depression and executive function and working memory in LLD (40). Memory impairment is typical of medial temporal region involvement, especially

where hippocampal atrophy has been found in LLD (41). Several reports have shown that decreased cognitive task-related activity in the prefrontal cortex in LLD prior to treatment, which is normalized following treatment (42). Increased cognitive control network functional connectivity and decreased default mode network functional connectivity were observed in LLD with remission, but not in patients with ineffective treatment (43). The functional connectivity between cingulate cortex and ventromedial prefrontal lobe in default mode network, and between dorsal anterior cingulate gyrus and insular lobe in Salience Network was enhanced in LLD with treatment response (44). It could be deduced that the mechanism of cognitive impairment maybe overlapped with the pathophysiology of efficacy. Cognitive function would be used as a potential biomarker for efficacy prediction in LLD patients.

There were several limitations in this study. First, the sample size was relatively small. Second, the drop-out rate (25%) was relatively high which limited the exploration of the trajectory of cognitive ability changes between TE and TI group. Third, participants visited only twice (baseline and after 8-week treatment) which limited the investigation of group difference in cognitive function at early phase of treatment. The results of this pilot study should be interpreted with caution. Future study may need to recruit larger sample size of participants, combine more cognitive indicators and frequent follow-up visits to find a prediction model with high sensitivity and specificity.

#### CONCLUSION

This study found that lower level of baseline cognitive function had poorer antidepressant response after 8-week treatment in LLD patients. Cognitive function may be used as a predictor of antidepressant treatment outcome, especially working memory, attention, visuospatial, and language function. The results of this pilot study should be interpreted with caution because of the small sample size. Further studies using larger sample sizes are needed to assess these preliminary results.

#### REFERENCES

- Alexopoulos GS. Depression in the elderly. *Lancet.* (2005) 365:1961–70. doi: 10.1016/s0140-6736(05)66665-2
- Empana JP, Boutouyrie P, Lemogne C, Jouven X, van Sloten TT. Microvascular contribution to late-onset depression: mechanisms, current evidence, association with other brain diseases, and therapeutic perspectives. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2021) 90:214–25. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2021.04.012
- 3. Abdoli N, Salari N, Darvishi N, Jafarpour S, Solaymani M, Mohammadi M, et al. The global prevalence of major depressive disorder (MDD) among the elderly: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2022) 132:1067–73. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2021.10.041
- Pimontel MA, Rindskopf D, Rutherford BR, Brown PJ, Roose SP, Sneed JR. A meta-analysis of executive dysfunction and antidepressant treatment response in late-life depression. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2016) 24:31–41. doi: 10.1016/ j.jagp.2015.05.010
- Groves SJ, Douglas KM, Porter RJ. A systematic review of cognitive predictors of treatment outcome in major depression. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:382. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00382
- Mora C, Zonca V, Riva MA, Cattaneo A. Blood biomarkers and treatment response in major depression. *Exp Rev Mol Diagn.* (2018) 18:513–29. doi: 10.1080/14737159.2018.1470927

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### **ETHICS STATEMENT**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Ethics Committee of Beijing Anding Hospital, Capital Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

WP contributed to study design, data analysis, investigation, and writing—original draft. WP and DZ contributed to prescribing and administering antidepressant drugs, depression rating, and cognitive text. CL and YL contributed to patients recruitment and consenting, analyzed and interpreted the data, and revised the manuscript. PM contributed to funding acquisition, project administration, writing—review, and editing. YR and XM contributed to conceptualization, methodology, supervision, and writing—review and editing. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

This study was supported by the Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission (No. Z191100006619105).

#### ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank all the participants for participating in this study.

- Voineskos D, Daskalakis ZJ, Blumberger DM. Management of treatmentresistant depression: challenges and strategies. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2020) 16:221–34. doi: 10.2147/ndt.S198774
- Kułak-Bejda A, Bejda G, Waszkiewicz N. Mental disorders, cognitive impairment and the risk of suicide in older adults. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:695286. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.695286
- Freedman R, Lewis DA, Michels R, Pine DS, Schultz SK, Tamminga CA, et al. The initial field trials of DSM-5: new blooms and old thorns. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2013) 170:1–5. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.2012.12091189
- Alexopoulos GS. Mechanisms and treatment of late-life depression. Focus. (2021) 19:340–54. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.19304
- Zuckerman H, Pan Z, Park C, Brietzke E, Musial N, Shariq AS, et al. Recognition and treatment of cognitive dysfunction in major depressive disorder. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:655. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018. 00655
- 12. Wang G, Si TM, Li L, Fang Y, Wang CX, Wang LN, et al. Cognitive symptoms in major depressive disorder: associations with clinical and functional outcomes in a 6-month, non-interventional, prospective study in China. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat.* (2019) 15:1723–36. doi: 10.2147/ndt.S195505
- Bora E, Harrison BJ, Yücel M, Pantelis C. Cognitive impairment in euthymic major depressive disorder: a meta-analysis. *Psychol Med.* (2013) 43:2017–26. doi: 10.1017/s0033291712002085

- Morimoto SS, Gunning FM, Wexler BE, Hu W, Ilieva I, Liu J, et al. Executive dysfunction predicts treatment response to neuroplasticity-based computerized cognitive remediation (nCCR-GD) in elderly patients with major depression. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2016) 24:816–20. doi: 10.1016/j. jagp.2016.06.010
- Potter GG, Kittinger JD, Wagner HR, Steffens DC, Krishnan KR. Prefrontal neuropsychological predictors of treatment remission in late-life depression. *Neuropsychopharmacology.* (2004) 29:2266–71. doi: 10.1038/sj.npp.1300551
- McLennan SN, Mathias JL. The depression-executive dysfunction (DED) syndrome and response to antidepressants: a meta-analytic review. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2010) 25:933–44. doi: 10.1002/gps.2431
- Sheline YI, Pieper CF, Barch DM, Welsh-Bohmer K, McKinstry RC, MacFall JR, et al. Support for the vascular depression hypothesis in late-life depression: results of a 2-site, prospective, antidepressant treatment trial. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2010) 67:277–85. doi: 10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.204
- Story TJ, Potter GG, Attix DK, Welsh-Bohmer KA, Steffens DC. Neurocognitive correlates of response to treatment in late-life depression. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2008) 16:752–9. doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e31817e739a
- Gudayol-Ferré E, Herrera-Guzmán I, Camarena B, Cortés-Penagos C, Herrera-Abarca JE, Martínez-Medina P, et al. Prediction of remission of depression with clinical variables, neuropsychological performance, and serotonergic/dopaminergic gene polymorphisms. *Hum Psychopharmacol.* (2012) 27:577–86. doi: 10.1002/hup.2267
- Etkin A, Patenaude B, Song YJ, Usherwood T, Rekshan W, Schatzberg AF, et al. A cognitive-emotional biomarker for predicting remission with antidepressant medications: a report from the iSPOT-D trial. *Neuropsychopharmacology*. (2015) 40:1332–42. doi: 10.1038/npp.2014.333
- Doraiswamy PM, Krishnan KR, Oxman T, Jenkyn LR, Coffey DJ, Burt T, et al. Does antidepressant therapy improve cognition in elderly depressed patients? *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2003) 58:M1137–44. doi: 10.1093/gerona/58.12. m1137
- Kalayam B, Alexopoulos GS. A preliminary study of left frontal region error negativity and symptom improvement in geriatric depression. *Am J Psychiatry*. (2003) 160:2054–6. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.160.11.2054
- Morimoto SS, Gunning FM, Murphy CF, Kanellopoulos D, Kelly RE, Alexopoulos GS. Executive function and short-term remission of geriatric depression: the role of semantic strategy. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2011) 19:115–22. doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181e751c4
- Sneed JR, Keilp JG, Brickman AM, Roose SP. The specificity of neuropsychological impairment in predicting antidepressant non-response in the very old depressed. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2008) 23:319–23. doi: 10.1002/gps.1889
- Zhang M, Chen B, Zhong X, Zhou H, Wang Q, Mai N, et al. Neuropsychiatric symptoms exacerbate the cognitive impairments in patients with latelife depression. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:757003. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021. 757003
- Grzenda A, Speier W, Siddarth P, Pant A, Krause-Sorio B, Narr K, et al. Machine learning prediction of treatment outcome in late-life depression. *Front Psychiatry*. (2021) 12:738494. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021.738494
- Aziz R, Steffens D. Overlay of late-life depression and cognitive impairment. Focus. (2017) 15:35–41. doi: 10.1176/appi.focus.20160036
- Vicent-Gil M, Keymer-Gausset A, Serra-Blasco M, Carceller-Sindreu M, de Diego-Adeliño J, Trujols J, et al. Cognitive predictors of illness course at 12 months after first-episode of depression. *Eur Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2018) 28:529–37. doi: 10.1016/j.euroneuro.2018.02.001
- Diamond A. Executive functions. Ann Rev Psychol. (2013) 64:135–68. doi: 10.1146/annurev-psych-113011-143750
- 30. Gudayol-Ferré E, Herrera-Guzmán I, Camarena B, Cortés-Penagos C, Herrera-Abarca JE, Martínez-Medina P, et al. The role of clinical variables, neuropsychological performance and SLC6A4 and COMT gene polymorphisms on the prediction of early response to fluoxetine in major depressive disorder. *J Affect Disord.* (2010) 127:343–51. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2010.06.002
- Shiroma PR, Albott CS, Johns B, Thuras P, Wels J, Lim KO. Neurocognitive performance and serial intravenous subanesthetic ketamine in treatmentresistant depression. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2014) 17:1805–13. doi: 10.1017/s1461145714001011
- 32. Hou WL, Yin XL, Yin XY, Guan LY, Cao JQ, Tang Z, et al. Association between stereopsis deficits and attention decline in patients with major depressive

disorder. Prog Neuro Psychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. (2021) 110:110267. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2021.110267

- Hoy KE, Segrave RA, Daskalakis ZJ, Fitzgerald PB. Investigating the relationship between cognitive change and antidepressant response following rTMS: a large scale retrospective study. *Brain Stimul.* (2012) 5:539–46. doi: 10.1016/j.brs.2011.08.010
- Knight MJ, Baune BT. Executive function and spatial cognition mediate psychosocial dysfunction in major depressive disorder. *Front Psychiatry*. (2018) 9:539. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018.00539
- Morimoto SS, Gunning FM, Kanellopoulos D, Murphy CF, Klimstra SA, Kelly RE Jr, et al. Semantic organizational strategy predicts verbal memory and remission rate of geriatric depression. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2012) 27:506–12. doi: 10.1002/gps.2743
- Murrough JW, Wan LB, Iacoviello B, Collins KA, Solon C, Glicksberg B, et al. Neurocognitive effects of ketamine in treatment-resistant major depression: association with antidepressant response. *Psychopharmacology*. (2013) 231:1– 14. doi: 10.1007/s00213-013-3255-x
- Hickie I, Naismith S, Ward PB, Turner K, Scott E, Mitchell P, et al. Reduced hippocampal volumes and memory loss in patients with early- and lateonset depression. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2005) 186:197–202. doi: 10.1192/bjp.186. 3.197
- Manning K, Wang L, Steffens D. Recent advances in the use of imaging in psychiatry: functional magnetic resonance imaging of large-scale brain networks in late-life depression. *F1000Res.* (2019) 8:1366. doi: 10.12688/ f1000research.17399.1
- Bae JN, MacFall JR, Krishnan KR, Payne ME, Steffens DC, Taylor WD. Dorsolateral prefrontal cortex and anterior cingulate cortex white matter alterations in late-life depression. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2006) 60:1356–63. doi: 10. 1016/j.biopsych.2006.03.052
- Gandelman JA, Albert K, Boyd BD, Park JW, Riddle M, Woodward ND, et al. Intrinsic functional network connectivity is associated with clinical symptoms and cognition in late-life depression. *Biol Psychiatry Cogn Neurosci Neuroimaging*. (2019) 4:160–70. doi: 10.1016/j.bpsc.2018.09.003
- Videbech P, Ravnkilde B. Hippocampal volume and depression: a metaanalysis of MRI studies. Am J Psychiatry. (2004) 161:1957–66. doi: 10.1176/ appi.ajp.161.11.1957
- Aizenstein HJ, Khalaf A, Walker SE, Andreescu C. Magnetic resonance imaging predictors of treatment response in late-life depression. J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol. (2014) 27:24–32. doi: 10.1177/08919887135 16541
- Karim HT, Andreescu C, Tudorascu D, Smagula SF, Butters MA, Karp JF, et al. Intrinsic functional connectivity in late-life depression: trajectories over the course of pharmacotherapy in remitters and non-remitters. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2017) 22:450–7. doi: 10.1038/mp.2016.55
- 44. Seeberg I, Kjaerstad HL, Miskowiak KW. Neural and behavioral predictors of treatment efficacy on mood symptoms and cognition in mood disorders: a systematic review. *Front Psychiatry.* (2018) 9:337. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2018. 00337

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

The handling editor LL declared a shared parent affiliation with the authors at the time of review.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Pan, Liu, Zhu, Liu, Mao, Ren and Ma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Altered Intrinsic Brain Activity in Patients With Late-Life Depression: A Resting-State Functional MRI Study

Chaomeng Liu<sup>1</sup>, Weigang Pan<sup>1</sup>, Dandi Zhu<sup>1</sup>, Peixian Mao<sup>1</sup>, Yanping Ren<sup>1,2\*</sup> and Xin Ma<sup>1,2\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup> The National Clinical Research Center for Mental Disorders & Beijing Key Laboratory of Mental Disorders, Beijing Anding Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup> Advanced Innovation Center for Human Brain Protection, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

**Objectives:** To investigate the altered intrinsic brain activity (IBA) in patients suffering from late-life depression (LLD) using a percent amplitude of fluctuation (PerAF) method.

**Methods:** In total, fifty patients with LLD and 40 non-depressed controls (NCs) were recruited for the present research. Participants underwent the Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS) test and resting-state functional MRI (rs-fMRI) scans. The RBANS test consists of 12 sub-tests that contribute to a total score and index scores across the following five domains: immediate memory, visuospatial/constructional, language, attention, and delayed memory. The PerAF method was used for data analysis to detect changes in neural activity in the relevant brain regions. A receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curve was conducted to evaluate the ability of the RBANS test and proposed the PerAF method in distinguishing the two groups. The relationships between altered IBA and neuropsychologic deficits were determined by the Pearson correlation analysis.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Lirong Liang, Capital Medical University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Hongjun Li, Capital Medical University, China Shuping Tan, Peking University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Yanping Ren renyanping@ccmu.edu.cn Xin Ma maxinanding@ccmu.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 12 March 2022 Accepted: 25 April 2022 Published: 23 May 2022

#### Citation:

Liu C, Pan W, Zhu D, Mao P, Ren Y and Ma X (2022) Altered Intrinsic Brain Activity in Patients With Late-Life Depression: A Resting-State Functional MRI Study. Front. Psychiatry 13:894646. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.894646 **Results:** A significant difference existed in RBANS total score, immediate memory, visuospatial/constructional, language, attention, and delayed memory between groups (P < 0.05). Compared with the NCs group, the LLD group demonstrated decreased PerAF differences in the bilateral superior frontal gyrus, orbital part (Frontal\_Sup\_Orb), and bilateral anterior cingulate cortex (ACC). The PerAF method and RBANS test exhibited an excellent discriminatory power with the area under curve (AUC) values in distinguishing the two groups. In addition, the attention score of the RBANS test positively correlated with the PerAF values of the bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb and bilateral ACC.

**Conclusion:** The changes of PerAF in the bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb and bilateral ACC are related to an increased risk of developing LLD. Moreover, the PerAF method could be used as an underlying sensitivity biomarker to identify the psychiatric disorder.

Keywords: intrinsic brain activity, late-life depression, percent amplitude of fluctuation, receiver operating characteristic, biomarker

#### INTRODUCTION

Depression after 60–65 is generally called late-life depression (LLD), affecting 4%–10% of the elderly (1, 2). Compared with the depression observed in the younger generation, LLD is often related to aging-associated neurodegeneration, cognitive impairment, or somatic complaints, increasing the risk for dementia, disability, and mortality (3). Exploring changes in the functional

and structural connectivity in brain networks in association with emotional and cognitive symptoms may contribute to understanding the neural mechanisms underlying LLD, whereas the specific brain regions engaged with such changes are still unclear.

Recently, the modern brain neuroimaging techniques have developed rapidly. Functional magnetic resonance imaging (fMRI) has appeared as a popular technology because of its being non-invasive and does not require exposure to radioactive tracers, and provides new insights into the pathophysiology of depression. According to the collection status, fMRI is divided into task-state fMRI (ts-fMRI) and resting-state fMRI (rs-fMRI). In terms of the ts-fMRI study, hypoactivation of the anterior cingulate cortex (ACC) in the elderly patients experienced multiple depressive episodes in a verbal fluency task (4). However, another study did not observe the abnormal activation of ACC in response to an explicit sequence learning task, and they discovered diminished activation in the dorsolateral prefrontal cortex (DLPFC) bilaterally while increased activation in the right caudate and putamen (5). Confounds associated with illness chronicity, such as the number of episodes and prolonged exposure to antidepressants, may be inconsistent across studies (6). Compared with the studies including patients with a long course of depression, few studies have investigated first-episode, treatment-naive patients with LLD. The study of the first-episode, drug-naive patients with LLD may be significant for elucidating the core pathogenesis of this illness. In addition, another issue pertains to the task-related functional neuroimaging studies that require patients to follow complicated cognitive tasks, and thus, the performance may confound the results (7).

Rs-fMRI has been considered a feasible and widely accepted method since the study of Biswal et al. (8). They first reported that the spontaneous low-frequency (0.01-0.08 Hz) fluctuations were closely associated with the intrinsic brain activity (IBA) and physiological meaning. IBA indicates sustained neural activity, which affects brain functions (9). In rs-fMRI studies of depression, most of the current work has focused on the major depressive disorder (MDD), regional brain activity in the frontal, temporal, occipital, and cerebellar lobes, and also in the thalamus and insula, displays reduced local synchronization among patients with MDD (10-12). The amplitude of lowfrequency fluctuations (ALFFs), fractional ALFF (fALFF), and regional homogeneity (ReHo) constitute three major rs-fMRI approaches in testing IBA (13, 14). An rs-fMRI study using ALFF to investigate first-episode, drug-naive patients with LLD revealed that compared with the control group, the left superior temporal gyrus activation increased while the activation of the bilateral superior frontal gyrus decreased (15). However, another study using ReHo demonstrated that the left Crus I of the cerebellum increased while the activation of the right precuneus decreased (16). The population criteria of the two studies aforementioned are similar, and the inconsistent results may be related to the fact that ALFF and ReHo methods are susceptible to high-frequency physiological cardiac and respiratory noises (17). As a novel approach, percent amplitude of fluctuation (PerAF) exhibits optimal performance in-degree centrality, ALFF, and regional homogeneity (18). Thus, the PerAF approach makes it possible to enhance sensitivity and lower bias while dealing with the IBA changes related to LLD. However, there is still a lack of research on LLD.

Research demonstrates that the severity of depressive symptomatology among patients with LLD contributes to neurocognitive decline (19), while the latest cross-sectional and longitudinal surveys have not recognized any prominent correlation between depression symptoms with cognitive impairments (20–22). Therefore, we hypothesized that compared with non-depressed controls, widespread IBA alternations occurred in patients with LLD. These changes were associated with depression symptoms or cognitive impairment, providing a good understanding of the neurobiological mechanisms that underlay LLD.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### Participants

The present research recruited 50 patients suffering from LLD and 40 non-depressed controls (NCs) between February 2021 and October 2021. All the participants presented informed consent. The study protocols gained approval from the institutional review board of the Beijing Anding Hospital. All the subjects were 60-75 years old and right-handed, first episode and no previous treatment with psychotropic drugs, confirmed by a certified geriatric psychiatrist through Axis I major depressive episode according to the 5th edition of Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders (DSM-V) through the diagnostic interview (23, 24). Besides, no cases were diagnosed with additional Axis I major psychiatric disorders, except for anxiety disorders. Patients enrolled in the study had the least 17-item Hamilton depression rating scale (HAMD) (17). In addition, the participants were all requested to get the least Mini-Mental State Examination (MMSE) scale scores of 24 (excluding the presence of dementia) (25). Patients conforming to the following standards were excluded, including major neurocognitive decline, major head trauma history, Parkinson's disease, stroke, serious cardiovascular, respiratory, immune, and other systemic diseases.

#### **Cognitive Assessment**

This study performed a cognitive assessment with the Repeatable Battery in the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS) by well-trained clinicians (26). It contains 12 standardized cognitive tests categorized into the 5 following fields: visuospatial/constructional (line orientation and figure copy), immediate memory (story memory and list learning), attention (digit symbol coding and digit span), language (semantic fluency and picture naming), and delayed memory (list recognition, list recall, figure recall, and story recall). A higher RBANS score suggests superior cognitive performance. Former research has proved RBANS as a helpful screener to evaluate cognitive impairments in psychiatric patients (27).

#### **Rs-fMRI Protocol and Data Analysis**

Each participant was scanned using the Siemens 3T scanner (Siemens, Erlangen, Germany), and the head was tightly fastened

using foam pads and straps to avoid motion. This study initially captured images in T1 image (excluding intracranial organic diseases preliminary, such as tumor-like lesion or absence), and then the rs-fMRI was made (around 7 min). When collecting resting-state fMRI data, each participant was asked to relax with eyes closed, lie still, and keep awake. The T1 images was gathered with the T1-weighted sagittal 3D magnetization-prepared rapid gradient echo (MPRAGE) sequence: TE = 1.85 ms; TR = 2530 ms; FOV =  $256 \times 256 \text{ mm}^2$ ; FA = 9°; voxel size =  $1.0 \times$  $1.0 \times 1.0 \text{ mm}^3$ ; thickness = 1.0 mm and matrix size =  $256 \times 256$ . Then, images were gathered in resting-state axially with the echoplanar imaging (EPI) sequence under the following parameters, echo time (TE) = 30 ms; repetition time (TR) = 2,000 ms; field of view (FOV) =  $256 \times 256$  mm<sup>2</sup>; flip angle (FA) =  $90^{\circ}$ ; axial slices = 33; matrix size =  $64 \times 64$ ; slice thickness = 3.5 mm, voxel size  $= 3.1 \times 3.1 \times 3.5 \text{ mm}^3$ ; and a total of 200 time points.

We classified and studied functional images with MRIcro software (www.MRIcro.com). Data were pre-processed with RESTplus V1.2 (http://www.restfmri.net) toolbox based on the MATLAB R2018b platform (28). Initially, the first ten functional volumes were excluded to acquire balanced measurement signals. Then, it was followed by form transformation (DICOM to NIFTI), slice timing, correction of head motion, Montreal Neurological Institute (MNI) space normalization (using T1 image unified segmentation), and re-sample data at  $3 \times 3 \times 3$  $mm^3$  resolution, smoothing (full-width Gaussian kernel =  $6 \times 6 \times 6$  mm<sup>3</sup>), and also linear detrending and filtering (0.01-0.08 Hz) (29). In total, 11 of them were excluded due to head movement over 3-mm translocation or over 3° rotation toward each direction in scanning (5 in the LLD group and 6 in the NCs group). This study referenced Friston's 24 head-motion parameters as covariates in regressing the head motion effects. Linear regression was adopted for removing covariates for white matter, global mean signal, cerebrospinal fluid signal, and head motion. In addition, the PerAF approach indicates the ratio of frequency-domain in blood oxygen level-dependent signal in the resting-state to average signal strength for a specific period. Following the pre-processing, the PerAF method was computed (30).

$$PerAF = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} \left| \frac{\mathbf{x}_i - \mu}{\mu} \right| \times 100 \tag{1}$$

$$\mu = \frac{1}{n} \sum_{i=1}^{n} x_i \tag{2}$$

where "X" represents the signal intensity of the time point, "n" refers to the total number of time points of the time course, and " $\mu$ " represents the mean value of the time course.

#### **Statistical Analysis**

In this study, statistical analyses were conducted with SPSS 26.0 (SPSS, Chicago, IL, USA). The independent descriptive variables (age) were expressed as mean  $\pm$  SD, whereas categorical variables (sex) were expressed as counts and percentages. Comparison for continuous variables was conducted by performing an

independent *t*-test, and comparison for categorical variables was made with chi-square or Mann-Whitney U test. Statistical test differences between the LLD and NCs groups showed statistical significance with P-values < 0.05. The 'Statistical Analysis' module of the RESTplus V1.2 toolbox was adopted to compare the average PerAF values of the LLD group and the NCs group. To maintain the balance between the two groups. Some covariates, such as age, gender, and education level, were regressed. For the preliminary comparison results of the average PerAF values between the two groups, the multiple-comparison correction based on the Gaussian random field theory (GRF, two-tailed, cluster-wise p < 0.05, voxelwise p < 0.001) was further conducted (30). Previous studies reported that, compared with the Bonferroni correction and false discovery rate (FDR), GRF could reduce the false-positive rate and improve statistical power by utilizing the spatial information of fMRI data (31). Subsequently, the "Viewer" module displayed the brain regions with different perAF values between the two groups. Then, the brain regions with different PerAF values were further made into masks, and the PerAF values of altered brain regions of patients with LLD were extracted using the "Extract ROI Signals" module in RESTplus V1.2 toolbox for the next analysis. Here, we adopted the receiver operating characteristic (ROC) curves for identifying the presented PerAF method's ability to distinguish the two groups compared with the RBANS test. The correlations of the PerAF values for the region of interests (ROIs) with clinical symptoms (HAMD-17 and RBANS score) were assessed through Pearson correlation analysis.

#### RESULTS

#### **Demographics and Neuropsychologic Data**

Upon removing patients with head motion above  $3^{\circ}$  rotation or 3 mm translocation (5 in the LLD group, 3 men and 2 women; 6 in the NCs group, 2 men and 4 women), 45 in the LLD group and 34 in the NCs group were eventually recruited for the current research. Patients with the LLD and NCs were aged  $67.04 \pm 4.51$  and  $65.12 \pm 3.98$ , respectively. No differences in age, gender, and educational level could be observed. However, differences in the RBANS total score were observed in immediate memory, visuospatial/constructional, language, attention, and delayed memory between groups (P < 0.05). More details are illustrated in **Table 1**.

#### **PerAF Differences**

As shown in between-group statistical maps, by contrast to the NCs group, the LLD group showed decreased PerAF differences in the bilateral superior frontal gyrus, orbital part (Frontal\_Sup\_Orb) [Brodmann area (BA) 11], and bilateral anterior cingulate cortex (ACC, BA24) (**Table 2**, **Figure 1A**). **Figure 1B** displayed the mean PerAF signal value of altered brain regions between the two groups.

#### **ROC Curve Analysis**

Receiver operating characteristic curve analysis and further diagnostic analysis were performed to evaluate the ability of

**TABLE 1** | Demographics and neuropsychologic data of the LLD group and the NCs group.

Characteristic	LLD group	NCs group	Statistics	P-value
	( <i>n</i> = 45)	(n =34)	t/x <sup>2</sup>	
Sex (male/female)	15/30	16/18	1.530	0.216
Age (years)	$67.04 \pm 4.51$	$65.12 \pm 3.98$	1.976	0.052
Education (years)	$9.47 \pm 3.15$	$10.79 \pm 3.22$	1.837	0.071
RBANS total score	$94.62 \pm 12.62$	$119.65 \pm 14.85$	8.084	< 0.001
Immediate memory	$95.27 \pm 12.12$	$113.18 \pm 15.24$	5.820	< 0.001
Visuospatial/Constructional	$97.09 \pm 11.2$	$108.44 \pm 9.38$	4.769	< 0.001
Language	$94.58 \pm 10.52$	$106.47 \pm 5.95$	5.913	< 0.001
Attention	$106.80 \pm 13.51$	$123.26 \pm 8.08$	6.301	< 0.001
Delayed memory	$91.78 \pm 11.1$	$105.32 \pm 10.17$	5.552	< 0.001

LLD, late-life depression; NCs, non-depressed controls; RBANS, repeatable battery for assessing neuropsychological status.

TABLE 2 | Brain regions with significantly different PerAF values of the LLD group and the NCs group.

Brain regions of peak coordinates	MNI Coordinates			BA	Number of Voxels	t-value
	x	Y	Z			
LLD group < NCs group						
Bilateral Frontal_Sup_Orb	-9	39	-21	11	46	-4.2726
Bilateral ACC	6	15	-6	24	130	-4.7104

Frontal\_Sup\_Orb\_L, superior frontal gyrus, orbital part, this anatomical name originates from Automated anatomical labeling atlas (32); Bilateral ACC, bilateral anterior cingulate cortex; MNI, Montreal neurological institute; BA, Brodmann's area.

the RBANS test and PerAF method in distinguishing the two groups, and higher area under curve (AUC) value indicated higher diagnostic accuracy. As for the RBANS test, AUC value for RBANS total score reached 0.899 (P < 0.001; 95% CI: 0.834-0.964, sensitivity: 0.794, specificity: 0.844), and AUC values of immediate memory, visuospatial/constructional, language, attention, and delayed memory were 0.809 (P < 0.001; 95%) CI: 0.711-0.908, sensitivity: 0.676, specificity: 0.844), 0.781 (P < 0.001; 95% CI: 0.679-0.883, sensitivity: 0.794, specificity: 0.689), 0.852 (P < 0.001; 95% CI: 0.770–0.935, sensitivity: 0.912, specificity: 0.711) 0.866 (P < 0.001; 95% CI: 0.788-0.945, sensitivity: 0.882, specificity: 0.711), and 0.818 (P < 0.001; 95% CI: 0.725-0.911, sensitivity: 0.618, specificity: 0.889) (Figure 2A, Table 3), respectively. As a comparison, AUC value for bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb reached 0.770 (P < 0.001; 95% CI: 0.667 -0.873, sensitivity: 0.559, specificity: 0.867), and AUC value of the bilateral ACC was 0.782 (P < 0.001; 95% CI: 0.676–0.887, sensitivity: 0.676, specificity: 0.867) (Figure 2B, Table 3).

#### **Correlation Analysis**

Linear correlation analysis only observed the positive correlation between the attention score of RBANS test and the bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb (r = 0.344, p = 0.021, n = 45, Figure 3A) and bilateral ACC (r = 0.313, p = 0.036, n = 45, Figure 3B) in the LLD group, respectively. It is worth noting that the current correlation results did not passed the multiplecomparison correction.

#### DISCUSSION

The current work performed a novel and more feasible method, namely, PerAF, which was also helpful in lowering the impact of BOLD signal strength, aiming to investigate the IBA in patients suffering from LLD. The findings indicated that the PerAF values of bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb and bilateral ACC were significantly lower than those of the NCs. The RBANS test and PerAF values in the aforementioned altered brain regions exhibited a quite good discriminatory power with the AUC values in distinguishing the two groups.

Compared with the NCs group, patients with LLD exhibited poor-cognitive performance in all domains such as in the previous studies (33). Many hypotheses are present on the pathogenesis of LLD, one of which is depression executive dysfunction syndrome (DED). The main features of DED include decreased pleasure, intellectual disability, and lack of insight (34). In some cognitive tests, compared with the normal elderly, patients suffering from DED tend to score lower, such as language fluency, reaction inhibition, novelty problem solving, cognitive flexibility, and working memory, which are consistent with the destruction frontal-subcortical functional network. The disorder of subcortical structure, such as ACC, insula, and hippocampus, often occurs in patients with LLD, leading to abnormal IBA and projection to the pre-frontal cortex (PFC) (35).

Most researchers have demonstrated a declined metabolism within pre-frontal, parietal and temporal cortices and cingulate regions among patients suffering from major depression disorder







FIGURE 2 | ROC curve analysis of RBANS test and PerAF values of altered brain regions in distinguishing LLD group from NCs group. (A) ROC curve analysis of RBANS total, immediate memory, visuospatial/constructional, language, attention, and delayed memory. (B) ROC curve analysis of bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb and bilateral ACC. ROC, receiver operating characteristic; bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb, bilateral superior frontal gyrus, orbital part; bilateral ACC, bilateral anterior cingulate cortex.

TABLE 3 | ROC curve analysis of RNANS test and PerAF values of altered brain regions in distinguishing the LLD group from the NCs group.

Variables	AUC, 95%CI	Sensitivity, %	Specificity, %	Cut off Point <sup>a</sup>
RBANS total	0.899 (0.834–0.964)	0.794	0.844	108
Immediate memory	0.809 (0.711–0.908)	0.676	0.844	122
Visuospatial/constructional	0.781 (0.679–0.883)	0.794	0.689	108
Language	0.852 (0.770–0.935)	0.912	0.711	102
Attention	0.866 (0.788–0.945)	0.882	0.711	121
Delayed memory	0.818 (0.725–0.911)	0.618	0.889	114
Bilateral Frontal_Sup_Orb	0.770 (0.667–0.873)	0.559	0.867	0.0047
Bilateral ACC	0.782 (0.676–0.887)	0.676	0.867	0.0016

<sup>a</sup>Cut off point mean RBANS test score or PerAF signal value.

(MDD) (36). According to the literature, frontal regions (ACC included) exert a key role in MDD-related ReHo pathophysiology. Similarly, our study also discovered that the IBA detected by the proposed PerAF method in bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb and bilateral ACC of patients with LLD was decreased in contrast to the NCs group. Former research showed that, relative to controls, IBA of superior frontal gyrus among patients suffering from remitted geriatric depression was mitigated (37), and interestingly, the patients incorporated in our research suffered from moderate to severe depressive disorder. It suggests that the decreased IBA superior frontal gyrus does not recover with the relief of depression, which may be an inherent attribute of IBA in some patients suffering from LLD. However, these two studies are all cross-sectional designs.

Moreover, the current finding needs further support from large-scale longitudinal research. In addition, the ROC curve

showed that the PerAF method was lower than the RBANS test in discriminatory power for differentiating the two groups. Indeed, the RBANS test, including immediate memory, visuospatial/constructional, language, attention, and delayed memory, is commonly used in the neuropsychological tests, it makes judgments based on the symptomatic characteristics of LLD, and the heterogeneity of the results varies greatly. The advantage of the PerAF method is that it is based on hemodynamics at the resting state. The results are objective and repeatable. From the observed perspective, it could be considered that bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb and bilateral ACC both exhibited a quite good discriminatory power in differentiating the two groups, indicating that the PerAF method was potentially a neuroimaging indicator in identifying the individuals with depression among the elderly.

Liu et al.



From the perspective of anatomical labeling atlas, Frontal\_Sup\_Orb is a part of the orbital frontal gyrus (OFC), which belongs to Brodmann area 11. Guo et al. (10) discovered that compared with the control group, the activation of the left superior temporal gyrus increased, while the activation of bilateral superior frontal gyrus decreased among first-episode, drug-naive patients with LLD (15). Similarly, an rs-fMRI study of late-life subthreshold depression (StD) revealed that, compared with the controls, subjects with StD displayed a lower ReHo value in the right OFC (38). OFC is considered to play a key role in the pathophysiology of depression (39). A study demonstrated that patients with LLD exhibited smaller OFC volumes and positively correlated with white-matter lesion volume (40). A study exhibited that compared with patients with LLD without odor identification (OI) impairment and normal controls, patients with LLD with OI impairment exhibited increased functional connectivity (FC) between the left OFC and left calcarine gyrus, between the left OFC and right lingual gyrus, between the right OFC and right rectus gyrus (41). Odor identification (OI) impairment increases the risk of Alzheimer's disease in patients with LLD (42). Hypoactivity in the superior frontal gyrus may partially result in non-response to initial antidepressants in patients with LLD (43). Reports on OFC indicate that abnormal resting-state activity in Frontal\_Sup\_Orb or OFC may be related to the persistence of depressive symptoms in some patients with LLD, which should also arouse the attention of the elderly with StD.

The ACC connects structurally and functionally with various brain areas, including the lateral pre-frontal cortex, OFC, parietal cortex, amygdala, superior temporal gyrus (STG), nucleus accumbens, hypothalamus, insula, raphe nucleus, and hippocampus (44, 45). In addition, the ACC is thought to play a crucial role in allocating attentional resources in situations of conflicting cognitive and emotional demands (46). One study revealed that patients with LLD in the depressed and remitted phases showed significantly smaller gray matter volume in the left ACC and left posterior STG than healthy subjects (47). In addition, they also discovered that remitted patients with LLD showed lower functional ACC-pSTG connectivity than healthy subjects and positively correlated with lower global function during remission. Liu et al. (48) applied a novel analytical method, named coherence-based regional homogeneity (Cohe-ReHo), to assess regional IBA during the resting state in 15 firstepisode, treatment-naive patients with LLD and demonstrated that, compared with the healthy controls, the LLD group showed significantly decreased Cohe-ReHo in right ACC (48). Thus, our finding that decreased PerAF in the bilateral ACC is compatible with these previous studies. These findings suggest that functional alteration in ACC is deeply involved in depression.

Executive function processes, such as focusing attention, organizing, and strategizing, are representative symptoms of LLD, fully demonstrated to be maintained by frontotemporal brain regions (49). The superior frontal gyrus is conventionally considered the frontal eye field. However, functional research has revealed the major contribution of this region to executive function, working memory, and attention (50, 51). As a major function of cognition, attention is essential to perception, language, and memory. Individuals with MDD exhibited impairment in emotion and attention control. The regulation of emotion is vital for adaptive behavior in a social environment. The different strategies may be adopted to achieve successful emotion regulation, ranging from attentional control (e.g., distraction) to cognitive change (e.g., reappraisal). A study revealed that the OFC is involved in distinguishing presently relevant from previously relevant information and was activated for reappraisal only (52, 53).

In contrast, the attentional control condition is characterized by orienting attention away from the emotional stimulus to a cognitive task, the commitment of resources to the processing of this task, and the detection of potential conflicts between task processing and emotional activation. The dorsal portion of the ACC has been widely discussed as a major node in the attentional control network, for the monitoring of conflict between opposing activations (54). Loeffler et al. (55) thought that attention control and emotion regulation are conceptually similar and might share common mechanisms (55), which indicate that emotional disturbances among patients suffering from LLD can be ameliorated through interventions with target attention control.

In this study, the attention score of the RBANS test is positively correlated with the PerAF values in Frontal Sup Orb L and bilateral ACC. During the cognitive assessment of the RBANS test, the Attention test contains two subtests, respectively, Digit Span Test and Symbol-Digit Coding Test. The former can reflect working memory capacity to a certain extent, while the latter is closely related to psychomotor speed and cognitive flexibility (56, 57), which also reflects the inherent complexity and hierarchy of advanced cognitive function. Attention, interference control, and working memory are essential components of executive function. Executive dysfunction is one of the representative symptoms of patients with LLD. Therefore, it can be speculated that in future intervention studies, if bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb and bilateral ACC can be used as therapeutic targets, it may be conducive to improving the executive function of LLD.

However, the research has some limitations. First, the participants all come from or around Beijing, near our hospital, which decides the small sample size. Second, adequate attention must be paid to potential confounders, such as diabetes and hypertension, often co-morbid with LLD. Personality and special skills also affect resting-state hemodynamic fluctuations, thus, requiring further evaluation and control in future research. Third, changes in cognitive impairment severity result in confounding bias though average MMSE scores of the two groups are all >24. Finally, research has demonstrated that the neuroendocrine stress and subjective reactions resulting from MRI involvement affect brain functioning, which relates to adverse reactions, such as dizziness, phosphenes, and head ringing (58). To solve the existing problem, a several-minute

#### REFERENCES

- Sjöberg L, Karlsson B, Atti AR, Skoog I, Fratiglioni L, Wang HX. Prevalence of depression: comparisons of different depression definitions in population-based samples of older adults. J Affect Disord. (2017) 221:123– 31. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.06.011
- Li H, Lin X, Liu L, Su S, Zhu X, Zheng Y, et al. Disruption of the structural and functional connectivity of the frontoparietal network underlies symptomatic anxiety in late-life depression. *NeuroImage Clin.* (2020) 28:102398. doi: 10.1016/j.nicl.2020.102398
- Manning K, Wang L, Steffens D. Recent advances in the use of imaging in psychiatry: functional magnetic resonance imaging of large-scale brain networks in late-life depression. *F1000Res.* (2019) 8:1366. doi: 10.12688/f1000research. 17399.1
- Takami H, Okamoto Y, Yamashita H, Okada G, Yamawaki S. Attenuated anterior cingulate activation during a verbal fluency task in elderly patients with a history of multiple-episode depression. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2007) 15:594–603. doi: 10.1097/01.JGP.0b013e31802ea919

habituation time is recommended for the participants by the scanner in MRI research before the actual examination, particularly, for female participants (59).

#### CONCLUSION

Notwithstanding the limitations mentioned earlier, the research showed that changes of PerAF in bilateral Frontal\_Sup\_Orb and bilateral ACC are related to an increased risk of developing LLD. Moreover, the PerAF method could be used as an underlying sensitivity biomarker to identify the psychiatric disorders.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The raw data supporting the conclusions of this article will be made available by the authors, without undue reservation.

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by Beijing Anding Hospital Affiliated to Capital Medical University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

CL and WP conceived and designed the research protocol. CL completed the data analyses. DZ and PM assisted with neuropsychological assessment and data processing. YR and XM checked the rs-fMRI data and revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### FUNDING

The present work was supported by Beijing Municipal Science & Technology Commission (No. Z191100006619105).

- Aizenstein HJ, Butters MA, Figurski JL, Stenger VA, Reynolds CF. third, Carter CS. Prefrontal and striatal activation during sequence learning in geriatric depression. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2005) 58:290–96. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2005.04.023
- Zou K, Deng W, Li T, Zhang B, Jiang L, Huang C, et al. Changes of brain morphometry in first-episode, drug-naïve, non-late-life adult patients with major depression: an optimized voxel-based morphometry study. *Biol Psychiatry.* (2010) 67:186–88. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2009.09.014
- Lebreton M, Bavard S, Daunizeau J, Palminteri S. Assessing inter-individual differences with task-related functional neuroimaging. *Nat Hum Behav.* (2019) 3:897–905. doi: 10.1038/s41562-019-0681-8
- Biswal B, Yetkin FZ, Haughton VM, Hyde JS. Functional connectivity in the motor cortex of resting human brain using echo-planar MRI. *Magn Reson Med.* (1995) 34:537–41. doi: 10.1002/mrm.1910340409
- Dai Z, He Y. Disrupted structural and functional brain connectomes in mild cognitive impairment and Alzheimer's disease. *Neurosci Bull.* (2014) 30:217–32. doi: 10.1007/s12264-013-1421-0
- 10. Guo WB, Sun XL, Liu L, Xu Q, Wu RR, Liu Z N, et al. Disrupted regional homogeneity in treatment-resistant depression: a resting-state

fMRI study. Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry. (2011) 35:1297-302. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2011.02.006

- Peng DH, Jiang KD, Fang YR, Xu YF, Shen T, Long XY, et al. Decreased regional homogeneity in major depression as revealed by resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Chin Med J (Engl)*. (2011) 124:369– 73. doi: 10.3760/cma.j.issn.0366-6999.2011.03.009
- Yao X, Yin Z, Liu F, Wei S, Zhou Y, Jiang X, et al. Shared and distinct regional homogeneity changes in bipolar and unipolar depression. *Neurosci Lett.* (2018) 673:28–32. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2018.02.033
- Dai XJ, Liu CL, Zhou RL, Gong HH, Wu B, Gao L, et al. Long-term total sleep deprivation decreases the default spontaneous activity and connectivity pattern in healthy male subjects: a resting-state fMRI study. *Neuropsychiatr Dis Treat*. (2015) 11:761–72. doi: 10.2147/NDT.S78335
- Zou QH, Zhu CZ, Yang Y, Zuo XN, Long XY, Cao QJ, et al. An improved approach to detection of amplitude of low-frequency fluctuation (ALFF) for resting-state fMRI: fractional ALFF. J Neurosci Methods. (2008) 172:137– 41. doi: 10.1016/j.jneumeth.2008.04.012
- Guo WB, Liu F, Xun GL, Hu MR, Guo XF, Xiao CQ, et al. Reversal alterations of amplitude of low-frequency fluctuations in early and late onset, firstepisode, drug-naive depression. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2013) 40:153–59. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.08.014
- Chen J D, Liu F, Xun GL, Chen HF, Hu M R, Guo XF, et al. Early and late onset, first-episode, treatment-naive depression: same clinical symptoms, different regional neural activities. J Affect Disord. (2012) 143:56– 63. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.05.025
- Jia XZ, Sun JW Ji GJ, Liao W, Lv YT, Wang J. et al. Percent amplitude of fluctuation: A simple measure for resting-state fMRI signal at single voxel level. *PloS ONE*. (2020) 15:e0227021. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0227021
- Zhao N, Yuan LX, Jia XZ, Zhou XF, Deng XP, He HJ. et al. Intra- and interscanner reliability of voxel-wise whole-brain analytic metrics for resting state fMRI. *Front Neuroinform*. (2018) 12:54. doi: 10.3389/fninf.2018.00054
- O'Shea DM, Fieo RA, Hamilton JL, Zahodne LB, Manly JJ, Stern Y. Examining the association between late-life depressive symptoms, cognitive function, and brain volumes in the context of cognitive reserve. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2015) 30:614–22. doi: 10.1002/gps.4192
- Huang CM, Fan YT, Lee SH, Liu HL, Chen YL, Lin C. et al. Cognitive reserve-mediated neural modulation of emotional control and regulation in people with late-life depression. *Soc Cogn Affect Neurosci.* (2019) 14:849– 60. doi: 10.1093/scan/nsz054
- Ganguli M, Du Y, Dodge HH, Ratcliff GG, Chang CC. Depressive symptoms and cognitive decline in late life: a prospective epidemiological study. *Arch Gen Psychiatry*. (2006) 63:153–60. doi: 10.1001/archpsyc.63.2.153
- Becker JT, Chang YF, Lopez OL, Dew MA, Sweet RA, Barnes D, et al. Depressed mood is not a risk factor for incident dementia in a community-based cohort. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2009) 17:653– 63. doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181aad1fe
- American Psychiatric Association. The Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders, 5th Edn. Washington: American Psychiatric Association. (2013).
- 24. Mendes-Silva AP, Vieira ELM, Xavier G, Barroso LSS, Bertola L, Martins EAR. Telomere shortening in late-life depression: a potential marker of depression severity. *Brain Behav.* (2021) 11:e2255. doi: 10.1002/brb3. 2255
- Bohr IJ, Kenny E, Blamire A, O'Brien JT, Thomas AJ, Richardson J, et al. Resting-state functional connectivity in late-life depression: higher global connectivity and more long distance connections. *Front Psychiatry.* (2012) 3:116. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2012.00116
- Randolph C, Tierney MC, Mohr E, Chase TN. The Repeatable Battery for the Assessment of Neuropsychological Status (RBANS): preliminary clinical validity. J Clin Exp Neuropsychol. (1998) 20:310–19. doi: 10.1076/jcen.20.3.310.823
- Bailie JM, King LC, Kinney D, Nitch SR. The relationship between selfreported neuropsychological risk factors and RBANS test performance among forensically committed psychiatric inpatients. *Appl Neuropsychol Adult*. (2012) 19:279–86. doi: 10.1080/09084282.2012.670146
- Jia XZ, Wang J, Sun HY, Zhang H, Zang YF. RESTplus: an improved toolkit for resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging data processing. *Sci Bull.* (2019) 64:953–54. doi: 10.1016/j.scib.2019.05.008

- Chen LC Li X, Shen L. Self-limited focal epilepsy decreased regional brain activity in sensorimotor areas. Acta Neurol Scand. (2021) 143:188– 94. doi: 10.1111/ane.13350
- 30. Zheng Y, Xie Y, Qi M, Zhang L, Wang W, Zhang W, et al. Ginkgo biloba extract is comparable with donepezil in improving functional recovery in Alzheimer's disease: results from a multilevel characterized study based on clinical features and resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging. *Front Pharmacol.* (2021) 12:721216. doi: 10.3389/fphar.2021.721216
- Gong W, Wan L, Lu W, Ma L, Cheng F, Cheng W, et al. Statistical testing and power analysis for brain-wide association study. *Med Image Anal.* (2018) 47:15–30. doi: 10.1016/j.media.2018.03.014
- Tzourio-Mazoyer N, Landeau B, Papathanassiou D, Crivello F, Etard O, Delcroix N, et al. Automated anatomical labeling of activations in SPM using a macroscopic anatomical parcellation of the MNI MRI single-subject brain. *Neuroimage*. (2002) 15:273–89. doi: 10.1006/nimg.2001.0978
- Riddle M, Potter GG, McQuoid DR, Steffens DC, Beyer JL, Taylor WD. Longitudinal cognitive outcomes of clinical phenotypes of late-life depression. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2017) 25:1123–34. doi: 10.1016/j.jagp.2017.03.016
- Rapp MA, Dahlman K, Sano M, Grossman HT, Haroutunian V, Gorman JM. Neuropsychological differences between late-onset and recurrent geriatric major depression. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2005) 162:691–98. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.162.4.691
- Alexopoulos GS, Murphy CF, Gunning-Dixon FM, Glatt CE, Latoussakis V, Kelly RE, et al. Serotonin transporter polymorphisms, microstructural white matter abnormalities and remission of geriatric depression. J Affect Disord. (2009) 119:132–41. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2009.03.004
- 36. Greicius MD, Flores BH, Menon V, Glover G H, Solvason HB, Kenna H, et al. Resting-state functional connectivity in major depression: abnormally increased contributions from subgenual cingulate cortex and thalamus. *Biol Psychiatry*. (2007) 62:429–37. doi: 10.1016/j.biopsych.2006.09.020
- 37. Yuan Y, Zhang Z, Bai F. Yu H, Shi Y, Qian Y, et al. Abnormal neural activity in the patients with remitted geriatric depression: a resting-state functional magnetic resonance imaging study. *J Affect Disord*. (2008) 111:145– 52. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2008.02.016
- Ma Z, Li R, Yu J, He Y, Li J. Alterations in regional homogeneity of spontaneous brain activity in late-life subthreshold depression. *PLoS ONE*. (2013) 8:e53148. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0053148
- 39. Saleh A, Potter GG, McQuoid DR, Boyd B, Turner R, MacFall JR, et al. Effects of early life stress on depression, cognitive performance and brain morphology. *Psychol Med.* (2017) 47:171–81. doi: 10.1017/S0033291716002403
- Taylor WD, Macfall JR, Payne ME, McQuoid DR, Steffens DC, Provenzale JM, et al. Orbitofrontal cortex volume in late life depression: influence of hyperintense lesions and genetic polymorphisms. *Psychol Med.* (2007) 37:1763–73. doi: 10.1017/S0033291707000128
- Yang M, Chen B, Zhong X, Zhou H, Mai N, Zhang M, et al. Disrupted olfactory functional connectivity in patients with late-life depression. J Affect Disord. (2022) 306:174–81. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2022.03.014
- 42. Chen B, Zhong X, Mai N, Peng Q, Wu Z, Ouyang C, et al. Cognitive impairment and structural abnormalities in late life depression with olfactory identification impairment: an Alzheimer's diseaselike pattern. *Int J Neuropsychopharmacol.* (2018) 21:640–48. doi; 10.1093/ijnp/pyy016. doi: 10.1093/ijnp/pyy016
- Voshaar RC, Kapur N, Bickley H, Williams A, Purandare N. Suicide in later life: a comparison between cases with early-onset and late-onset depression. J Affect Disord. (2011) 132:185–91. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2011.02.008
- Margulies D S, Kelly AM, Uddin LQ, Biswal BB, Castellanos FX, Milham M P. Mapping the functional connectivity of anterior cingulate cortex. *Neuroimage*. (2007) 37:579–88. doi: 10.1016/j.neuroimage.2007.05.019
- Ikuta T, Matsuo K, Harada K, Nakashima M, Hobara T, Higuchi N, et al. Disconnectivity between dorsal raphe nucleus and posterior cingulate cortex in later life Ddpression. *Front Aging Neurosci.* (2017) 9:236. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2017.00236
- Gasquoine PG. Localization of function in anterior cingulate cortex: from psychosurgery to functional neuroimaging. *Neurosci Biobehav Rev.* (2013) 37:340–48. doi: 10.1016/j.neubiorev.2013.01.002
- 47. Harada K, Ikuta T, Nakashima M, Watanuki T, Hirotsu M, Matsubara T. et al. Altered connectivity of the anterior cingulate and the posterior superior

temporal gyrus in a longitudinal study of later-life depression. Front Aging Neurosci. (2018) 10:31. doi: 10.3389/fnagi.2018.00031

- Liu F, Hu M, Wang S, Guo W, Zhao J, Li J, et al. Abnormal regional spontaneous neural activity in first-episode, treatment-naive patients with late-life depression: a resting-state fMRI study. *Prog Neuropsychopharmacol Biol Psychiatry*. (2012) 39:326–31. doi: 10.1016/j.pnpbp.2012.07.004
- Nyhus E, Barceló F. The Wisconsin card sorting test and the cognitive assessment of prefrontal executive functions: a critical update. *Brain Cogn.* (2009) 71:437–51. doi: 10.1016/j.bandc.2009.03.005
- du Boisgueheneuc F, Levy R, Volle E, Seassau M, Duffau H, Kinkingnehun S. et al. Functions of the left superior frontal gyrus in humans: a lesion study. *Brain*. (2006) (129):3315–28. doi: 10.1093/brain/awl244
- Hadanny A, Daniel-Kotovsky M, Suzin G. Boussi-Gross R, Catalogna M, Dagan K, et al. Cognitive enhancement of healthy older adults using hyperbaric oxygen: a randomized controlled trial. *Aging.* (2020) 12:13740–61.
- Schnider A, Valenza N, Morand S, Michel CM. Early cortical distinction between memories that pertain to ongoing reality and memories that don't. *Cereb Cortex.* (2002) 12:54–61. doi: 10.1093/cercor/12.1.54
- Kanske P, Heissler J, Schönfelder S, Bongers A, Wessa M. How to regulate emotion? Neural networks for reappraisal and distraction. *Cereb Cortex*. (2011) 21:1379–88. doi; 10.1093/cercor/bhq216. doi: 10.1093/cercor/bhq216
- Botvinick MM. Conflict monitoring and decision making: reconciling two perspectives on anterior cingulate function. *Cogn Affect Behav Neurosci.* (2007) 7:356–66. doi: 10.3758/CABN.7.4.356
- Loeffler LAK, Satterthwaite TD, Habel U, Schneider F, Radke S, Derntl B. Attention control and its emotion-specific association with cognitive emotion regulation in depression. *Brain Imaging Behav.* (2019) 13:1766– 79. doi: 10.1007/s11682-019-00174-9
- Klojčnik M, Kavcic V, Bakracevic Vukman K. Relationship of depression with executive functions and visuospatial memory in elderly. *Int J Aging Hum Dev.* (2017) 85:490–503. doi: 10.1177/0091415017712186

- Iverson GL, Brooks BL, Ashton VL, Johnson LG, Gualtieri CT. Does familiarity with computers affect computerized neuropsychological test performance? *J Clin Exp Neuropsychol.* (2009) 31:594–604. doi: 10.1080/13803390802372125
- Mutschler I, Wieckhorst B, Meyer AH, Schweizer T, Klarhöfer M, Wilhelm FH, et al. Who gets afraid in the MRI-scanner? Neurogenetics of stateanxiety changes during an fMRI experiment. *Neurosci lett.* (2014) 583:81– 6. doi: 10.1016/j.neulet.2014.09.021
- Heinrich A, Szostek A, Meyer P, Reinhard I, Gilles M, Paslakis G, et al. Women are more strongly affected by dizziness in static magnetic fields of magnetic resonance imaging scanners. *Neuroreport.* (2014) 25:1081– 4. doi: 10.1097/WNR.0000000000225

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Liu, Pan, Zhu, Mao, Ren and Ma. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



## Persistent Depressive Symptoms and the Changes in Serum Cystatin C Levels in the Elderly: A Longitudinal Cohort Study

Tiandong Han<sup>1</sup>, Li Zhang<sup>2\*</sup>, Weixing Jiang<sup>1</sup> and Lei Wang<sup>1</sup>

<sup>1</sup> Department of Urology, Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Anesthesiology, Beijing Friendship Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China

**Background:** The burden of depression in the elderly is increasing worldwide with global aging. However, there is still a lack of research on the relationship between depressive symptoms and the progression of renal function. Our aim is to evaluate the longitudinal association between baseline depressive symptoms and the changes in serum cystatin C levels over 10 years' follow-up period.

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Wuxiang Xie, Peking University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Dae Jong Oh, Seoul Metropolitan Government—Seoul National University Boramae Medical Center, South Korea Yueqin Hu, Beijing Normal University, China

> \*Correspondence: Li Zhang zhangli8828@163.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 10 April 2022 Accepted: 05 May 2022 Published: 03 June 2022

#### Citation:

Han T, Zhang L, Jiang W and Wang L (2022) Persistent Depressive Symptoms and the Changes in Serum Cystatin C Levels in the Elderly: A Longitudinal Cohort Study. Front. Psychiatry 13:917082. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.917082 **Methods:** We used longitudinal data from the Health and Retirement Study (HRS), an existing community based nationally representative aging cohort study which enrolled individuals over age 50 in the USA. Depressive symptoms were determined using an eight-item version of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CESD) at wave 7 (2004) and wave 8 (2006). Persistent depressive symptoms were defined as both CESD scores measured at waves 7 and 8 were  $\geq$ 3; episodic depressive symptoms were defined as cesD scores  $\geq$ 3 at wave 7 or wave 8. A linear mixed model was used to evaluate the correlation between baseline depressive symptoms and future changes in cystatin C levels.

**Results:** The mean age of the 7,642 participants was  $63.8 \pm 10.8$  years, and 60.9% were women. Among the participants, 1,240 (16.2%) had episodic depressive symptoms and 778 (10.2%) had persistent depressive symptoms. Compared with participants with no depressive symptoms at both waves, a significant increase in serum cystatin C levels was found among those with persistent depressive symptoms.

**Conclusions:** Our results showed that baseline persistent depressive symptoms were significantly associated with an increased rate of serum cystatin C levels. The level of serum cystatin C should be monitored in the elderly with persistent depressive symptoms.

Keywords: persistent depressive symptoms, serum cystatin C, longitudinal cohort study, the HRS, renal function

#### INTRODUCTION

In worldwide, all the governments need to face the social problem of depression in older people, as it might lead to increasing burdens and costs to individuals and society. To explore the modifiable risk factors and effective prevention for depression is needed. Accumulating evidences from studies suggest that depression can regulate the response of angiogenesis and immune state, which may

33

cause increased mortality (1). Although depression is a common health problem in the middle-aged and elderly (2, 3), it is reported that depression is also common in patients with Chronic Kidney Disease (CKD) (4).

However, in recent years, there is limited research on the progress of renal function failure and depression in the elderly. Recently, a cross-sectional study reported the association between depression and renal function measured by estimated glomerular filtration rate (eGFR) (5). In addition, the manifestations of depression in various comorbidities are obesity, diabetes, and cardiovascular diseases. It may further predict poor renal prognosis (6, 7). However, the longitudinal relationship between baseline depression or depressive symptoms and future age-related renal impairment (from mild to moderate) is unclear.

Although serum or plasma creatinine have become the most commonly used serum marker of renal function, these are often misleading in the elderly, because muscle mass declines with aging, creatinine metabolism could be also changed (8). Cystatin C is a member of the type 2 cystatin superfamily of cysteine protease inhibitors. It is a small protein produced by almost all human cells and can be obtained in all body fluids (9). With freely filtered through the glomerulus, then reabsorbed and completely catabolized without secretion or subsequent reabsorption into the circulation (10), the characteristic is less dependent on muscle mass than creatinine, so that Cystatin C may be more accurate in kidney function's evaluation (9, 11).

The objectives of the current analysis were 1) to investigate whether depressive symptoms are associated with the levels of serum cystatin C at the baseline; and 2) to develop a better understanding of the potential relevance between baseline depressive symptoms and future changes of cystatin C levels in the elderly.

#### **METHODS**

#### **Study Population**

We used longitudinal data from the Health and Retirement Study (HRS), an existing community based nationally representative aging cohort study which is freely available to all researchers. Since 1992, HRS has randomly recruited individuals over the age of 50 in the United States through a multistage regional probability sampling design (12). The cohort was in accordance with the Helsinki Declaration and approved by the Institutional Review Committee for Health Sciences and behavioral sciences at the University of Michigan (HUM00061128). Written informed consent was obtained from all participants.

**Figure 1** shows the flow chart of the current participant analysis. In our study, wave 8 (2006) in HRS was regarded as the baseline. A total of 18,469 participants participated in the wave 8 survey of HRS. The exclusion standard included: (1) missing completion at the wave 7 or wave 8 of the Center for Epidemiologic Studies Depression Scale (CESD) scores, (2) no data of serum cystatin C at the baseline, (3) history of CKD at baseline, or (4) additional 2,082 individuals without follow-up during wave 10 to wave 13.

#### **Depressive Symptoms**

Depressive symptoms were measured by the eight-item version of the Center for Epidemiological Studies Depression scale (CESD-8). This is a widely used self-report measure of depressive symptoms, which has been used in many population-based studies to identify people at risk of depression (13). Participants were asked to think about the past time and feelings, and then distinguish whether the following statements are more similar to them: you feel depressed; You find everything difficult; Your sleep is disturbed; You are happy; You feel lonely; You enjoy life; You feel sad; You can't go. To select Yes or No. The CESD version has internal consistency and factor structure, which is equivalent to the longer version of the scale (14). Although there were scores >4, according to the relevant survey, people were considered to have depressive symptoms (15, 16). In our study, depressive symptoms were defined as three or more of eight, which is a threshold used to indicate the clinical diagnosis of depression (17). People with depressive symptoms at wave 7 or wave 8 were classified as having episodic depressive symptoms, and those with depressive symptoms in both waves were classified as persistent depressive symptoms.

#### Measurement of Serum Cystatin C

In the wave 8 (2006) survey of HRS, half of the participants were randomly preselected for blood collection, wave 9 (2008) included the other half. So that both wave surveys decided the baseline serum cystatin C data. Blood specimens were collected by dried blood spot. Serum cystatin C was detected in these two waves using a BNII nephelometer (Siemens, Inc., Deerfield, IL) at the University of Vermont. The equivalent value of serum cystatin C in the national health and Nutrition Examination Survey recommended by HRS researchers was used in our analysis.

#### **Definition of CKD and All-Cause Death**

Renal function was defined by using the CKD Epidemiology Collaboration (CKD-EPI) equation, the new CKD-EPI equation was first published in 2012 with cystatin C alone or combined with creatinine (10). The most basic application of cystatin C is for GFR estimation. The 2012 Kidney Disease Improving Global Outcomes (KDIGO) recommended that cystatin C be measured in adults with creatinine eGFR from 45–60 mL/min/1.73m<sup>2</sup> but lack of other markers of renal damage to confirm the diagnosis of CKD (18). The mortality data were taken from the tracker file with verification from family members.

#### **Assessment of Covariates**

Covariates included clinical and demographic characteristics. Clinical characteristics included hypertension and diabetes. As for demographic characteristics, sex, race, age (years), and body mass index  $(kg/m^2)$  were selected for our analysis.

Hypertension was identified as a patient's systolic blood pressure  $\geq$  140 mmHg and / or diastolic blood pressure  $\geq$  90 mmHg, or if the participant was currently using relative antihypertensive drugs. Body mass index was defined as weight (kg)/height<sup>2</sup> (m<sup>2</sup>). The definition for Diabetes as hemoglobin A1c



TABLE 1 | Characteristics of the study participants at baseline.

Characteristic	Depressive symptoms at waves 7 and 8			P for trend <sup>a</sup>
	Persistent ( $n = 778$ )	Episodic ( $n = 1,240$ )	No ( <i>n</i> = 5,624)	
Women (%)	556 (71.5)	864 (69.7)	3,231 (57.5)	<0.001
White (%)	573 (73.7)	961 (77.5)	4,833 (85.9)	< 0.001
Age (Year)	$63.0 \pm 10.0$	$63.5 \pm 9.4$	$65.3 \pm 9.2$	< 0.001
Body mass index (kg/m2)	$31.1 \pm 6.8$	$29.8 \pm 5.8$	$29.0 \pm 5.4$	< 0.001
Hypertension (%)	440 (56.6)	626 (50.6)	2,592 (46.1)	< 0.001
Diabetes (%)	186 (23.9)	241 (19.5)	737 (13.1)	< 0.001
Cystatin C (mg/L)	0.97 (0.84–1.11)	0.94 (0.82–1.11)	0.93 (0.80-1.07)	0.006

Data are presented as mean  $\pm$  standard deviation, n (%), or median (quartiles 1–3).

 $^a$  Calculated by using a linear regression analysis or  $\chi^2$  test for trend.

>6.5%, fasting blood glucose >7 mmol/L, or currently used for anti-diabetic treatment (16).

#### **Statistical Analysis**

Characteristics of the overall sample were described using means and standard deviations (SD) or median (quartile range) for continuous data, and n (%) for categorical data.

Linear regression models were used to evaluate the crosssectional associations between baseline status of depressive symptoms and serum cystatin C levels. Then, we used linear mixed model to perform longitudinal associations between sum of CES-D scores and the changes of serum cystatin C levels. We also ran longitudinal analyses to explore the association between baseline status of depressive symptoms and future changes of serum cystatin C levels, using participants without depressive symptoms as the reference. Linear mixed models use all available data during follow-up, considering that repeated measurements of the same participant are interrelated, and can deal with missing data (16). Cox regression models were used to analyze the longitudinal associations of baseline persistent depressive symptoms with incident CKD and all-cause mortality. Model 1 was adjusted for age and gender, and Model 2 was further adjusted for race, body mass index, hypertension, and diabetes.

All analyses were performed by using SAS (version 9.4; SAS Institute Inc). All tests were bilateral, the value is 0.05 as the threshold of statistical significance.


FIGURE 2 | Mean difference rate of change in serum cystatin C (mg/L) between baseline depressive symptom groups. Group 1 as persistent depressive symptoms. Group 2 as episodic depressive symptoms. Group 3 as no depressive symptoms. The group 3 was the reference group. Solid lines represent mean differences in serum cystatin C (mg/L) after adjusting for age, sex, race, body mass index, hypertension, and diabetes. The shadows represent the 95% CIs. The detailed results are presented in Table 3.

# RESULTS

#### **Participant Selection and Characteristics**

A total of 18,469 participants were included. Detailed process of participant selection was shown in **Figure 1**. Among these, 7,642 participants with complete baseline data and subsequent cystatin C measurement were used for our analysis. 778 participants (10.2%) were classified as experiencing persistent depressive symptoms, the other 1,240 participants (16.2%) were classified as experiencing episodic depressive symptoms.

**Table 1** shows the baseline characteristics of participants according to the baseline status of depressive symptoms. The mean age of included participants for the HRS was  $63.8 \pm 10.8$  years. In generally speaking, participants who reported a longer duration of depressive symptoms were significantly less well characterized than those who did not. Study participants reporting longer duration had higher body mass index, were more likely to be female, and had a higher prevalence of hypertension and diabetes mellitus.

### Cross-Sectional Association Between Depressive Symptoms and Serum Cystatin C

As seen in **Figure 2**, solid lines represent mean differences in serum cystatin C (mg/L) after adjusting for age, sex, race, body mass index, hypertension, and diabetes. The shadows represent the 95% confidence intervals (CI). Compared with participants with no depressive symptoms at both waves, a significant increase in serum cystatin C levels was found among those with persistent depressive symptoms.

# Longitudinal Association Between Depressive Symptoms and Serum Cystatin C

As shown in **Table 2**, the longitudinal correlation between the sum of CESD scores and the rate of change in serum cystatin C. After multivariable adjustment, an increase of one unit in the total score of CESD was associated with a faster increase in serum cystatin C levels in patients with persistent and episodic depressive symptoms (0.004 mg/L, 95% CI: 0.001 to 0.008, P = 0.025; 0.002 mg/L, 95% CI: -0.001 to 0.005, P = 0.288), respectively, compared with participants without depressive symptoms. Besides, our analyses found that per 3-point increase in CESD scores was associated with a higher rate of change in serum cystatin C levels (0.003 mg/L, 95% CI: 0.001 to 0.005, P = 0.003), after multivariable adjustment.

# Longitudinal Associations of Depressive Symptoms With Incident CKD and All-Cause Death

As shown in **Table 3**, the risks of CKD and all-cause death in participants with persistent depressive were significantly or marginally significantly higher, compared with those without depressive symptoms. Similarly, CESD scores, as a continuous variable, was always significantly correlated with new onset CKD and all-cause death after multivariate adjustment.

# DISCUSSION

This ongoing cohort study of an elderly American populations investigate the temporal association between episodic or persistent depressive symptoms and the level of cystatin C in a large general population based on previous assessments of depressive symptoms. After extensive adjustment for covariates, persistent depressive symptoms were significantly associated with the change of kidney dysfunction, incident CKD, and all-cause mortality. These associations were not related to gender, age, race, body mass index, hypertension, and diabetes.

Emerging evidences suggest that depression and CKD may both affect most of the world's population, depression is more common in CKD patients than without CKD (19). In general, depressive symptoms can cause active inflammation and impaired immune response which may lead to poor clinical outcomes (20). Even if all patients with depression receive the best treatment of evidence-based intervention, residual symptoms and dysfunction are still common (21). Therefore, some previous studies have evaluated relationship between depressive symptoms and rapid eGFR decrease or progression to renal failure (22–26). Considering the adverse clinical results caused by depressive symptoms, the high prevalence of these symptoms in elderly maintained the importance of our study.

There are many mechanisms for the relationship between depressive symptoms and serum cystatin C. Although etiology and pathogenesis of depression are not fully understood, there are consistent and strong empirical evidences that neuronal injury and immune inflammation are important factors related to depression (27–31). Cystatin C is an important endogenous

TABLE 2 Association between baseline depressive symptoms and rate of change in serum cystatin C (mg/L): longitudinal analyses using linear mixed models.

Depressive symptoms at waves 7 and 8	Model 1 <sup>a</sup>		Model 2 <sup>b</sup>		
	β (95% CI)	P-value	β (95% CI)	P-value	
Persistent	0.004 (0.001 to 0.008)	0.025	0.004 (0.000 to 0.008)	0.027	
Episodic	0.002 (-0.001 to 0.005)	0.288	0.002 (-0.001 to 0.005)	0.218	
No	Reference		Reference		
Per 3-point increase <sup>c</sup>	0.003 (0.001 to 0.005)	0.004	0.003 (0.001 to 0.005)	0.004	

<sup>a</sup>Model 1: adjusted for age and sex.

<sup>b</sup>Model 2: adjusted for age, sex, race, body mass index, hypertension, and diabetes.

<sup>c</sup>Per 3-point increasement of the mean CESD score at wave 7 and wave 8.

TABLE 3 | Association between baseline depressive symptoms and risk of incident CKD and all-cause mortality.

		Model 1 <sup>a</sup>		Model 2 <sup>b</sup>	
	Events/Total	HR (95%CI)	P-value	HR (95%CI)	P-value
СКD					
Persistent	243/492	1.512 (1.318 to 1.735)	< 0.001	1.283 (1.061 to 1.552)	0.010
Episodic	339/1,240	1.268 (1.128 to 1.425)	< 0.001	1.093 (0.928 to 1.288)	0.286
No	1,327/5,624	Reference		Reference	
Per 3-point increase <sup>c</sup>		1.350 (1.258 to 1.449)	< 0.001	1.178 (1.065 to 1.304)	0.002
All-cause death					
Persistent	148/492	1.567 (1.314 to 1.868)	< 0.001	1.267 (0.991 to 1.620)	0.059
Episodic	205/1,240	1.289 (1.106 to 1.503)	0.001	1.226 (0.997 to 1.507)	0.054
No	896/5,624	Reference		Reference	
Per 3-point increase <sup>c</sup>		1.365 (1.242 to 1.501)	< 0.001	1.246 (1.093 to 1.420)	

<sup>a</sup>Model 1: adjusted for age and sex.

<sup>b</sup>Model 2: adjusted for age, sex, race, body mass index, hypertension, and diabetes.

<sup>c</sup>Per 3-point increasement of the mean CESD score at wave 7 and wave 8.

inhibitor of cysteine protease activity (32), which is also closely related to the nerve injury and immune inflammation (33, 34). Another possible mechanism is that cystatin C is close to oxidative stress, which can play a significant role in the process of depression (35). Last but not least, apoptosis may be an important risk factor for depression, it can also influence on the level of Cystatin C by changing the concentration of active caspinase-9 protein (36, 37). However, most investigations by now laid the emphasis on the relationship about higher cystatin C concentration appear to present with high risk of depression (38, 39). Different from previous studies, in this large cohort study of older Americans, persistent depressive symptoms were significantly associated with elevated serum cystatin C levels.

To our knowledge, this study is the largest general population-based investigation exploring the relationship between depressive symptoms and level of serum cystatin C with a long-term follow-up of 10 years. In our research, we showed that patients with higher depression events correlated with higher serum levels of cystatin C, then had an increased CES-D score at baseline. Our results imply that the prospective association between depressive symptoms and rapid kidney function decline in the general population, serum cystatin C might be a more sensitive biomarker for CKD. What is more, we guaranteed comprehensive follow-up and strict adjudication of depression events, so that the results are reliable. Then, the determination method of serum cystatin C assay chosen for this study is both widely available and stable (coefficient of variation of precision < 5%). The serum index is simple, reliable, and convenient for clinical promotion.

Several potential limitations need to be mentioned. The study sample comes from a single cohort, and the sample size may be larger. Additionally, the time courses of cystatin C levels were not evaluated and amended, especially the information for serum cystatin C level was absent in wave 7. By evaluating the time course of cystatin C, further research is necessary to consolidate the clinical significance of depressive symptoms. In addition, HRS enrolled only middle-aged and older persons, and as such, we do not know whether this association is suitable for younger person.

Several researchers have already evaluated the potential link between cystatin C levels and depression (38–40). A study which enrolled 1,440 Chinese elders (>60 years old) found a harmful relationship between high serum cystatin C levels and risk of depression (38). Another prospective cohort study of 11,847 Chinese people (>45 years old) demonstrated that high levels of serum cystatin C were associated with an increased risk of depression (40). They computed the risk of depression by using modified Poission regression models, found that the association between serum cystatin C levels and the risk of depression remained significant after adjusting for multiple covariance. Consistent with the above findings, our results show that serum cystatin C not only is associated with depression, but also severity of depressive symptoms is closely related to change of serum cystatin C. This association persists after controlling for multiple potentially confounding variables. We indicate that cystatin C should be monitored in the pathogenesis of depression among all the kidney function markers.

# CONCLUSIONS

Our results showed that baseline persistent depressive symptoms were significantly correlated with an increased rate of serum cystatin C levels. The level of serum cystatin C should be monitored in the elderly with persistent depressive symptoms. Potential mechanisms of the relationship between kidney dysfunction and depression need to be further characterized. If further confirmed, our data could be the evidence for depressive symptoms' screening and effective psychosocial intervention to improve the primary prevention of CKD and all-cause death.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

## REFERENCES

- Lutgendorf SK, Sood AK, Antoni MH. Host factors and cancer progression: biobehavioral signaling pathways and interventions. J Clin Oncol. (2010) 28:4094–9. doi: 10.1200/JCO.2009.26.9357
- Ferrari AJ, Charlson FJ, Norman RE, Patten SB, Freedman G, Murray CJ, et al. Burden of depressive disorders by country, sex, age, and year: findings from the global burden of disease study 2010. *PLoS MED.* (2013) 10:e1001547. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1001547
- Lei X, Sun X, Strauss J, Zhang P, Zhao Y. Depressive symptoms and ses among the mid-aged and elderly in china: evidence from the china health and retirement longitudinal study national baseline. *Soc Sci Med.* (2014) 120:224–32. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.201 4.09.028
- 4. Pu L, Zou Y, Wu SK, Wang F, Zhang Y, Li GS, et al. Prevalence and associated factors of depressive symptoms among chronic kidney disease patients in China: results from the Chinese cohort study of chronic kidney disease (C-stride). J Psychosom Res. (2020) 128:109869. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2019.109869
- Wang WL, Liang S, Zhu FL, Liu JQ, Wang SY, Chen XM, et al. The prevalence of depression and the association between depression and kidney function and health-related quality of life in elderly patients with chronic kidney disease: a multicenter cross-sectional study. *Clin Interv Aging.* (2019) 14:905–13. doi: 10.2147/CIA.S203186
- Novak M, Mucsi I, Rhee CM, Streja E, Lu JL, Kalantar-Zadeh K, et al. Increased risk of incident chronic kidney disease, cardiovascular disease, and mortality in patients with diabetes with comorbid depression. *Diabetes Care*. (2016) 39:1940–7. doi: 10.2337/dc16-0048
- 7. Hedayati SS, Jiang W, O'Connor CM, Kuchibhatla M, Krishnan KR, Cuffe MS, et al. The association between depression and chronic kidney disease

# ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Committee for Health Sciences and Behavioral Sciences at the University of Michigan (HUM00061128). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study. Written informed consent was obtained from the individual(s) for the publication of any potentially identifiable images or data included in this article.

# **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

TH and LZ conceived the study and designed the statistical analyses. TH, LZ, and LW did the statistical analyses and prepared the draft of the manuscript. TH, WJ, LZ, and LW substantively revised the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

# FUNDING

The National Natural Science Foundation of China (81901125) have contributed to analysis and interpretation of data.

# ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The authors thank the HRS research team and the field team for collecting and providing the data. The authors also thank all volunteers and staff involved in this research.

and mortality among patients hospitalized with congestive heart failure. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2004) 44:207–15. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2004.04.025

- Anand S, Johansen KL, Kurella Tamura M. Aging and chronic kidney disease: the impact on physical function and cognition. J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci. (2014) 69:315–22. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glt109
- Fliser D, Ritz E. Serum cystatin C concentration as a marker of renal dysfunction in the elderly. Am J Kidney Dis. (2001) 37:79– 83. doi: 10.1053/ajkd.2001.20628
- Inker LA, Schmid CH, Tighiouart H, Eckfeldt JH, Feldman HI, Greene T, et al. Estimating glomerular filtration rate from serum creatinine and cystatin C. *N Engl J Med.* (2012) 367:20–9. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa1114248
- 11. Shlipak MG, Sarnak MJ, Katz R, Fried LF, Seliger SL, Newman AB, et al. Cystatin C and the risk of death and cardiovascular events among elderly persons. N Engl J Med. (2005) 352:2049–60. doi: 10.1056/NEJMoa043161
- Sonnega A, Faul JD, Ofstedal MB, Langa KM, Phillips JW, Weir DR. Cohort profile: the Health and Retirement Study (HRS). *Int J Epidemiol.* (2014) 43:576–85. doi: 10.1093/ije/dyu067
- Zheng F, Xie W. High-sensitivity C-reactive protein and cognitive decline: the English longitudinal study of aging. *Psychol Med.* (2018) 48:1381– 9. doi: 10.1017/S0033291717003130
- Turvey CL, Wallace RB, Herzog R. A revised ces-D measure of depressive symptoms and a dsm-based measure of major depressive episodes in the elderly. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (1999) 11:139–48. doi: 10.1017/S1041610299005694
- Li C, Miles T, Shen L, Shen Y, Liu T, Zhang M, et al. Early-life exposure to severe famine and subsequent risk of depressive symptoms in late adulthood: the China health and retirement longitudinal study. *Br J Psychiatry.* (2018) 213:579–86. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2018.116
- Zheng F, Zhong B, Song X, Xie W. Persistent depressive symptoms and cognitive decline in older adults. Br J Psychiatry. (2018) 213:638– 44. doi: 10.1192/bjp.2018.155

- Schane RE, Walter LC, Dinno A, Covinsky KE, Woodruff PG. Prevalence and risk factors for depressive symptoms in persons with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. J Gen Intern Med. (2008) 23:1757– 62. doi: 10.1007/s11606-008-0749-z
- Andrassy KM. Comments on "kdigo 2012 clinical practice guideline for the evaluation and management of chronic kidney disease". *Kidney Int.* (2013) 84:622–3. doi: 10.1038/ki.2013.243
- Lin M, Huang H, Yao J, Liang J, Li L, Lin W, et al. Association between depression and renal hyperfiltration in a general Chinese population. *Kidney Blood Press Res.* (2019) 44:1441–52. doi: 10.1159/000503922
- Cukor D, Cohen SD, Peterson RA, Kimmel PL. Psychosocial aspects of chronic disease: ESRD as a paradigmatic illness. J Am Soc Nephrol. (2007) 18:3042–55. doi: 10.1681/ASN.2007030345
- 21. Jia F, Li X, Liu F, Shi X, Liu H, Cao F. Association of renal function and depressive symptoms: evidence from the china health and retirement longitudinal study. J Psychosom Res. (2020) 137:110224. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2020.110224
- Fischer MJ, Kimmel PL, Greene T, Gassman JJ, Wang X, Brooks DH, et al. Elevated depressive affect is associated with adverse cardiovascular outcomes among African Americans with chronic kidney disease. *Kidney Int.* (2011) 80:670–8. doi: 10.1038/ki.2011.153
- Chiang HH, Guo HR, Livneh H, Lu MC, Yen ML, Tsai TY. Increased risk of progression to dialysis or death in ckd patients with depressive symptoms: a prospective 3-year follow-up cohort study. *J Psychosom Res.* (2015) 79:228– 32. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015.01.009
- Tsai YC, Chiu YW, Hung CC, Hwang SJ, Tsai JC, Wang SL, et al. Association of symptoms of depression with progression of ckd. *Am J Kidney Dis.* (2012) 60:54–61. doi: 10.1053/j.ajkd.2012.02.325
- Hedayati SS, Minhajuddin AT, Afshar M, Toto RD, Trivedi MH, Rush AJ. Association between major depressive episodes in patients with chronic kidney disease and initiation of dialysis, hospitalization, or death. *JAMA*. (2010) 303:1946–53. doi: 10.1001/jama.2010.619
- Kop WJ, Seliger SL, Fink JC, Katz R, Odden MC, Fried LF, et al. Longitudinal association of depressive symptoms with rapid kidney function decline and adverse clinical renal disease outcomes. *Clin J Am Soc Nephrol.* (2011) 6:834– 44. doi: 10.2215/CJN.03840510
- Zeng Q, Huang Z, Wei L, Fang J, Lin K. Correlations of serum cystatin C level and gene polymorphism with vascular cognitive impairment after acute cerebral infarction. *Neurol Sci.* (2019) 40:1049–54. doi: 10.1007/s10072-019-03777-8
- Kim JW, Szigethy EM, Melhem NM, Saghafi EM, Brent DA. Inflammatory markers and the pathogenesis of pediatric depression and suicide: a systematic review of the literature. *J Clin Psychiatry*. (2014) 75:1242– 53. doi: 10.4088/JCP.13r08898
- Nishuty NL, Khandoker MMH, Karmoker JR, Ferdous S, Shahriar M, Qusar M, et al. Evaluation of serum interleukin-6 and c-reactive protein levels in drug-naïve major depressive disorder patients. *Cureus.* (2019) 11:e3868. doi: 10.7759/cureus.3868
- Anjum S, Qusar M, Shahriar M, Islam SMA, Bhuiyan MA, Islam MR. Altered serum interleukin-7 and interleukin-10 are associated with drug-free major depressive disorder. *Ther Adv Psychopharmacol.* (2020) 10:2045125320916655. doi: 10.1177/2045125320 916655

- Das R, Emon MPZ, Shahriar M, Nahar Z, Islam SMA, Bhuiyan MA, et al. Higher levels of serum il-1 beta and tnf-alpha are associated with an increased probability of major depressive disorder. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 295:113568. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113568
- Abrahamson M, Alvarez-Fernandez M, Nathanson CM. Cystatins. Biochem Soc Symp. (2003) 70:179–99. doi: 10.1042/bss0700179
- Nagai A, Terashima M, Sheikh AM, Notsu Y, Shimode K, Yamaguchi S, et al. Involvement of cystatin C in pathophysiology of cns diseases. *Front Biosci.* (2008) 13:3470–9. doi: 10.2741/2941
- Wilson ME, Boumaza I, Bowser R. Measurement of cystatin C functional activity in the cerebrospinal fluid of amyotrophic lateral sclerosis and control subjects. *Fluids Barriers CNS*. (2013) 10:15. doi: 10.1186/2045-8118-10-15
- 35. Islam MR, Ali S, Karmoker JR, Kadir MF, Ahmed MU, Nahar Z, et al. Evaluation of serum amino acids and non-enzymatic antioxidants in drug-naïve first-episode major depressive disorder. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2020) 20:333. doi: 10.1186/s12888-020-02738-2
- Xu Y, Ding Y, Li X, Wu X. Cystatin C is a disease-associated protein subject to multiple regulation. *Immunol Cell Biol.* (2015) 93:442–51. doi: 10.1038/icb.2014.121
- Le-Niculescu H, Levey DF, Ayalew M, Palmer L, Gavrin LM, Jain N, et al. Discovery and validation of blood biomarkers for suicidality. *Mol Psychiatry*. (2013) 18:1249–64. doi: 10.1038/mp.2013.95
- Wu L, Yan Z, Jiang H, Xing H, Li H, Qiu C. Serum cystatin C, impaired kidney function, and geriatric depressive symptoms among older people living in a rural area: a population-based study. *BMC Geriatr.* (2018) 18:265. doi: 10.1186/s12877-018-0957-2
- Minev E, Unruh M, Shlipak MG, Simsonick E, Yaffe K, Leak TS, et al. Association of cystatin C and depression in healthy elders: the health, aging and body composition study. *Nephron Clin Pract.* (2010) 116:c241– 6. doi: 10.1159/000317205
- Li H, Wang A, Qi G, Guo J, Li X, Wang W, et al. Cystatin C and risk of newonset depressive symptoms among individuals with a normal creatinine-based estimated glomerular filtration rate: a prospective cohort study. *Psychiatry Res.* (2019) 273:75–81. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2019.01.009

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Han, Zhang, Jiang and Wang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Socioeconomic Status Association With Dependency From Objective and Subjective Assessments: A Cross-Sectional Study

#### YiYang Pan, Ayizuhere Aierken, XiWen Ding, Yuan Chen and Ying Li\*

Department of Social Medicine, School of Public Health, Zhejiang University, Hangzhou, China

#### **OPEN ACCESS**

#### Edited by:

Wuxiang Xie, Peking University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Haewon Byeon, Inje University, South Korea Cristiano Capurso, University of Foggia, Italy William Sulis, McMaster University, Canada Shi-Bin Wang, Guangdong Mental Health Center, China

> \*Correspondence: Ying Li ying\_li@zju.edu.cn

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 17 March 2022 Accepted: 31 May 2022 Published: 29 June 2022

#### Citation:

Pan Y, Aierken A, Ding X, Chen Y and Li Y (2022) Socioeconomic Status Association With Dependency From Objective and Subjective Assessments: A Cross-Sectional Study. Front. Psychiatry 13:898686. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.898686 **Background:** The effect of socioeconomic status (SES) on dependency is still complex and not fully clear. The purposes of this study are to assess the association between SES and dependency personality disorder (DPD) using both objective and subjective assessments.

**Methods:** A cross-sectional study was conducted in 27 locations in China among 1,276 general residents aged 60 years and above through a complex multistage sampling design. Data were collected using a questionnaire by well-trained investigators through face-to-face interviews. The DPD was assessed using a standardized Chinese version of the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-II scale. Objective SES was assessed by the combination of education levels, individual income, preretirement occupation, and medical insurance. Subjective SES was measured using the MacArthur Scale. The logistic regression analysis was used to evaluate the association between objective SES and DPD. Analysis of covariance was conducted to compare the mean of DPD scores in different levels of SES.

**Results:** The results of the chi-squared test showed that the levels of objective SES were associated with DPD, depression, social resources, and region. The logistic regression analysis showed a significant negative association between the levels of objective SES and DPD. The odds ratio was 1.84 (95% confidence interval, 1.07–3.18) after adjusting for important confounding factors. The analysis of covariance showed differences in the mean of DPD scores among different groups defined by different levels of SES.

**Conclusion:** The levels of SES were negatively associated with DPD, and subjective SES had a stronger association with DPD than objective SES. The effect of subjective SES on DPD is possibly associated with the perception of position in the social hierarchy.

Keywords: dependency, socioeconomic status, social resources, objective and subjective assessments, elderly people

40

# INTRODUCTION

With economic and social development, the increasing number of elderly people worldwide results in the increasing challenge of health and social care demand in the next few decades (1, 2). Owing to the general reductions in social and economic resources and physical function decline, dependency is generally regarded as the inevitable result of aging and has become an important public health problem (3).

Dependency is a personality disorder, and its primary feature was identified as "a pervasive and excessive need to be taken care of, or meet their emotional and physical needs which lead to the gradual loss of autonomy and clinging behavior." Dependency has historical roots far preceding the seminal volume of the *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (DSM) (4, 5).

The different dependency objects, such as substances, behaviors, and people, can lead to alcohol dependency, sleep dependency, and nursing dependency. Dependency personality disorder (DPD) manifests differently at various points in a human life span; in children, it is characterized by helplessness, indecisiveness, and a tendency to cling to a supportive parent. In adolescents, it may manifest as close relationships with valued peers rather than with their parents. As the individual changes from adolescence to adulthood, the primary object of dependency may change again from peers to a mentor or figure of authority. The elderly with DPD often show psychopathological symptoms, such as loss of motivation, feelings of loneliness, and a sense of helplessness, which can bring about severe depressive symptoms and other health-related problems (6). In old age, with the impairment of physical function, cognitive decline, and the lack of social and environmental resources, the objects that cause dependency among elderly people become increasingly complex. Those elderly people with disability and cognitive impairment are associated with increased length of hospital stay and dependency for caregivers. Other older people with low income are financially dependent on their adult children. The appearance of dependent behaviors seems to be an adaptive response to debilitating socioeconomic circumstances. Epidemiological studies have confirmed that a high level of dependency is related to the risk of nutritional deficiency, depression, suicide, and increased all-cause mortality (7-9). In addition, high levels of dependency are associated with excessive use of healthcare services and increased healthcare expenditures, thus giving rise to medical burdens. DPD may have a negative impact on life satisfaction, as societal costs of increasing dependency increase over time (10).

A previous study has shown that socioeconomic factors, such as gender inequality, residence, age trends, and occupations, have a significant predictive power for an impending onset of dependency (11). A longitudinal study conducted on elderly people in Taiwan that has shown subjective socioeconomic status (SES) assessments seems to be more favorable than the objective SES assessment as a predictor of health outcomes (12). Subjective social status (SSS) can capture more comprehensive and dynamic attributes of SES than objective SES (13). Subjective SES reflects the relative rather than the absolute status in the social hierarchy. In addition, the perception of subordinate status in the social hierarchy is believed to have a destructive effect on health outcomes (14).

To the best of our knowledge, the impact of SES on dependency is understudied, particularly for subjective SES. The main objectives of this study include assessing the association between DPD and SES, using both objective and subjective measurements, and further determining the modifiable risk factors for future intervention studies.

# MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Study Design**

The data for this study were drawn from the project titled, "Accessibility Evaluation of Health-related Resources for the Elderly" using a cross-sectional design. Informed consent was obtained from each participant before participation. This study was approved by the institutional review board at the School of Medicine, Zhejiang University.

### **Participants**

A total of 1,276 general residents aged 60 years and above were selected using a complex multistage sampling design. According to the geographical distribution of China, sampling was conducted in four provinces (Zhejiang, Heilongjiang, Xinjiang, and Sichuan) from July 2019 to September 2021. In total, 27 locations (urban/rural) with good managerial and organizational capabilities were selected from five cities (Hangzhou, Harbin, Tulufan, Yining, and Chongqing), and **Figure 1** shows the third sampling units. We computed the total sample size required based on the events per variable method. Potentially eligible participants were recruited through mobile phones by local staff members, followed by extensive publicity campaigns.

Among them, 271 participants were interviewed about the subjective SES using the SSS Scale. Participants who failed to complete the questionnaire were excluded.

## **Data Collection**

Data were collected on-site by well-trained investigators through face-to-face interviews to ensure true answers. The duration of each interview lasted 45–60 min or longer. The questionnaire consisted of fifteen parts comprising 520 items. The main content comprised demographic characteristics, psychological status, cognitive status, resource utilization, and personality.

#### Measurements

#### **Objective Socioeconomic Status**

We combined the following measurements as a comprehensive measurement of objective SES: education level, individual income, pre-retirement occupation, and medical insurance. Education level was measured as completed years of schooling  $(0, \leq 6, 7-9, 10-12, 13-17, \text{ and } \geq 18 \text{ years})$  with a value of 0–5, respectively. Individual income was measured by self-reported monthly income, which was divided into  $< \pm 2,000, 2,000-3,999, 4,000-5,999, 6,000-7,999$ , and more than  $\pm 8,000$ , ranging from 0 to 4, respectively. The preretirement occupation was classified with reference to the empirical study (15), which were



divided into two categories with values of 0 and 1 according to manual (unemployed workers, temporary workers, factory workers, transportation personnel, housework, and labor in agriculture, fishery, and animal husbandry) and non-manual (staff of state agencies and institutions, service and sales workers, medical and health personnel, educators, and self-employed). Medical insurance was categorized into rural cooperative medical care, social basic medical insurance, and free medical care, each assigned a value of 1–3 points. If participants had commercial health insurance, an additional point would be added. 0 represents those with no health insurance. The objective SES scores ranged from 0 to 13 points; the higher the score, the higher the objective SES. In addition, it was divided into two categories with a cutoff point value of 3 based on quartiles (50th percentile), such as low objective SES and high objective SES (16).

#### Subjective Socioeconomic Status

Meanwhile, subjective SES can be defined as an individual's common sense perception of their social standing (17, 18). The MacArthur scale was applied to assess the SSS (12, 19–21). The instructions of the MacArthur scale are more complex linguistically speaking because they have long periods and subordinate constructions and thus require substantially greater cognitive skills (22). Based on the previous study (23), we changed the original reference group of these two questions into "Provinces" and "people around" due to the large socioeconomic differences in China's provinces and the unformed concept of "community" in the same sense (**Figure 2**). Respondents who

had put their marks in between two rungs were assigned to the higher levels of these rungs. Each item was counted as 1-10 points, and the total score was 20 points. Higher scores were considered to have higher subjective SES. Based on the scores of 271 participants, subjective SES was divided into two categories with a cutoff point value of 11 such as low subjective SES and high subjective SES. This social status indicator is a well-validated measurement with a strong construct validity and retest reliability (24). We identified a pool of six experts to participate in the content validity evaluation, including three gerontologists and three social science experts. These experts were selected for their extensive experience in gerontology and sociology, respectively. The relevance scale, which inspected the optimal collocation among four different reference groups ("China" and "Community;" "China" and "People around;" "Province" and "Community;" and "Province" and "People around"), along with the introduction, was sent via email to these experts. Each of the items was assessed with the following criteria: 1 = not relevant, 2 = somewhat relevant, 3 = quiterelevant, and 4 = highly relevant. With the data obtained, we established the content validity index (CVI) for the item level (I-CVI) by dividing the number of experts rated 3 or 4 by the total number of experts. Meanwhile, we established the CVI indicator for the scale level (S-CVI) by summing the number of items rated 3 or 4 and dividing the total number of items. I-CVI reflected the degree of agreement among experts, while S-CVI represented the consensus of all experts. When the number of experts was >5, I-CVI ≥ 0.78 and S-CVI ≥ 0.80 were



this ladder, the closer you are to the people at the very top, and the lower you are, the closer you are to the people at the very bottom. If you consider your current situation and compare it with all other people in Zhejiang Province, where would you place yourself on this ladder? Please mark an X on the rung that best represent your situation. (2) Here is another ladder. Think of this ladder as representing where people stand in the people around them. At the top of the ladder are the people who are the best off—those who have the most money, most education, and best jobs. At the bottom are the people around you, where would you place yourself on this ladder? Please mark an X on the rung that best represent is under the best off—those who have the most money, most education, and best jobs. At the bottom are the people around you, where would you place yourself on this ladder? Please mark an X on the rung that best represent your situation.

acceptable. Finally, the subjective SES indicator based on the "Province" and "People around" was selected because it had the best content validity.

#### **Dependency Personality Disorder**

Dependency personality disorder was assessed by the standardized Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory-II scale. The DPD scale comprised 57 items. The raw score was calculated and converted into a standardized T-score. A score of 60 or above was indicated as the diagnostic criteria for DPD.

#### **Cognitive Function**

Cognitive function was measured using the Chinese version of the Dementia Assessment Sheet for Community-Based Integrated Care System 21 items (DASC-21) through which we had identified the reliability and validity for elderly people in the Chinese community (25). The DASC-21 comprised two introductory items and 21 assessment items.

#### Social Support

Social support was measured by the Chinese version of the questionnaires of the Older American Resources and Services (OARS). The ratings were summed to yield a total score. High scores indicated high levels of social support.

#### **Community Service Resources**

Social resources were assessed using four questions as follows: "Does your community have emergency services like an emergency call?," "Can you get timely treatment when you are seriously ill?," "Does your community regularly ask about your current condition or do you receive follow-up calls regularly after seeing a doctor?," and "Do you regularly attend physical examinations?" If respondents responded with "No," then, the answer was coded as "0;" otherwise, it was coded as "1".

#### **Other Measurements**

Depressive symptoms were measured using the 15-item Geriatric Depression Scale. Participants' personality characteristics were assessed by the Eysenck Personality Questionnaire (EPQ).

### **Statistical Analysis**

Statistical analysis was restricted to the 1,217 participants who had complete questionnaires, objective SES, and DPD assessment data. The demographic characteristics of the participants were described using percentage.

Bivariate analysis for the level of objective SES and related factors was used for the chi-squared test. The participants were divided into two groups, namely, high level of SES and low level of SES.

A logistic regression analysis was performed to identify the association between DPD and objective SES. Individuals with a T-score on the DPD scale  $\geq$ 60 points were regarded as DPD individuals and expressed as "1;" otherwise, "0" for those score lower than 60 points. As a binary variable, objective SES was divided into high and low groups, and the high group was used as the control group. The logistic regression model was adjusted for age, gender, marital status, chronic disease status, social support, DASC-21, community service resources, GDS-15, and personality.

We conducted the analysis of covariance to evaluate the DPD scores among different SES groups such as high objective SES score and high subjective SES score group (objective highsubjective high), low objective SES score and high subjective SES score group (objective low-subjective high), high objective SES score and low subjective SES score group (objective highsubjective low), and low objective SES score and low subjective SES score group (objective low-subjective low) by using the general linear model procedure with the SAS program PROC glm. A variance homogeneity test and normality test were performed. We calculated the mean and standard error for the DPD score for the four groups, and the linear trend was tested for the means of four groups. Comparisons were conducted among the four groups by using an F test with a significance level of 0.05.

Statistical analysis was performed using SAS for Windows (version 9.4) and statistical package SPSS version 26.0 (IBM Corporation, Armonk, NY, USA). All statistical tests were two-sided with  $\alpha = 0.05$ .

## RESULTS

**Table 1** shows the demographic characteristics of the study participants. The average age of the participants was 68.5 years. Among all the participants, 486 (39.9%) were men, and 731 (60.1%) were women. Those who lived in rural areas accounted for 58.0 and 42.0% for those in the cities. More than half of the participants had equal or <6 years of schooling or no schooling. A total of 70.5% of participants self-reported having one or more chronic diseases. No statistically significant differences existed in DPD by gender (p = 0.234). However, DPD scores increased with age (p < 0.001). In addition, DPD scores were different in urban (*Mean* = 39.5, *SD* = 11.3) and rural (*Mean* = 44.5, *SD* =12.5) areas (p < 0.001).

**Table 2** shows the results of the levels of objective SES and related risk factors in the chi-squared test. In rural areas, 82.7% had a low level of objective SES (p < 0.001). Failure to receive any timely treatment or emergency service had a greater likelihood of a low level of objective SES. The low level of objective SES group compared with the counterpart had a higher proportion of individuals with depressive symptoms (GDS-15 scores  $\geq$  5, p < 0.001) and DPD (T-score  $\geq$  60, p = 0.005).

**Table 3** shows the association between the levels of objective SES and DPD status by binary logistic regression analyses after adjusting for depression, personality, community resources related to DPD, cognitive status, social support, and other covariates. The objective SES was significantly negatively associated with the levels of DPD, with odds ratio of 1.84 (95% CI, 1.07–3.18; p = 0.028).

**Table 4** presents the mean DPD scores among different SES groups in 271 participants. The objective high-subjective low group had higher DPD scores than the objective high-subjective high group. The objective low-subjective low group had the highest score among the four groups. Although the mean DPD score of the objective low-subjective high group was higher than the reference group, no statistical significance existed between the two groups. Based on the results of analysis of covariance (ANCOVA), the DPD score means of these groups increased gradually with a significant linear trend (p = 0.005). Then, they were adjusted for gender, marital status, chronic disease status, 2-week prevalence, alcohol use, mobile use, DASC-21 points, living spaces, and EPQ.

# DISCUSSION

This study observed the association between SES and DPD among the elderly. We found that the levels of objective SES were negatively associated with the DPD scores by logistic regression.

TABLE 1   Demographic characteristics of the study participants by sex in t	the
study.	

Variables	Men (A	/ = 486)	Women ( <i>N</i> = 731)		
_	n	%	n	%	
Age (year)					
60–69	275	56.6	462	63.2	
70–79	186	38.3	223	30.5	
≥80	25	5,1	46	6.3	
Education (year)					
0–6	248	51.0	412	56.3	
7–9	132	27.2	173	23.7	
10–12	61	12.5	95	13.0	
≥13	45	9.3	51	7.0	
Marital status					
Non-married	44	9.1	183	25.0	
Married	442	90.9	548	75.0	
Smoking status					
Yes	147	30.2	7	1.0	
No	339	69.8	724	99.0	
Alcohol use					
Yes	207	42.6	70	9.6	
No	279	57.4	661	90.4	
Physical activity					
Yes	214	44.0	391	53.5	
No	272	56.0	340	46.5	
Individual income					
¥ 0–1,999	232	47.7	317	43.4	
¥ 2,000–3,999	125	25.7	290	39.7	
¥ 4,000–5,999	84	17.3	91	12.4	
${\mathbbm 4}$ 6,000 and over	45	9.3	33	4.5	
Chronic disease status					
Yes	353	72.6	505	69.1	
No	133	27.4	226	30.9	
Measured variables (Mean, SD)					
Dependency scores	42.9	11.05	42.1	12.9	
SES scores	4.3	2.6	4.1	2.49	
GDS-15 scores	2.9	2.9	3.1	3.1	
EPQ scores	45.7	8.7	46.2	9.8	
DASC-21 scores	27.5	6.3	28.5	7.1	

SES, Socioeconomic Status; GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale; EPQ, Eysenck Personality Questionnaire; DASC-21, Dementia Assessment Sheet for Community-based Integrated Care System 21-items.

Further results showed that the subjective SES was more strongly associated with DPD than objective SES.

Our results show that SES is associated with places of residence, emergency services, timely treatment, and social support. The majority of the elderly with low objective SES live in rural areas. The increased risk of DPD at a lower level of objective SES may be due to greater stress exposure and reduced resources that buffer its effects (26). Stress exposure is often invoked as important pathways linking lower objective SES to poorer health (27). At the same time, individuals with fewer social and economic resources have added difficulty in obtaining general

TABLE 2   The level of socioeconomic for characteristics of participants in	
chi-squared test.	

Variables	Low SES	(N = 724)	High SES	6 (N = 493)	P-value
	n	%	n	%	-
Region					
Rural	584	82.7	122	17.3	< 0.001
City	140	27.4	371	72.6	
Age (year)					
60–69	418	56.7	319	43.3	0.015
≥70	306	63.7	174	36.3	
Marital status					
Non-married	151	66.5	76	33.5	0.017
Married	573	57.9	417	42.1	
Social support					
≤13	394	68.8	179	31.2	< 0.001
≥14	330	51.2	314	48.8	
Timely treatment					
Yes	692	58.8	485	41.2	0.007
No	32	80.0	8	20.0	
Emergency service					
Yes	316	55.4	254	44.6	0.007
No	408	63.1	239	36.9	
GDS-15					
0–4	510	54.0	435	46.0	< 0.001
≥5	214	78.7	58	21.3	
Dependency					
Yes	91	71.1	37	28.9	0.005
No	633	58.1	456	41.9	

SES, Socioeconomic Status; GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale.

medical care information and services, including preventive health services such as screening. Under this state of inequality, they tend to choose emergency departments and small clinics to acquire timely treatment and emergency services, thus observing dependency. A previous study has confirmed that, compared with areas with higher objective SES, areas with lower objective SES have a higher incidence of external cardiac arrest due to insufficient emergency resources, such as automatic external defibrillators, thus contributing to dependency (28). Resources include not only material resources that individuals can obtain and use but also psychosocial resources that are intangible but significant. Compared with people who are not dependent, the feeling of inequality in material and psychosocial resources among dependent people will exacerbate their dependency and drive them to rely on relevant resources to acquire support (29). Gallo et al. (30) observed a significant and moderate correlation between higher levels of objective SES and higher psychosocial resources in middle-aged Mexican American women. People with low objective SES encounter more negative life events and chronic stressors (31). The lack of coping resources, especially psychosocial resources, such as social support, will further lead to adverse effects on individuals with low objective SES (32). In addition, psychosocial resources can operate through cognitive and emotional states, such as self-efficacy and self-control, which

TABLE 3   The odd ratios of socioeconomic status for dependency by logistic
regression model.

Variables	Dependency status				
	OR	95%	% CI	P-value	
Socioeconomic status (High/Low)	1.84	1.07	3.18	0.028	
EPQ score	1.14	1.11	1.17	< 0.001	
GDS-15 (High/Low)	0.29	0.17	0.51	< 0.001	
Regular physical examination (No/Yes)	0.46	0.26	0.83	0.010	
Age (60–69/≥70)	1.45	0.87	2.42	0.154	
Gender (Male/Female)	1.42	0.84	2.38	0.188	
Marital status (Non-married/Married)	0.99	0.56	1.79	0.993	
Chronic disease status (No/Yes)	1.17	0.67	2.05	0.584	
Social support (High/Low)	1.19	0.71	2.00	0.518	
Timely treatment (No/Yes)	2.08	0.84	5.18	0.115	
Regular follow-up (No/Yes)	0.93	0.58	1.50	0.755	
DASC-21 score	1.01	0.98	1.05	0.442	

EPQ, Eysenck Personality Questionnaire; GDS, Geriatric Depression Scale; DASC-21, Dementia Assessment Sheet for Community-based Integrated Care System 21-items.

**TABLE 4** | The mean and standard error for dependency scores in different groups of SES and SSS by the analysis of covariance.

Variable categories				
	n	Mean	SE	P-value
Socioeconomic state	us-subjective s	social status		
High-high	83	35.62	1.03	
Low-high	71	37.84	1.13	0.160
High-low	40	39.19	1.52	0.048
Low-low	77	39.29	1.07	0.017
	P for trend	0.005		

Adjusted for gender, marital status, chronic disease status, 2-week prevalence, alcohol use, mobile use, DASC-21 points, living spaces and EPQ. SES, Socioeconomic Status; SSS, Subjective Social Status; DASC-21, Dementia Assessment Sheet for Communitybased Integrated Care System 21-items; EPQ, Eysenck Personality Questionnaire.

are inherently related to DPD (33). Social support has a protective effect on the dependency of the elderly with low levels of objective SES. Research shows that people with larger social networks are also more likely to have an active lifestyle and a better state of health. However, previous research has pointed out that the elderly in a community environment may improve positive connections with other people to reduce loneliness and increase security, which may lead to further dependency. Additional research is needed to determine the dividing point between adaptive and maladaptive dependency in the future.

The association between SES and DPD was also observed by using subjective measurement tools. Regardless of the objective SES, subjective SES has a stable association with DPD. The analysis of association between DPD and different groups of SES showed that those individuals with low objective SES and low subjective SES had the highest DPD scores. Moreover, participants with high levels of objective SES and high perceived social status had the lowest DPD scores. For those individuals with high subjective SES, no statistical significance exists between objective SES and DPD. These results suggest that subjective perceptions of SES have a stronger effect on DPD than objective measurements, and a high perceived social status can reduce the risk of DPD.

Among individuals with high subjective SES, we found that they can be characterized by better self-perceived health, better perceived financial status, and higher self-efficacy compared with their peers (results not shown), resulting in positive evaluation and higher self-satisfaction. Senectitude is a special period of life, and previous achievements and status are no longer important in this period (34). A study reported that well-adjusted elderly people are more resilient in suffering from objective status forfeiture compared with middle-aged adults (35). These individuals are able to accept positive or negative lives and have higher adaptive flexibility in coping with age-related losses and restrictions, achieving the balance between dependency and autonomy. These elderly people who are emotionally adaptive tend to have a low level of dependency. Based on the psychosocial hypothesis, psychological stress is related to adverse perception, which is detrimental to health (36). We can interpret this hypothesis as follows: the elderly people with high subjective SES can reduce DPD through the positive perception of objective conditions, which protects their mental health.

Subjective SES has a stronger correlation with DPD than objective SES, that is, subjective SES can be regarded as the "cognitive average," which includes the evaluation of education and socioeconomic factors obtained in the past and future development prospects (37). Subjective SES not only evaluates previously obtained traditional measurements, such as education, income, and occupation status, but also assesses the selfperceived esteem and social capital from others (38). Evidence suggests that the subjective assessment of SES at the individual level may be a better assessment than any objective SES indicator.

The majority of these studies focus on the association between subjective SES and health. To the best of our knowledge, few studies have explored the association between subjective SES and DPD. We attempt to clarify the association between subjective SES and DPD by the perception of position in the social hierarchy. This perception will generate cognitive and emotional responses that will mediate the detriment of low subjective SES to DPD. Individuals with higher levels of dependency may be more vulnerable to negative emotions. This DPD is operated by the negative emotion and stress mechanism of psychoneurobiology (39). Given the persistent or recurring negative emotions and stress responses caused by perceived low social status, lower subjective SES may lead to higher risks of DPD (40).

The main strength of this study is that we collect comprehensive data so that we not only can explore the variables that captured our interest but also fully adjusted potential risk factors, including cognition, personality, and depression, eliminating their effect on the association between DPD and subjective and objective SES. In addition, we tested the content validity of the objective SES index to further confirm the validity of the scale. Our study also has several limitations. First, the crosssectional research design limits us to determine the causality between the SES and DPD. Thus, the complex and changing trends of behavior factors and the risk of DPD over time cannot be evaluated. Although a significant linear trend exists in the four categories of deterrent SES by using GLM to evaluate the DPD scores, we could not assess precisely the cause and effect between DPD and the levels of SES. In further studies, a longitudinal study design is needed to clarify possible causality. Second, owing to the limitations of the sample size of subjective SES, we still need to verify the mechanism of the association between DPD and subjective SES.

### CONCLUSION

This study determined the association between poor SES and increased risk of DPD, and the results of this work represent preliminary evidence that perceived social status has a stronger association with DPD than objective SES. The effect of subjective SES on DPD is possibly associated with the perception of position in the social hierarchy. However, several questions remain unanswered and represent promising directions for future work. There is abundant room for further progress in determining the pathways of subjective SES and DPD to fully understand the complicated causality and provide targeted support strategies to reduce or delay the dependency of elderly people.

#### DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

The datasets used and/or analysed during the current study are available from the corresponding author on reasonable request.

#### REFERENCES

- Kingston A, Wohland P, Wittenberg R, Robinson L, Brayne C, Matthews FE, et al. Is late-life dependency increasing or not? a comparison of the cognitive function and ageing studies (CFAS). *Lancet.* (2017) 390:1676–84. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(17)31575-1
- Chang AY, Skirbekk VF, Tyrovolas S, Kassebaum NJ, Dieleman JL. Measuring population ageing: an analysis of the global burden of disease study 2017. *Lancet Public Health*. (2019) 4:e159–e67. doi: 10.1016/S2468-2667(19)30019-2
- Fiori K, Consedine N, Magai C. The adaptive and maladaptive faces of dependency in later life: links to physical and psychological health outcomes. *Aging Ment Health.* (2008) 12:700–12. doi: 10.1080/13607860802148863
- Disney KL. Dependent personality disorder: a critical review. *Clin Psychol Rev.* (2013) 33:1184–96. doi: 10.1016/j.cpr.2013.10.001
- Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5<sup>th</sup>Ed. Washington, DC: American Psychiatric Publishing (2013).
- Solomon, K. Learned Helplessness in the Elderly. Occup Ther Ment Health. (1990) 10:31–51. doi: 10.1300/J004v10n03\_02
- Bierhals IO, Meller Fde O, Assunção MC. Dependence for foodrelated activities in the elderly. *Cien Saude Colet.* (2016) 21:1297–308. doi: 10.1590/1413-81232015214.12922015
- Bornstein RF. Illuminating a neglected clinical issue: societal costs of interpersonal dependency and dependent personality disorder. J Clin Psychol. (2012) 68:766–81. doi: 10.1002/jclp.21870
- Lahortiga-Ramos F, Unzueta CR, Zazpe I, Santiago S, Molero P, Sánchez-Villegas A, et al. Self-perceived level of competitiveness, tension and dependency and depression risk in the SUN cohort. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2018) 18:241. doi: 10.1186/s12888-018-1804-x
- Ottenvall Hammar I, Dahlin-Ivanoff S, Wilhelmson K, Eklund K. Self-determination among community-dwelling older persons:

#### ETHICS STATEMENT

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by all participants provided informed consent before participation. The study was approved by the Institutional Review Board at the School of Public Health, Zhejiang University. The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

### **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YP and YL were the principal investigators and involved in the study design, conception, and manuscript preparation. AA, XD, and YC performed data collection and analysis. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

### FUNDING

This study was supported by the Leading Innovative and Entrepreneur Team Introduction Program of Zhejiang (2019R01007) and in part by the Key Laboratory of Intelligent Preventive Medicine of Zhejiang Province (2020E10004).

## ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

We thank Xia Gao, Songsong Han, Dongbin Hu, and Xuanting Liu for their assistance with survey setup.

explanatory factors. Scand J Occup Ther. (2016) 23:198–206. doi: 10.3109/11038128.2015.1126348

- Bonneuil N, Kim Y. Socio-economic and health determinants of transitions to adult dependency in South Korea, 2008-2014. *Public Health.* (2019) 173:130– 7. doi: 10.1016/j.puhe.2019.05.010
- Goldman N, Cornman JC, Chang MC. Measuring subjective social status: a case study of older Taiwanese. J Cross Cult Gerontol. (2006) 21:71–89. doi: 10.1007/s10823-006-9020-4
- Charonis A, Kyriopoulos II, Spanakis M, Zavras D, Athanasakis K, Pavi E, et al. Subjective social status, social network and health disparities: empirical evidence from Greece. *Int J Equity Health.* (2017) 16:40. doi: 10.1186/s12939-017-0533-y
- Präg P, Mills MC, Wittek R. Subjective socioeconomic status and health in cross-national comparison. *Soc Sci Med.* (2016) 149:84–92. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2015.11.044
- Amemiya A, Kondo N, Saito J, Saito M, Takagi D, Haseda M, et al. Socioeconomic status and improvement in functional ability among older adults in Japan: a longitudinal study. *BMC Public Health.* (2019) 19:209. doi: 10.1186/s12889-019-6531-9
- Hoebel J, Maske UE, Zeeb H, Lampert T. Social inequalities and depressive symptoms in adults: the role of objective and subjective socioeconomic status. *PLoS ONE*. (2017) 12:e0169764. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0169764
- Adler NE, Stewart J. *The MacArthur Scale of Subjective Social Status*. (2007). Available online at: http://www.macses.ucsf.edu/research/psychosocial/ subjective.php (accessed June 4, 2014).
- Demakakos P, Nazroo J, Breeze E, Marmot M. Socioeconomic status and health: the role of subjective social status. *Soc Sci Med.* (2008) 67:330–40. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2008.03.038
- Adler NE, Epel ES, Castellazzo G, Ickovics JR. Relationship of subjective and objective social status with psychological and physiological functioning:

preliminary data in healthy white women. *Health Psychol.* (2000) 19:586–92. doi: 10.1037/0278-6133.19.6.586

- Chen B, Covinsky KE, Stijacic Cenzer I, Adler N, Williams BA. Subjective social status and functional decline in older adults. J Gen Intern Med. (2012) 27:693–9. doi: 10.1007/s11606-011-1963-7
- Euteneuer F. Subjective social status and health. Curr Opin Psychiatry. (2014) 27:337–43. doi: 10.1097/YCO.0000000000083
- 22. Sternberg RJ. Psicologia Cognitive. Porto Alegre: Artmed (2000).
- Yu-Ning C, Shu-Qiao Y, Liang-Wei X. Validity and reliability of the Chinese version of the Subjective Socioeconomic Status Scale in a general adult population. *Chinese Ment Health J.* (2014) 28:869–74. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-6729.2014.11.013
- 24. Cundiff JM, Smith TW, Uchino BN, Berg CA. Subjective social status: construct validity and associations with psychosocial vulnerability and self-rated health. *Int J Behav Med.* (2013) 20:148–58. doi: 10.1007/s12529-011-9206-1
- Chen Y, Cui P, Pan Y, Li Y. Use of the dementia assessment sheet for community-based integrated care system 21 items among Chinese community-dwelling older adults. *Geriatr Gerontol Int.* (2021) 21:705–11. doi: 10.1111/ggi.14215
- Adler NE, Ostrove JM. Socioeconomic status and health: what we know and what we don't. Ann N Y Acad Sci. (1999) 896:3–15. doi: 10.1111/j.1749-6632.1999.tb08101.x
- Seeman M, Stein Merkin S, Karlamangla A, Koretz B, Seeman T. Social status and biological dysregulation: the "status syndrome" and allostatic load. *Soc Sci Med.* (2014) 118:143–51. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.08.002
- Jonsson M, Ljungman P, Härkönen J, Van Nieuwenhuizen B, Møller S, Ringh M, et al. Relationship between socioeconomic status and incidence of out-of-hospital cardiac arrest is dependent on age. J Epidemiol Community Health. (2020) 74:726–31. doi: 10.1136/jech-2019-2 13296
- Bonavigo T, Sandhu S, Pascolo-Fabrici E, Priebe S. What does dependency on community mental health services mean? a conceptual review with a systematic search. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2016) 51:561–74. doi: 10.1007/s00127-016-1180-0
- Gallo LC, Fortmann AL, Roesch SC, Barrett-Connor E, Elder JP, de los Monteros KE, et al. Socioeconomic status, psychosocial resources and risk, and cardiometabolic risk in Mexican-American women. *Health Psychol.* (2012) 31:334–42. doi: 10.1037/a0025689
- Adler NE, Boyce T, Chesney MA, Cohen S, Folkman S, Kahn RL, et al. Socioeconomic status and health. the challenge of the gradient. *Am Psychol.* (1994) 49:15–24. doi: 10.1037/0003-066X.49.1.15
- 32. Gallo LC, Matthews KA. Understanding the association between socioeconomic status and physical health: do negative emotions play a role? *Psychol Bull.* (2003) 129:10–51. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.129.1.10

- Burke KE, Schnittger R, O'Dea B, Buckley V, Wherton JP, Lawlor BA. Factors associated with perceived health in older adult Irish population. *Aging Ment Health.* (2012) 16:288–95. doi: 10.1080/13607863.2011.628976
- Weiss D, Kunzmann U. Longitudinal changes in subjective social status are linked to changes in positive and negative affect in midlife, but not in later adulthood. *Psychol Aging*. (2020) 35:937–47. doi: 10.1037/pag0000572
- 35. Heckhausen J, Wrosch C, Schulz R. A motivational theory of life-span development. *Psychol Rev.* (2010) 117:32–60. doi: 10.1037/a0017668
- 36. Macleod J, Davey Smith G, Metcalfe C, Hart C. Is subjective social status a more important determinant of health than objective social status? evidence from a prospective observational study of Scottish men. *Soc Sci Med.* (2005) 61:1916–29. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2005.04.009
- Singh-Manoux A, Marmot MG, Adler NE. Does subjective social status predict health and change in health status better than objective status? *Psychosom Med.* (2005) 67:855–61. doi: 10.1097/01.psy.0000188434.52941.a0
- Kwong E, Kwok TTY, Sumerlin TS, Goggins WB, Leung J, Kim JH. Does subjective social status predict depressive symptoms in Chinese elderly? a longitudinal study from Hong Kong. J Epidemiol Community Health. (2020) 74:882–91. doi: 10.1136/jech-2019-212451
- Bornstein RF, Geiselman KJ, Eisenhart EA, Languirand MA. Construct validity of the Relationship Profile Test: links with attachment, identity, relatedness, and affect. Assessment. (2002) 9:373–81. doi: 10.1177/1073191102238195
- Hoebel J, Lampert T. Subjective social status and health: multidisciplinary explanations and methodological challenges. *J Health Psychol.* (2020) 25:173– 85. doi: 10.1177/1359105318800804

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Pan, Aierken, Ding, Chen and Li. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.



# Association of Dietary Inflammatory Index With Depression and Suicidal Ideation in Older Adult: Results From the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys 2005–2018

#### Yingqi Xiao1 and Wei Huang2\*

<sup>1</sup> Department of Pulmonary and Critical Care Medicine, Dongguan Tungwah Hospital, Dongguan, China, <sup>2</sup> Department of Spine Surgery, Dongguan Tungwah Hospital, Dongguan, China

## OPEN ACCESS

#### Edited by:

Wuxiang Xie, Peking University, China

#### Reviewed by:

Guixiong Zhang, The First Affiliated Hospital of Sun Yat-sen University, China Zhiri Tang, City University of Hong Kong, Hong Kong SAR, China Haosheng Wang, Second Affiliated Hospital of Jilin University, China

#### \*Correspondence:

Wei Huang dhyyhuangwei@outlook.com

#### Specialty section:

This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

Received: 14 May 2022 Accepted: 09 June 2022 Published: 05 July 2022

#### Citation:

Xiao Y and Huang W (2022) Association of Dietary Inflammatory Index With Depression and Suicidal Ideation in Older Adult: Results From the National Health and Nutrition Examination Surveys 2005–2018. Front. Psychiatry 13:944154. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.944154 **Background:** The relationship between diet and psychological disorders in older adults has attracted considerable attention as the global trend of aging. This study examines the relationship between Dietary inflammatory index (DII) and the risk of depression and suicide in older adults using the National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) as a large cross-sectional study.

**Methods:** The data were extracted from NHANES from 2005 to 2018, and crosssectional studies were conducted on older adults (age  $\geq$  60 years). According to their median DII, participants were classified into High-DII (DII  $\geq$  1.23) and Low-DII (DII < 1.23) groups. Depression was the primary outcome, and suicidal ideation was a secondary outcome. Utilizing multi-factor logistic regression to correlate DII with outcomes.

**Results:** There were 10,956 elderly participants included in the analysis. In comparison to Low-DII group, High-DII group exhibited a higher rate of depression (8.9% vs. 6.7%; P < 0.001) and higher ideation to commit suicide (3.7% vs. 3.0%; P = 0.039). Moreover, in terms of gender ratio, men accounted for 44% of the High-DII group, which was significantly lower than 56.2% of the Low-DII group (P < 0.001). Furthermore, logistic regression revealed that High-DII group had a higher risk of depression in the previous 2 weeks (OR = 1.358, 95% CI: 1.180–1.564; P < 0.001) and a higher risk of suicidal ideation (OR = 1.244, 95% CI: 1.010–1.532; P = 0.040). Additionally, after adjusting for demographic covariates such as age, gender and race, High-DII group still had a higher risk of depression (OR = 1.293, 95% CI: 1.121–1.493; P < 0.001) and suicidal ideation (OR = 1.261, 95% CI: 1.021–1.55; P = 0.031). Furthermore, after adjusting for various covariates like demographic, social factors, and comorbidities, the High-DII group remained at higher risk for depression (OR = 1.178, 95% CI: 1.019–1.363; P = 0.027), and the risk of comorbid suicidal ideation remained high (OR = 1.136, 95% CI: 0.917–1.408), but the difference was not significant (P = 0.243).

**Conclusion:** In older adults, high levels of DII are associated with depression and suicidal ideation. Multiple factors affect the mental health of older adults, and it is unknown to what extent a pro-inflammatory diet contributes to depression and suicidal thoughts in older adults. Nonetheless, daily dietary management in older adults should be emphasized.

Keywords: Dietary inflammatory index, depression, suicide ideation, older adults, NHANES

# INTRODUCTION

The mental health of the elderly is gradually becoming a critical global public health issue as the global aging trend develops. As of 2013, nearly 10% of the world's population (approximately 615 million) suffers from a psychiatric disorder, with more than 20% of the older population over the age of 60 suffering from a psychiatric disorder, of which depression is one of the most common (1). Many factors, including widowhood, living alone, reduced intergenerational communication, declining physical function, and various chronic diseases, are increasing the elderly's mental health risks, seriously impacting their daily lives, and lowering their quality of life in their later years (2, 3). The most frequent mental illness in the elderly is depression (4). Research conducted in Germany (5). According to a populationbased survey, it is reported that 28.7% of older adults had depressive symptoms, among them, 6.6% were severe depression, and the older the person, the higher the prevalence of depressive symptoms. Another study (6) conducted in Greece found that 34.4% of older adults had impaired cognitive functions, and 32.3% experienced depressive symptoms. In addition, a large cross-sectional study (7) from China indicated that the prevalence of somatic symptom disorders in older adults was 63.2%, significantly higher than in the non-elderly population (45.3%); similarly, the risk of depression or anxiety was 3.7 times that of the general population. Furthermore, patients with chronic depressive symptoms are prone to suicidal thoughts, with up to 15% of depressed patients reportedly preferring suicide ideation (8).

There is research evidence that depression is significantly associated with chronic systemic inflammation (9). Chronic inflammation can mediate a permanent reorganization of inflammatory neurotransmitter pathways, resulting in the transition from acute to chronic pain and promoting depression, anxiety, and sleep disturbances (10–12). The association between diet and chronic systemic inflammation is quite close, and an inappropriate dietary structure or pattern is a significant source of chronic systemic inflammation in the organism (13). Dietary inflammatory index (DII) is a novel tool for assessing the subversive potential of the diet and the amount of pro-inflammatory food components in an individual's dietary composition (14). DII is strongly associated with mental illness, compared to controls, patients with schizophrenia appeared to have higher DII scores (1.99  $\pm$  1.39 vs. 1.60  $\pm$  1.38; P = 0.009),

and each unit increase in DII score was associated with a 62% increase in the odds of developing schizophrenia (OR = 1.62; 95% CI 1.17–2.26) (14). Chronic systemic inflammation can significantly increase with high levels of DII (15). Several studies (16, 17) have found that pro-inflammatory dietary patterns are significantly associated with an elevated risk of depression in adults, as high levels of DII increase the risk of depressive symptoms. Nonetheless, these studies have been limited to specialized populations, like medical personnel. However, these were only single-center studies on specific people, such as medical personnel (18). Furthermore, the relationship between suicide and DII has not been clarified.

There is a scarcity of direct and robust evidence between DII to an increased risk of depression and suicide in the elderly population. Data from large-scale demographic surveys are still required, given the potential economic burden and adverse effects of psychological disorders in older adults on an individual and societal level and the guiding significance of a rational daily dietary pattern. It is essential to investigate the relationship between psychological disorders and nutritional habits in the elderly, emphasizing daily dietary interventions.

#### MATERIALS AND METHODS

#### **Included Population**

The National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey (NHANES) is a cross-sectional survey conducted by the National Center for Health Statistics and the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention, utilizing data from a nationally representative sample of the U.S. civilian population. This study's dataset was constructed using NHANES public data files from 2005 to 2018, and the study population comprised all NHANES respondents.

# Dietary Inflammatory Index Evaluation and Grouping

The key exposure variable in this study was DII, and the types and amounts of food and beverages consumed by the participants in 24 h were extracted. As documented in the literature (19), DII was calculated and briefly explained as follows: DII for each nutrient or dietary ingredient = [(daily intake of that nutrient or dietary ingredient - global per capita daily intake of that nutrient or dietary ingredient)/that nutrient or dietary ingredient Standard deviation of global per capita daily intake] × inflammatory effect index of that nutrient or dietary ingredient, and the sum of DII of each nutrient or dietary ingredient was the total DII score of individual study subjects (see **Supplementary Table 1** for specific

**Abbreviations:** DII, dietary inflammatory index; NHANES, National Health and Nutrition Examination Survey; PHQ-9, patient health questionnaire-9; BMI, body mass index.

nutrients and their inflammation indexes). According to the median DII of all included subjects, the participating population was classified into a High-DII group (DII  $\geq$  median) and a Low-DII group (DII < median).

#### **Outcomes**

This study's primary outcome was depression. NHANES questionnaire yielded Patient Health Questionnaire-9 (PHQ-9) data. They consisted of nine clinical depression symptom items for the past 2 weeks, with scores ranging from zero to three for each item, with zero indicating no symptoms during the period, one suggesting a few days of symptoms, two showing more than half of the days with symptoms, and three describing symptoms almost every day. The cumulative PHQ-9 score was used to determine the presence and severity of clinical depressive symptoms in the previous 2 weeks. According to prior studies (20), when the total PHQ-9 score = 10, there was good sensitivity and specificity for major depression. Therefore, the study participant population with PHQ-9 < 10 was considered non-depressed patients and PHQ-9  $\geq$  10 as depressed patients.

Even though the proportion of elderly suicides is relatively low compared to depressive symptoms, it is important to focus on the study of suicidal ideation in the elderly, considering that suicide is mainly secondary to severe depressive symptoms and the heavy burden on society. Consequently, suicidal ideations were chosen as the secondary outcome in this study, and item nine of the PHQ-9 (Scoring rules are in **Supplementary Table 2**) explicitly asked respondents if they had had suicidal thoughts in the past 2 weeks, which was demonstrated to be a valid predictor of future attempted or completed suicide (21).

## **Covariates**

Covariates were chosen to influence depression-related factors that have previously been reported. Age, gender, and race, for example, were included as demographic characteristics. Social factors include education level, marital status, household income up to the poverty level, health insurance coverage, and data on everyday health-related behaviors such as smoking and alcohol consumption. In addition, medical comorbidity variables such as Body mass index (BMI), diabetes, and cancer were collected.

# **Data Analysis**

Quantitative data were examined using the *t*-test or Analysis of Variance, and data for categorical variables were analyzed using the  $\chi 2$  test for differences in cohort characteristics between exposure groups. The preliminary analysis employed multifactor logistic regression to determine the relationship between the exposure group and the outcome variable. All descriptive studies were assessed for significance using two-sided tests at the P < 0.05 level of energy. Eventually, a Generalized additive model was employed to test for non-linear relationships between the outcome variables and exposure factors. All data analyses were

performed utilizing Empower Stats software<sup>1</sup> (X&Y solutions, Inc., Boston MA, United States) and R.3.5.2.<sup>2</sup>

# RESULTS

First, initial survey data were obtained from 70,190 participants. After eliminating individuals who lacked outcome, exposure, or covariate data (with the exceptions noted above), the analysis included 10,956 older participants (**Figure 1**).

# Essential Characteristics of Participants in High-Dietary Inflammatory Index and Low-Dietary Inflammatory Index Groups

All elderly subjects' median DII was calculated to be 1.23. As a result, the subjects were classified into the High-DII group (DII  $\geq$  1.23) and Low-DII group (DII < 1.23), with 5,478 participants in each group. Table 1 depicts the distribution of cohort characteristics stratified by DII level. In the preliminary analysis, the average age of participants in the High DII group was (70.0  $\pm$  7.0) years, whereas the average age of participants in the Low-DII group was (69.9  $\pm$  7.0) years. There was no statistically significant difference between the groups (P > 0.05). Furthermore, regarding gender ratio, males accounted for 44% of the High-DII group, significantly lower than 56.2% of the Low-DII group (P < 0.001), indicating that men tend to have a lower DII. Similarly, in terms of social factors, the High-DII group had a higher proportion ratio of family income to poverty  $\leq$  2.9," "Married or living with a partner," and "Never married" compared to the Low-DII group (P < 0.05). Furthermore, the differences in BMI, hypertension, diabetes and tumor history were statistically significant (P < 0.05).

<sup>1</sup>www.empowerstats.com <sup>2</sup>http://www.R-project.org



TABLE 1   Characteristics of participants enrolled in the study from the
NHANES (2005 to 2018).

Characteristic	Low-DII (DII < 1.23, <i>N</i> = 5,478)	High-DII (DII ≥ 1.23, N = 5,478)	P-value
Age (y)	69.9 ± 7.0	$70.0 \pm 7.0$	0.587
Male sex	3080 (56.2)	2413 (44.0)	< 0.001
Race			< 0.001
Hispanic	3353 (61.2)	3183 (58.1)	
Non-Hispanic white	707 (12.9)	682 (12.4)	
Non-Hispanic black	928 (16.9)	1288 (23.5)	
Other	490 (8.9)	325 (5.9)	
Education beyond high school	4100 (74.8)	3603 (65.8)	< 0.001
Marital status			< 0.001
Never married	253 (4.6)	282 (5.1)	
Married or living with partner	3405 (62.2)	3006 (54.9)	
Divorced, separated, or widowed	1820 (33.2)	2190 (40.0)	
Ratio of family income to poverty level			<0.001
<1.0	1229 (22.4)	1490 (27.2)	
1.0~2.9	2200 (40.2)	2523 (46.1)	
≥3	2049 (37.4)	1465 (26.7)	
Health insurance coverage	5099 (93.1)	4987 (91.0)	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m2)			< 0.001
<25	1517 (27.7)	1322 (24.1)	
25~29	2004 (36.6)	1938 (35.4)	
≥30	1957 (35.7)	2218 (40.5)	
eGFR, ml/min per 1.73 m <sup>2</sup>	$75.0\pm18.4$	$74.5\pm19.0$	0.120
ALT (U/L)	$23.0\pm16.1$	$21.6\pm13.7$	< 0.001
AST (U/L)	$25.4\pm12.0$	$24.9\pm12.0$	0.038
HbA1c	$6.0 \pm 1.1$	$6.1 \pm 1.2$	< 0.001
Alcohol user	3250 (59.3)	2643 (48.2)	< 0.001
Smoker	2811 (51.3)	2830 (51.7)	0.716
Hypertension	3769 (68.8)	4061 (74.1)	< 0.001
Cancer	1150 (21.0)	1049 (19.1)	0.016
Diabetes	1756 (32.1)	1987 (36.3)	< 0.001
Suicidal ideation	166 (3.0)	205 (3.7)	0.039
Depressed	367 (6.7)	487 (8.9)	< 0.001

All values are displayed as n (%).  $\chi^2$  analysis is used to test significance between groups for categorical variables. BMI, body mass index; eGFR, estimated glomerular filtration rate; HbA1c, glycosylated Hemoglobin, type A1C; ALT, alanine aminotransferase; AST, aspartate aminotransferase.

## The Relationship Between Dietary Inflammatory Index and Depression and Suicidal Ideation

Both Depression and Suicidal Ideation Were Higher in the High-Dietary Inflammatory Index Group Than in the Low-Dietary Inflammatory Index Group Participants

The High-DII group had 487 (8.9%) participants with comorbid depression and 205 (3.7%) with comorbid suicidal ideation, while the Low-DII group had 367 (6.7%) participants with comorbid depression and 166 (3.0%) with comorbid suicidal ideation. Therefore, depression and suicidal ideation were higher in the

High-DII group than in the Low-DII group, and the differences were statistically significant (P < 0.05).

# Dietary Inflammatory Index Is a Sole Risk Factor for Depression and Suicidal Ideation

As indicated in **Table 2**, in an unadjusted multivariate logistic regression analysis, high DII was an independent risk factor for depression (OR = 1.358, 95% CI: 1.180–1.564; P < 0.001) and suicidal ideation (OR = 1.244, 95% CI: 1.010–1.532; P = 0.040) in the previous 2 weeks. After adjusting for demographic covariates like age, sex, and race, high DII was still associated with a higher risk of depression (OR = 1.293, 95% CI: 1.121–1.493; P < 0.001) and suicidal ideation (OR = 1.261, 95% CI: 1.021–1.55; P = 0.031). In addition, after adjusting for various covariates like demographic, social factors, and comorbidities, high DII remained an independent risk factor for depression (OR = 1.178, 95% CI: 1.019–1.363; P = 0.027). However, it was not a risk factor for suicidal ideation (OR = 1.136, 95% CI: 0.917–1.408; P = 0.243).

Moreover, subgroup logistic regression analyses by gender revealed that women with high DII were more likely to have comorbid suicidal ideation (OR = 1.355, 95% CI: 1.004–1.829; P = 0.047), while men were not (**Table 3**).

#### Dose-Response Relationship Between Dietary Inflammatory Index and the Risk of Depression and Suicide in the Elderly

**Figure 2** depicts the dose-response relationship between DII and outcome indicators. DII was positively associated with the risk of depressive symptoms, and the overall risk of depression in older adults tended to increase progressively with increasing DII (**Figure 2A**). Similarly, the relationship between DII and the risk of comorbid suicidal ideation also increased progressively with DII levels (**Figure 2B**).

## DISCUSSION

Using a nationally representative cross-sectional study of older adults, this study demonstrated a significant relationship between high levels of DII and depression in older adults

TABLE 2   Multi-factor logistic regression analysis for associations DII
high-level and outcomes.

	Depressed	I	Suicidal ideation		
DII high-level	OR (95% CI)	P-value	OR (95% CI)	P-value	
Un- adjusted	1.358 (1.180–1.564)	< 0.001	1.244 (1.010–1.532)	0.040	
Model 1	1.293 (1.121–1.493)	< 0.001	1.261 (1.021–1.557)	0.031	
Model 2	1.191 (1.030–1.377)	0.018	1.182 (0.955–1.462)	0.124	
Model 3	1.178 (1.019–1.363)	0.027	1.136 (0.917–1.408)	0.243	

Model 1 was adjusted for age, sex, and race.

Model 2 was adjusted for age, sex, race, education level, marital status, ratio of family income to poverty level, and health insurance coverage.

Model 3 was adjusted for age, sex, race, education level, marital status, family income to poverty level, health insurance coverage, BMI, smoker, alcohol user, hypertension, cancer, and diabetes.

TABLE 3	Subgroup multi-factor logisti	c regression analysis for the association b	between DII high-level and outcomes.

		Depressed			Suicidal ideatio	n
	OR (95%CI)	P-value	Interaction P-value	OR (95%CI)	P-value	Interaction P-value
Sex			0.374			0.409
Female	1.219 (1.013–1.467)	0.036		1.355 (1.004–1.829)	0.047	
Male	1.399 (1.123–1.744)	0.003		1.135 (0.843–1.527)	0.403	
BMI			0.306			0.237
<25	1.372 (1.022-1.842)	0.035		1.316 (0.872–1.987)	0.192	
25~29	1.549 (1.189–2.020)	0.001		1.520 (1.058–2.184)	0.023	
≥30	1.196 (0.976–1.466)	0.084		1.007 (0.728–1.393)	0.967	
Alcohol user			0.277			0.558
Yes	1.145 (1.147–1.747)	0.001		1.283 (0.945–1.743)	0.110	
No	1.028 (0.998–1.463)	0.053		1.132 (0.851–1.507)	0.394	
Smoker			0.606			0.410
Yes	1.315 (1.092–1.585)	0.004		1.160 (0.889–1.512)	0.274	
No	1.418 (1.142–1.760)	0.002		1.389 (0.991–1.946)	0.057	
Hypertension			0.833			0.217
Yes	1.328 (1.130-1.562)	< 0.001		1.143 (0.898–1.455)	0.278	
No	1.376 (1.031–1.838)	0.030		1.542 (1.022–2.327)	0.039	
Cancer			0.421			0.786
Yes	1.530 (1.105–2.118)	0.010		1.184 (0.767–1.828)	0.445	
No	1.319 (1.128–1.543)	< 0.001		1.268 (1.000-1.608)	0.050	
Diabetes			0.878			0.599
Yes	1.343 (1.088–1.657)	0.006		1.306 (0.946–1.803)	0.104	
No	1.313 (1.084–1.590)	0.005		1.166 (0.887–1.534)	0.271	



glucocorticoid user, hypertension, cancer, and diabetes).

and a relationship with suicidal ideation in the past 2 weeks.

These outcomes are consistent with earlier studies (16) on the relationship between diet and depression; a high intake of proinflammatory foods significantly increases the risk of depressive symptoms. Those at the highest risk for depression had significantly lower consumption of meat, fish, and eggs, higher consumption of added sugars, and relatively lower consumption of fruits, vegetables, and fiber (16, 18). Furthermore, a study of medical personnel (18) found a significant positive correlation between high PHQ-9 scores and high DII levels when gender, psychiatric diagnosis, physical activity, and mental exercise were all taken into account (P < 0.01). Another study (22) of residential female undergraduates discovered that higher DII was significantly associated with an increased likelihood of stress symptoms (OR = 1.41, 95% CI: 1.12–1.77; P = 0.003) and anxiety symptoms (OR = 1.35, 95% CI: 1.07–1.69; P = 0.01). The relationship between dietary patterns and depression remains significant, and strong epidemiological evidence proposes that poor diet may hurt mental health disorders (23). However, after adjusting for marriage, education, and family poverty to income ratios, the significance of DII concerning the risk of suicide in older patients decreased significantly. Diet may have a lesser impact on suicidal ideation than social factors. Indeed, according to earlier surveys, unhappy marriages, inadequate education, and economic poverty are significant social factors contributing to older adults' suicide (24, 25).

Furthermore, our gender stratification results indicate that both men and women in the High-DII group are at higher risk of developing depression than those in the Low-DII group. Women with high DII are more likely to experience suicidal ideation. The differential results for suicidal ideation may be driven primarily by the female population. Although women generally have lower rates of committing suicide than men, they have higher suicidal ideation and attempt rates, especially in women over the age of 75 (26). This could be related to the unstable nature of the female elderly, who are emotional in situations and have weak resistance to stress and a relative lack of social support. When confronted with unexpected situations, they are more prone to depression and anxiety symptoms (27, 28).

In short, the relationship between diet and mental health is complicated. Even though our observational studies reveal that high levels of DII may be related to depressive mood and suicidal ideation, there are many biological, psychological and social factors involved. As the global trend of population aging develops, numerous aspects of demographic changes increase socioeconomic pressures, and declining somatic functionality further complicates the discussion linked to mental health in the elderly population. The previous study has focused on the association between social factors and mental health in older adults.

However, there are some limitations of the present work. First, it is difficult to elaborate on the causal relationship between an inflammatory diet and depression/suicide in the present crosssectional study. Because the NHANES study collected data at a single time point, nutritional data were recorded only once for all participants, and PHQ-9 scores, as well as suicidal ideation questionnaires, were measured only once, which resulted in some possible bias in DII scores and PHQ-9 scores. In addition, this study may also have overlooked some relevant factors that influence depression/suicidal ideation in older adults, such as the presence of major life changes, chronic pain, family atmosphere, etc. Therefore, in the future, we need to conduct a multicenter longitudinal clinical trial to confirm our findings, dynamically assess changes in each of the factors that may influence depression/suicidal ideation in older adults, and conduct a long follow-up to investigate how inflammatory diet specifically affects the onset and progression of depression in older adults.

Nonetheless, studies of dietary patterns and cognitive problems in older adults are scarce and primarily single-centered with small sample sizes. As our understanding of the factors

#### REFERENCES

 Liu W, Han G, Yan X, Zhang X, Ning G, Akhmedov A, et al. The impact of mental health status on health consumption of the elderly in China. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2021) 18:6622. doi: 10.3390/ijerph181 26622 influencing mental health in the elderly population improves, we should carefully evaluate dietary patterns' long-term benefits and harms to mental disease in future studies and develop appropriate nutritional patterns for the elderly.

# CONCLUSION

By analyzing a nationally representative sample, we discovered that high levels of DII were related to moderate to severe clinical depression and suicidal ideation in older adults. This relationship is complicated, and further studies are required to understand it fully. However, the extent to which a pro-inflammatory diet leads to significant depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation is complicated and requires further research to demonstrate this relationship.

## DATA AVAILABILITY STATEMENT

Publicly available datasets were analyzed in this study. This data can be found here: https://www.cdc.gov/nchs/nhanes/index.htm.

## **ETHICS STATEMENT**

Before being interviewed or examined, all survey participants provided informed consent, and the NCHS Ethics Review Board approved the data collection protocol.

## **AUTHOR CONTRIBUTIONS**

YX and WH carried out the acquisition and interpretation of data and was the major contributor to drafting the manuscript and participated in drawing tables and diagrams. YX carried out the clinical data collection and analysis. WH contributed to the ideas of the article and reviewed the manuscript. Both authors provided final approval for publishing the manuscript.

## SUPPLEMENTARY MATERIAL

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/fpsyt. 2022.944154/full#supplementary-material

Supplementary Table 1 | Forty five nutrients included in DII calculation.

Supplementary Table 2 | PHQ-9 score.

- Xie Y, Ma M, Wu W, Zhang Y, Zhang Y, Tan X. Dose-response relationship between intergenerational contact frequency and depressive symptoms amongst elderly Chinese parents: a cross-sectional study. *BMC Geriatrics*. (2020) 20:349. doi: 10.1186/s12877-020-01751-0
- 3. Yadav U, Thapa T, Mistry S, Pokhrel R, Harris M. Socio-demographic characteristics, lifestyle factors, multi-morbid conditions, and depressive

symptoms among Nepalese older adults. *BMC Psychiatry.* (2020) 20:261. doi: 10.1186/s12888-020-02680-3

- 4. Alexopoulos G. Depression in the elderly. Lancet. (2005) 365:1961-70.
- Glaesmer H, Riedel-Heller S, Braehler E, Spangenberg L, Luppa M. Ageand gender-specific prevalence and risk factors for depressive symptoms in the elderly: a population-based study. *Int Psychogeriatr.* (2011) 23:1294–300. doi: 10.1017/S1041610211000780
- Mantzorou M, Vadikolias K, Pavlidou E, Serdari A, Vasios G, Tryfonos C, et al. Nutritional status is associated with the degree of cognitive impairment and depressive symptoms in a Greek elderly population. *Nutr Neurosci.* (2020) 23:201–9. doi: 10.1080/1028415X.2018.1486940
- Wu Y, Tao Z, Qiao Y, Chai Y, Liu Q, Lu Q, et al. Prevalence and characteristics of somatic symptom disorder in the elderly in a community-based population: a large-scale cross-sectional study in China. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2022) 22:257. doi: 10.1186/s12888-022-03907-1
- Lopes R, Meyer B, Berger T, Svacina M. Effectiveness of an internet-based selfguided program to treat depression in a sample of Brazilian users: a study protocol. *Braz J Psychiatry*. (2020) 42:322–8. doi: 10.1590/1516-4446-2019-0582
- Bao C, Lv J, Chen J, Wei G, Liu N, Wang Y, et al. Chronic inflammation as a potential mediator between phthalate exposure and depressive symptoms. *Ecotoxicol Environ Saf.* (2022) 233:113313. doi: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2022.113313
- Hu Y, Niu T, Xu J, Peng L, Sun Q, Huang Y, et al. Negative air ion exposure ameliorates depression-like behaviors induced by chronic mild stress in mice. *Environ Sci Pollut Res Int.* (2022). doi: 10.1007/s11356-022-20144-x [Epub ahead of print].
- Benatti C, Blom J, Rigillo G, Alboni S, Zizzi F, Torta R, et al. Disease-induced neuroinflammation and depression. CNS Neurol Disord Drug Targets. (2016) 15:414–33. doi: 10.2174/1871527315666160321104749
- Shulyak A, Gorpynchenko I, Drannik G, Poroshina T, Savchenko V, Nurimanov K. The effectiveness of the combination of rectal electrostimulation and an antidepressant in the treatment of chronic abacterial prostatitis. *Cent European J Urol.* (2019) 72:66–70. doi: 10.5173/ceju. 2018.1719
- Ahmad TB, Rudd D, Kotiw M, Liu L, Benkendorff K. Correlation between fatty acid profile and anti-inflammatory activity in common Australian seafood by-products. *Marine Drugs*. (2019) 17:155. doi: 10.3390/md17030155
- Jahrami H, Faris MA, Ghazzawi HA, Saif Z, Habib L, Shivappa N, et al. Increased dietary inflammatory index is associated with schizophrenia: results of a case-control study from Bahrain. *Nutrients*. (2019) 11:1867. doi: 10.3390/ nu11081867
- Khan I, Kwon M, Shivappa N, Hébert J, Mi KK. Proinflammatory dietary intake is associated with increased risk of metabolic syndrome and its components: results from the population-based prospective study. *Nutrients*. (2020) 12:1196. doi: 10.3390/nu12041196
- Ljungberg T, Bondza E, Lethin C. Evidence of the importance of dietary habits regarding depressive symptoms and depression. *Int J Environ Res Public Health.* (2020) 17:1616. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17051616
- 17. Popa T, Ladea M. Nutrition and depression at the forefront of progress. *J Med Life*. (2012) 5:414–9.
- Belliveau R, Horton S, Hereford C, Ridpath L, Foster R, Boothe E. Proinflammatory diet and depressive symptoms in the healthcare setting. *BMC Psychiatry*. (2022) 22:125. doi: 10.1186/s12888-022-03771-z

- Shivappa N, Steck SE, Hurley TG, Hussey JR, Hébert JR. Designing and developing a literature-derived, population-based dietary inflammatory index. *Public Health Nutr.* (2014) 17:1689–96. doi: 10.1017/S1368980013002115
- Williams JB, Kroenke K, Spitzer RL. The PHQ-9: validity of a brief depression severity measure. J Gen Intern Med. (2013) 9:606–13. doi: 10.1046/j.1525-1497. 2001.016009606.x
- Rossom RC, Coleman KJ, Ahmedani BK, Beck A, Johnson E, Oliver M, et al. Suicidal ideation reported on the PHQ9 and risk of suicidal behavior across age groups. J Affect Disord. (2017) 215:77–84. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2017.03.037
- Wang XY, Fang AP, Chen PY, Liao GC, Zhang YJ, Shivappa N, et al. High dietary inflammatory index scores are associated with an elevated risk of hepatocellular carcinoma in a case–control study. *Food Funct.* (2018) 9:5832– 42. doi: 10.1039/c8fo01190g
- 23. Ahuja M, Sathiyaseelan T, Wani RJ, Fernandopulle P. Obesity, food insecurity, and depression among females. *Arch Public Health.* (2020) 78:83. doi: 10.1186/s13690-020-00463-6
- Lee J, Lee A, Lee D, Jung HY, Lee SI. Suicidal ideation of the elderly according to their involvement in grandchild care. *Psychiatry Investig.* (2019) 16:625–8. doi: 10.30773/pi.2019.06.06
- 25. Zhu RT, Ma ZY, Jia CX, Zhou L. Completed suicide with violent and non-violent methods by the elderly in rural china: a psychological autopsy study. *Front Psychiatry.* (2021) 12:624398. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2021. 624398
- Vapa D, Radosavkić R, Lakić T, Maletin M, Stojanović I. Analysis of suicides in the province of vojvodina, republic of serbia, during the 2001-2015 perioD. *Acta Clin Croat.* (2022) 60:450–6. doi: 10.20471/acc.2021.60.03.16
- Goodyer IM, Jones PB, Kaur SP, Neufeld SA, Jesmont C, Qiu T, et al. Age and gender effects on non-suicidal self-injury, and their interplay with psychological distress. J Affect Disord. (2022) 306:240–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jad. 2022.03.021
- Otten D, Ernst M, Tibubos AN, Brähler E, Fleischer T, Schomerus G, et al. Does social support prevent suicidal ideation in women and men? Gender-sensitive analyses of an important protective factor within prospective community cohorts. J Affect Disord. (2022) 306:157–66. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2022. 03.031

**Conflict of Interest:** The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

**Publisher's Note:** All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

Copyright © 2022 Xiao and Huang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Wenjie Duan, East China University of Science and Technology, China

REVIEWED BY Xiaomei Zhong, Guangzhou Medical University, China Lin Tian, Nanjing Medical University, China Shunying Yu, Shanghai Jiao Tong University, China

\*CORRESPONDENCE Bao-Liang Zhong haizhilan@gmail.com

<sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 26 July 2022 ACCEPTED 23 August 2022 PUBLISHED 09 September 2022

#### CITATION

Zhu X-M, Xu Y-M, Wang Z-Q and Zhong B-L (2022) Prevalence and correlates of suicidal ideation among older adults attending primary care clinics in Wuhan, China: A multicenter cross-sectional study. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:1003810. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.1003810

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Zhu, Xu, Wang and Zhong. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Prevalence and correlates of suicidal ideation among older adults attending primary care clinics in Wuhan, China: A multicenter cross-sectional study

Xiao-Min Zhu<sup>1†</sup>, Yan-Min Xu<sup>2,3†</sup>, Zong-Qin Wang<sup>2,3†</sup> and Bao-Liang Zhong<sup>2,3\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Suzhou Guangji Hospital, The Affiliated Guangji Hospital of Soochow University, Suzhou, China, <sup>2</sup>Department of Psychiatry, Wuhan Mental Health Center, Wuhan, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Clinical Psychology, Wuhan Hospital for Psychotherapy, Wuhan, China

**Background:** Primary care represents an ideal setting for screening for and managing suicidal older adults but the clinical epidemiology of suicidal ideation in Chinese older primary care patients remains unclear. This study investigated the prevalence and correlates of suicidal ideation in older Chinese adults receiving primary care.

**Methods:** This multicenter cross-sectional survey included a total of 769 older adults ( $\geq$ 65 years) from seven urban and six rural primary care clinics in Wuhan, China. The presence of depressive symptoms and suicidal ideation was assessed with the Geriatric Depression Scale and a single-item question "In the past 12 months, did you think about ending your life?," respectively.

**Results:** The 12-month prevalence of suicidal ideation in older primary care patients was 16.6%. Significant correlates of suicidal ideation were poor economic status (vs. good, OR = 2.80, P = 0.008), heart disease (OR = 2.48, P = 0.005), chronic gastric ulcer (OR = 3.55, P = 0.012), arthritis (OR = 2.10, P = 0.042), and depressive symptoms (OR = 11.29, P < 0.001).

**Conclusions:** Suicidal ideation is common among older adults attending Chinese primary care clinics. It is necessary to integrate psychological crisis intervention into primary care to prevent late-life suicide.

#### KEYWORDS

older adults, primary care, suicidal ideation, cross-sectional survey, China

# Introduction

Despite the declining time-trend in national elderly suicide rates in recent decades, suicide in older adults remains a significant public health concern in China because of its higher elderly suicide rate compared to most major East Asian and Western countries/regions, largest number of older adults in the world, and rapid increase of aging population (1–6). Given the complexity of late-life suicide, a multi sectoral suicide prevention strategy is needed for effective suicide prevention in older adults (7–9).

In Western countries, Hong Kong SAR, and mainland China, as high as 60–80% of the older suicide completers visited their primary care physicians (PCPs) in the preceding month before committing suicide (10–13). Given the wide availability of primary care services and the frequent contacts between PCPs and older adults, primary care represents an ideal setting for screening for and managing suicidal older adults (14–16). Accordingly, one essential component of the national strategies for suicide prevention of most countries in the world, as recommended by the World Health Organization, is to provide and maintain gatekeeper training programs to PCPs to improve their capacity to identify persons who are at-risk of suicide and refer them to mental health specialists when necessary (7).

To facilitate the timely detection, suicide risk assessment, and early initiation of the intervention of suicidal older adults in primary care settings, it is necessary to understand the clinical epidemiology of suicidal behaviors in older primary care patients. Until now, suicidal behaviors, in particular suicidal ideation, have been extensively studied in older primary care adults in Western countries (17–23). These studies assessed the presence of suicidal ideation with various instruments (i.e., suicidality subscale of the Depressive Symptom Inventory and suicidal item of the nine-item Patient Health Questionnaire) and reported a wide range of prevalence estimates (0.7–23.3%) (18, 21, 23). A variety of factors were found to be significantly associated with suicidal ideation in this population, including male sex, living alone, financial strain, family history of suicide, depressive symptoms, pain, and poor physical health (17, 18, 23).

Findings from psychological autopsy studies in both Western countries and China have reported the greater risk of suicide in older adults with physical illnesses (24, 25); for example, congestive heart failure, chronic obstructive lung disease (COPD), seizure disorder, and urinary incontinence are associated with 1.7-, 1.6-, 3.0-, and 2.0-fold increases in odds of suicide in older adults, respectively. However, one significant knowledge gap of the above studies is that few data are available regarding the risk of suicidal behaviors in older primary care patients according to physical conditions, which may help the identification of high-risk subgroups in this physically ill population. In addition, accumulating empirical evidence has shown the important role of social disconnectednessrelated factors in the etiology of later-life suicide, which are potentially modifiable and include lack of close friends, living alone, feelings of loneliness, no trusted friends, insufficient number family relatives, and inadequate social support (12, 26-30). Nevertheless, few prior studies have examined the contributions of these factors to suicidal behaviors in older primary care patients.

Although suicidal ideation is less prevalent in old agegroup than younger age-groups, older adults, once they have suicidal thoughts, are more likely to commit suicide with greater suicidal intention and by using more immediately lethal means (1, 31–34). These data suggest that screening for suicidal ideation is the first essential step toward effective prevention of late-life suicide. However, to the best of our knowledge, few studies have investigated the clinical epidemiology of suicidal ideation in older adults undergoing primary care services in China. This study filled the above-mentioned knowledge gaps by investigating the prevalence of suicidal ideation and its associated factors in older primary care patients in Wuhan, the largest city in Hubei province and the most populous city in Central China (35). Factors to be examined included major medical conditions and some social disconnectedness-related factors.

#### **Methods**

#### Sampling and subjects

Subjects were 791 older adults who were consecutively recruited from 13 district-center public primary care clinics (seven urban and six rural) in Wuhan, 65 years old or over, receiving outpatient treatment at these selected clinics during the survey period from October 2015 to November 2016, and voluntary to participate in this study. Details of the sampling and subject inclusion have been described elsewhere (14, 36–38). Wuhan has 13 districts: seven urban and six rural. Considering the geographic representativeness of the study sample, we purposively selected one primary care clinic from each district, which was located in or nearest to the center of the most populous area of the district.

Prior to the formal study, the survey protocol was approved by the Institutional Review Board of Wuhan Mental Health Center (approval number: WMHC-IRB-S065). All subjects and their guardians (if necessary) provided informed consent before the interview.

#### Procedures and instruments

Trained PCPs collected the questionnaire data *via* faceto-face interviews with the older primary care patients. Demographic factors in the questionnaire included sex, age, educational attainment, marital status, self-rated economic status (good, fair, poor), main occupation engaged in before the older adulthood (physical vs. mental), and current residence place (urban vs. rural).

Lifestyle factors included currently smoking and the habit of regular physical activity (36). We used a checklist to assess the presence of 11 major medical conditions and two sensory impairments: hypertension, diabetes, heart diseases, stroke and other cerebrovascular diseases, COPD, tuberculosis, chronic gastric ulcer, Parkinson's disease, anemia, hepatitis cirrhosis, arthritis, hearing impairment, and vision impairment. Hearing impairment was present if the interviewer must speak more loudly than normal to let the patients know what the interviewer was saying, while vision impairment was present if the patient endorsed having difficulties in watching movies or TV shows (32, 36).

Social disconnectedness-related factors included number of living adult children, the status of living alone, feelings of loneliness, self-rated relationship with family members (good, fair, poor), and self-rated relationship with non-family associates (good, fair, poor). A single-item question was used to assess feelings of loneliness: "How often do you feel lonely?" with five response options: always, often, sometimes, seldom, and never. Respondents who reported felt lonely at least sometimes were those having feelings of loneliness (38).

Depressive symptoms were evaluated with validated Chinese version of the Geriatric Depression Scale with a total score of five or greater denoting clinically significant depressive symptoms (37, 39). One-year suicidal ideation was assessed with a single question "In the past 12 months, did you think about ending your life?"(40).

#### Statistical analysis

Prevalence of suicidal ideation was calculated. Chisquare test was used to compare rates of suicidal ideation between/across subgroups according to demographic and other characteristics. Unconditional binary logistic regression was used to identify correlates of suicidal ideation, which included all significant factors from the Chi-square test as the independent variables and employed backward elimination to select the final set of correlates. Associations between correlates and suicidal ideation were measured by using Odds Ratios (ORs) and their 95% confidence intervals (95% CIs). SPSS software, version 16.0, was used for analyzing the data. A two-sided P < 0.05 was defined as statistically significant.

#### Results

In total, 791 older primary care adults were invited to join the study and 769 completed the survey questionnaire. Reasons for non-completion of the survey included: refusal to join in the survey (n = 10), very severe cognitive impairment (n = 5), the withdrawal of informed consent (n = 6), and missing data on variables of interest (n = 1). The average age of the study sample was 72.9 years (standard deviation = 6.1, range = 65–97) and 414 (53.8%) were women. Table 1 displays the characteristics of the survey sample and prevalence rates of suicidal ideation by sample characteristics. Altogether, 128 older adults endorsed suicidal ideation during the past year and the corresponding 1-year prevalence of suicidal ideation was 16.6%.

Results from Chi-square test (Table 1) show that significantly higher rates of suicidal ideation were observed in illiterate respondents (vs. middle school and above), in respondents with poor economic status (vs. good), in respondents who engaged in physical labor (vs. mental labor) before the older adulthood, in respondents suffering heart disease (vs. no), in respondents suffering stroke and other cerebrovascular diseases (vs. no), in respondents suffering chronic gastric ulcer (vs. no), in respondents suffering arthritis (vs. no), in respondents with fair and poor family relationship (vs. good), in respondents having feelings of loneliness (vs. no), and in respondents having depressive symptoms (vs. no).

Multiple logistic regression analysis identified five factors significantly associated with suicidal ideation in older primary care patients (Table 2): poor economic status (vs. good, OR = 2.80, P = 0.008), heart disease (OR = 2.48, P = 0.005), chronic gastric ulcer (OR = 3.55, P = 0.012), arthritis (OR = 2.10, P = 0.042), and depressive symptoms (OR = 11.29, P < 0.001).

# Discussion

Given the limited mental health service and crisis intervention resources in China, empirical data on the clinical epidemiology of suicidal ideation in older primary care patients would inform the development of late-life suicide prevention programs in Chinese primary care settings. To the best of our knowledge, this is the first study in China that examined the prevalence and correlates of suicidal ideation among older Chinese adults receiving primary care. The main findings of this study are the 16.6% prevalence of 1-year suicidal ideation and its significant associations with poor economic status, heart disease, chronic gastric ulcer, arthritis, and depressive symptoms.

Compared to the 2.6 and 5.7% prevalence of 1-year suicidal ideation in urban and rural community-residing older Chinese adults, respectively (41, 42), our study found a much higher prevalence of suicidal ideation in older primary care adults in China. The high risk of suicidal ideation in older Chinese adults attending primary care clinics should be primarily due to their prevailing physical health problems, because poor physical health has been associated with poor mental health, i.e., acute stress caused by the fracture and post-stroke depression, which in turn results in the elevated risk of suicidal behaviors (1, 14, 24, 25). Further, there is evidence that the treatment rate of major depression in older adults receiving primary care in China is extremely low, <1% (43). Therefore, the much higher prevalence of suicidal ideation might be the result of untreated late-life depression in primary care settings in China.

	Characteristics	No. of older adults	No. of older adults with suicidal ideation	Prevalence (%)	x <sup>2</sup>	P-value
Sex	Male	355	56	15.8	0.360	0.548
	Female	414	72	17.4		
Age (years)	65-74	493	85	17.2	0.352	0.553
	75+	276	43	15.6		
Education	Illiterate	181	43	23.8	10.944	0.004
	Primary school	217	38	17.5		
	Middle school	371	47	12.7		
	and above					
Marital status	Married	534	87	16.3	0.157	0.692
	Others*	235	41	17.4		
Self-rated financial status	Good	137	18	13.1	33.770	< 0.001
	Fair	543	76	14.0		
	Poor	89	34	38.2		
Main occupation before	Mental labor	223	26	11.7	5.627	0.018
older adulthood	Manual labor	546	102	18.7		
Residence place	Urban	414	63	15.2	1.317	0.251
ficondeniee place	Rural	355	65	18.3	101/	01201
Current smoking	No	647	109	16.8	0.120	0.729
ourrent shiolding	Yes	122	19	15.6	01120	01723
Regular physical activity	No	438	66	15.1	1.823	0.177
	Yes	331	62	18.7		
Hypertension	No	397	65	16.4	0.044	0.834
i i j por consioni	Yes	372	63	16.9	01011	0.0001
Diabetes	No	653	104	15.9	1.611	0.204
	Yes	116	24	20.7	11011	01201
Heart disease	No	688	105	15.3	9.009	0.003
	Yes	81	23	28.4	,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,,	01000
Stroke and other	No	705	110	15.6	6.631	0.010
cerebrovascular diseases						
	Yes	64	18	28.1		
Chronic obstructive	No	724	120	16.6	0.044	0.833
pulmonary disease						
· ······ / ······	Yes	45	8	17.8		
Cancer	No	764	127	16.6	0.041	0.840
	Yes	5	1	20.0		
Tuberculosis	No	767	127	16.6	1.608	0.205
	Yes	2	1	50.0		
Chronic gastric ulcer	No	744	119	16.0	6.977	0.008
0.000	Yes	25	9	36.0		
Parkinson's disease	No	764	126	16.5	1.979	0.160
	Yes	5	2	40.0		0.100

TABLE 1 Characteristics of the sample of older primary care patients and prevalence rates of suicidal ideation by sample characteristics.

(Continued)

	Characteristics	No. of older adults	No. of older adults with suicidal ideation	Prevalence (%)	x <sup>2</sup>	<i>P</i> -value
Anemia	No	761	126	16.6	0.407	0.524
	Yes	8	2	25.0		
Hepatitis cirrhosis	No	767	127	16.6	1.608	0.205
	Yes	2	1	50.0		
Arthritis	No	709	110	15.5	8.366	0.004
	Yes	60	18	30.0		
Hearing impairment	No	739	125	16.9	0.994	0.319
	Yes	30	3	10.0		
Vision impairment	No	692	112	16.2	1.054	0.305
	Yes	77	16	20.8		
Self-rated family	Good	605	86	14.2	12.075	0.001
relationship	Fair and poor**	164	42	25.6		
Self-rated non-family	Good	535	82	15.3	2.201	0.138
relationship	Fair and poor**	234	46	19.7		
Feelings of loneliness	No	566	67	11.8	35.717	< 0.001
	Yes	203	61	30.0		
Living alone	No	686	116	16.9	0.321	0.571
	Yes	83	12	14.5		
Number of living adult	0	20	6	30.0	3.807	0.283
children	1	87	17	19.5		
	2	233	34	14.6		
	3+	429	71	16.6		
Depressive symptoms	No	531	30	5.6	149.5	< 0.001
	Yes	238	98	41.2		

#### TABLE 1 (Continued)

\*"Others" included never married, separated, divorced, widowed, cohabitating, and remarried.

\*\* Because of the very small numbers of the category of "poor" relationship (n < 10), "poor" and "fair" were merged into one category.

In line with earlier studies (17, 18, 23, 40, 44), we confirmed significant associations between poor financial status, depressive symptoms, and suicidal ideation in Chinese older primary care patients. Nevertheless, this study did not find significant associations of suicidal ideation with disconnectedness-related factors in the final step of multiple logistic regression model despite significant associations between fair and poor family relationship and feelings of loneliness and suicidal ideation in the Chi-square test. We speculate that this does not indicate that disconnectedness-related factors may be relative weak and be masked by the prevailing physical health problems of this population.

The elevated risk of suicidal ideation in individuals with heart disease, peptic ulcers, and arthritis in the general population has been previously reported (45-47). Because depression can be viewed as an antecedent for suicidal ideation and these chronic diseases have been associated with depression (45, 48, 49), our findings on the three major medical conditions as significant correlates of suicidal ideation are expected. Nevertheless, it seems that depression is not the only bridge that links major medical conditions and suicidal ideation together because both depressive symptoms and major medical conditions were significant and independent correlates in the final regression model. We speculated that major medical conditions might increase the risk of suicidal ideation *via* other pathways such as pain and psychological distress.

The main limitation of this study is the methodology of cross-sectional survey, which cannot ascertain the causality between identified correlates and suicidal ideation. The second limitation is no assessment of the mental health-help seeking behaviors of suicidal older adults, which is essential for the

Factor	Risk level	Reference level	Co-efficient	Standard error	χ <sup>2</sup>	P-value	OR (95% CI)
Self-rated financial status	Poor	Good	1.028	0.389	6.982	0.008	2.80 (1.30, 5.99)
Heart disease	Yes	No	0.909	0.320	8.061	0.005	2.48 (1.33, 4.65)
Chronic gastric ulcer	Yes	No	1.265	0.505	6.275	0.012	3.55 (1.32, 9.54)
Arthritis	Yes	No	0.740	0.364	4.145	0.042	2.10 (1.03, 4.28)
Depressive symptoms	Yes	No	2.424	0.240	102.159	< 0.001	11.29 (7.06, 18.07)

TABLE 2 Correlates of suicidal ideation in older primary care patients.

planning of crisis intervention in primary care settings in China. Third, some modifiable factors that are potentially associated with suicidal ideation in older adults such as pain and social support were not measured in this study.

In summary, in Chinese primary care settings, suicidal ideation is common among older patients. Given the potentially high risk of suicide in suicidal older adults, it is necessary to integrate psychological crisis intervention into primary care to prevent late-life suicide. Services in primary care settings in China should include routinely screening for older adults at-risk of suicide, suicide risk assessment, psychosocial support, antidepressant treatment, and referral to mental health specialists when necessary. In addition, the elevated risk of suicidal ideation in older adults with several major medical conditions suggests that effective management of major medical conditions should be considered as a component of the late-life suicide prevention strategy in primary care settings.

### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Institutional Review Board of Wuhan Mental Health Center (approval number WMHC-IRB-S065). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

# Author contributions

X-MZ acquisition and analysis of data for the study, drafting the paper, and interpretation of data for the study. Y-MX and Z-QW design and acquisition of data for the study. X-MZ and B-LZ drafting the paper, revising the paper for important intellectual content, and interpretation of data for the study. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### Funding

This work was supported by National Natural Science Foundation of China (grant number: 71774060), 2015 Irma and Paul Milstein Program for Senior Health Awards from the Milstein Medical Asian American Partnership Foundation, Wuhan Health and Family Planning Commission (grant numbers: WX17Q30, WG16A02, and WG14C24), and Suzhou Medical Talents Program from Suzhou Health Commission (grant number: GSWS2021052).

### Acknowledgments

The authors thank all the research staff for their team collaboration work and all the older adults and primary healthcare physicians involved in this study for their cooperation and support.

# **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

## References

1. Liang YJ, Deng F, Liang P, Zhong BL. Suicidal ideation and mental health helpseeking behaviors among older Chinese adults during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol.* (2022) 35:245–51. doi: 10.1177/08919887221078568

2. Hua R, Ma Y, Li C, Zhong B, Xie W. Low levels of low-density lipoprotein cholesterol and cognitive decline. *Sci Bull.* (2021) 66:1684–90. doi: 10.1016/j.scib.2021.02.018

3. Zhong BL, Chen SL, Tu X, Conwell Y. Loneliness and cognitive function in older adults: findings from the Chinese longitudinal healthy longevity survey. J Gerontol B Psychol Sci Soc Sci. (2017) 72:120–8. doi: 10.1093/geronb/gbw037

4. Zhong BL, Chiu HF, Conwell Y. Rates and characteristics of elderly suicide in China, 2013–14. J Affect Disord. (2016) 206:273–9. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2016.09.003

5. Zhong BL, Chiu HF, Conwell Y. Elderly suicide trends in the context of transforming China, 1987–2014. *Sci Rep.* (2016) 6:37724. doi: 10.1038/srep37724

6. Chen WC, Chen SJ, Zhong BL. Sense of alienation and its associations with depressive symptoms and poor sleep quality in older adults who experienced the lockdown in Wuhan, China, during the COVID-19 pandemic. *J Geriatr Psychiatry Neurol.* (2022) 35:215–22. doi: 10.1177/08919887221078564

7. World Health Organization. Preventing suicide: A Global Imperative. Geneva: WHO Press (2014).

8. Diego DL. Late-life suicide in an aging world. Nat Aging. (2022) 2:7-12. doi: 10.1038/s43587-021-00160-1

9. Chattun MR, Amdanee N, Zhang X, Yao Z. Suicidality in the geriatric population. Asian J Psychiatr. (2022) 75:103213. doi: 10.1016/j.ajp.2022.103213

10. Luoma JB, Martin CE, Pearson JL. Contact with mental health and primary care providers before suicide: a review of the evidence. *Am J Psychiatry.* (2002) 159:909–16. doi: 10.1176/appi.ajp.159.6.909

11. Chiu HF, Yip PS, Chi I, Chan S, Tsoh J, Kwan CW, et al. Elderly suicide in Hong Kong-a case-controlled psychological autopsy study. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2004) 109:299–305. doi: 10.1046/j.1600-0447.2003.00263.x

12. Zhou L, Wang G, Jia C, Ma Z. Being left-behind, mental disorder, and elderly suicide in rural China: a case-control psychological autopsy study. *Psychol Med.* (2019) 49:458–64. doi: 10.1017/S003329171800106X

13. Soriano Barcelo J, Portes Cruz J, Cornes Iglesias JM, Portela Traba B, Brenlla Gonzalez J, Mateos Alvarez R. Health care contact prior to suicide attempts in older adults. a field study in Galicia, Spain. *Actas Esp Psiquiatr.* (2020) 48:106–15.

14. Zhong BL, Ruan YF, Xu YM, Chen WC, Liu LF. Prevalence and recognition of depressive disorders among Chinese older adults receiving primary care: a multi-center cross-sectional study. *J Affect Disord.* (2020) 260:26–31. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2019.09.011

15. O'Connor E, Gaynes BN, Burda BU, Soh C, Whitlock EP. Screening for and treatment of suicide risk relevant to primary care: a systematic review for the US preventive services task force. *Ann Intern Med.* (2013) 158:741– 54. doi: 10.7326/0003-4819-158-10-201305210-00642

16. de Mendonca Lima CA, De Leo D, Ivbijaro G, Svab I. Suicide prevention in older adults. *Asia Pac Psychiatry*. (2021) 13:e12473. doi: 10.1111/appy.12473

17. Almeida OP, Draper B, Snowdon J, Lautenschlager NT, Pirkis J, Byrne G, et al. Factors associated with suicidal thoughts in a large community study of older adults. *Br J Psychiatry*. (2012) 201:466–72. doi: 10.1192/bjp.bp.112.110130

18. Cohen A, Chapman BP, Gilman SE, Delmerico AM, Wieczorek W, Duberstein PR, et al. Social inequalities in the occurrence of suicidal ideation among older primary care patients. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry.* (2010) 18:1146-54. doi: 10.1097/JGP.0b013e3181dd1e55

19. Heisel MJ, Duberstein PR, Lyness JM, Feldman MD. Screening for suicide ideation among older primary care patients. *J Am Board Fam Med.* (2010) 23:260–9. doi: 10.3122/jabfm.2010.02.080163

20. Hirsch JK, Duberstein PR, Chapman B, Lyness JM. Positive affect and suicide ideation in older adult primary care patients. *Psychol Aging.* (2007) 22:380–5. doi: 10.1037/0882-7974.22.2.380

21. Callahan CM, Hendrie HC, Nienaber NA, Tierney WM. Suicidal ideation among older primary care patients. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (1996) 44:1205– 9. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.1996.tb01370.x

22. Ruckert-Eheberg IM, Lukaschek K, Brenk-Franz K, Strauss B, Gensichen J. Association of adult attachment and suicidal ideation in primary care patients with multiple chronic conditions. J Affect Disord. (2019) 246:121–5. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2018.12.029

23. Gilman SE, Bruce ML, Ten Have T, Alexopoulos GS, Mulsant BH, Reynolds CF 3rd, et al. Social inequalities in depression and suicidal ideation among

older primary care patients. Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol. (2013) 48:59-69. doi: 10.1007/s00127-012-0575-9

24. Zhou Y, Ma Z, Jia CX, Zhou L. Relationship between impulsivity and suicide among the rural elderly in China: a case-control psychological autopsy study. *PeerJ.* (2021) 9:e11801. doi: 10.7717/peerj.11801

25. Juurlink DN, Herrmann N, Szalai JP, Kopp A, Redelmeier DA. Medical illness and the risk of suicide in the elderly. *Arch Intern Med.* (2004) 164:1179–84. doi: 10.1001/archinte.164.11.1179

26. Miller M. A psychological autopsy of a geriatric suicide. *J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (1977) 10:229–42.

27. Niu L, Jia C, Ma Z, Wang G, Sun B, Zhang D, et al. Loneliness, hopelessness and suicide in later life: a case-control psychological autopsy study in rural China. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2020) 29:e119. doi: 10.1017/S2045796020000335

28. Turvey CL, Conwell Y, Jones MP, Phillips C, Simonsick E, Pearson JL, et al. Risk factors for late-life suicide: a prospective, community-based study. *Am J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2002) 10:398–406. doi: 10.1097/00019442-200207000-00006

29. Duberstein PR, Conwell Y, Conner KR, Eberly S, Evinger JS, Caine ED. Poor social integration and suicide: fact or artifact? A case-control study. *Psychol Med.* (2004) 34:1331-7. doi: 10.1017/S0033291704002600

30. Conwell Y, Van Orden K, Caine ED. Suicide in older adults. Psychiatr Clin North Am. (2011) 34:451-68. doi: 10.1016/j.psc.2011.02.002

31. Conwell Y. Suicide later in life: challenges and priorities for prevention. Am J Prev Med. (2014) 47(3 Suppl 2):S244–50. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2014.05.040

32. Luo W, Zhong BL, Chiu HF. Prevalence of depressive symptoms among Chinese university students amid the COVID-19 pandemic: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Epidemiol Psychiatr Sci.* (2021) 30:e31. doi: 10.1017/S2045796021000202

33. Wang S, Chen O, Zhao M, Wu F, Wang Y, Wang K. The prevalence of suicide ideation among the Chinese elderly: a meta-analysis. *Chin Nurs Res.* (2020) 34:806–13. doi: 10.12102/j.issn.1009-6493.2020.05.018

34. Zou G, Lv J, Qiao X. A meta-analysis of detection rate of suicidal ideation in middle school students in China. *Chin Ment Health J.* (2021) 35:643–50. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1000-6729.2021.08.006

35. Zhong BL, Luo W, Li HM, Zhang QQ, Liu XG, Li WT, et al. Knowledge, attitudes, and practices toward COVID-19 among Chinese residents during the rapid rise period of the COVID-19 outbreak: a quick online cross-sectional survey. *Int J Biol Sci.* (2020) 16:1745–52. doi: 10.7150/ijbs.45221

36. Zhong BL, Xu YM, Xie WX, Liu XJ. Quality of life of older Chinese adults receiving primary care in Wuhan, China: a multi-center study. *PeerJ.* (2019) 7:e6860. doi: 10.7717/peerj.6860

37. Zhong BL, Xu YM, Xie WX, Liu XJ, Huang ZW. Depressive symptoms in elderly Chinese primary care patients: prevalence and sociodemographic and clinical correlates. *J Geriatr Psych Neur*. (2019) 32:312–8. doi: 10.1177/0891988719862620

38. Zhong BL, Liu XJ, Chen WC, Chiu HF, Conwell Y. Loneliness in Chinese older adults in primary care: prevalence and correlates. *Psychogeriatrics.* (2018) 18:334–42. doi: 10.1111/psyg.12325

39. Cao H, Zhang J, Guo R, Ye X. Comparison of reliability and validity of two scales in the evaluation of depression status in elderly patients with type 2 diabetes. *J Neurosci Ment Heal.* (2017) 17:721–6. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.1009-6574.2017.10.010

40. Zhong BL, Chan SSM, Liu TB, Chiu HF. Nonfatal suicidal behaviors of Chinese rural-to-urban migrant workers: attitude toward suicide matters. *Suicide Life Threat Behav.* (2019) 49:1199–208. doi: 10.1111/sltb.12519

41. Liu Y, Li N, Gao J. Suicide ideation and related factors among elderly people in Beijing. *Injur Med.* (2014) 3:35–8. doi: 10.3868/j.issn.2095-1566.2014.01.006

42. Luo M, Li J, He Y. Research on suicide ideation of elderly people. Sci Res Age. (2015) 3:41–57. doi: 10.3969/j.issn.2095-5898.2015.07.006

43. Chen S, Conwell Y, Vanorden K, Lu N, Fang Y, Ma Y, et al. Prevalence and natural course of late-life depression in China primary care: a population based study from an urban community. *J Affect Disord.* (2012) 141:86–93. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2012.02.027

44. Dai J, Zhong BL, Xiang YT, Chiu HF, Chan SS, Yu X, et al. Internal migration, mental health, and suicidal behaviors in young rural Chinese. *Soc Psychiatry Psychiatr Epidemiol.* (2015) 50:621–31. doi: 10.1007/s00127-014-0985-y

45. Lehmann M, Kohlmann S, Gierk B, Murray AM, Lowe B. Suicidal ideation in patients with coronary heart disease and hypertension: baseline results from the DEPSCREEN-INFO clinical trial. Clin Psychol Psychother. (2018) 25:754-64. doi: 10.1002/cpp.2305

46. Lee YB, Yu J, Choi HH, Jeon BS, Kim HK, Kim SW, et al. The association between peptic ulcer diseases and mental health problems: a population-based study: a STROBE compliant article. *Medicine*. (2017) 96:e7828. doi: 10.1097/MD.00000000007828

47. Huh Y, Kim SM, Lee JH, Nam GE. Associations between the type and number of chronic diseases and suicidal thoughts among Korean adults. *Psychiatry Res.* (2021) 296:113694. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020.113694

48. Yan Z, Gu M, Zhong B, Wang C, Tang H, Ling Y, et al. Prevalence, risk factors and recognition rates of depressive disorders among inpatients of tertiary general hospitals in Shanghai, China. *J Psychosom Res.* (2013) 75:65–71. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2013. 03.003

49. Zhong BL, Chen HH, Zhang JF, Xu H, Zhou C, Yang F, et al. Prevalence, correlates and recognition of depression among inpatients of general hospitals in Wuhan, China. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry.* (2010) 32:268–75. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2010.01.016

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Marco Tramontano, Santa Lucia Foundation (IRCCS), Italy

#### **REVIEWED BY**

Roberta Annicchiarico, Santa Lucia Foundation (IRCCS), Italy Anna Berardi, Department of Human Neurosciences, Faculty of Medicine and Dentistry, Sapienza University of Rome, Italy Juan Moisés De La Serna, Universidad Internacional de La Rioja, Spain

#### \*CORRESPONDENCE

Fanfan Zheng zhengfanfan@nursing.pumc.edu.cn Wuxiang Xie

xiewuxiang@hsc.pku.edu.cn <sup>†</sup>These authors have contributed equally to this work

SPECIALTY SECTION

This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry, a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 09 May 2022 ACCEPTED 03 October 2022 PUBLISHED 26 October 2022

#### CITATION

Wang Y, Li C, Ma Y, Zheng F and Xie W (2022) Associations of physical activity participation trajectories with subsequent motor function declines and incident frailty: A population-based cohort study. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:939310. doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.939310

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Wang, Li, Ma, Zheng and Xie. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

# Associations of physical activity participation trajectories with subsequent motor function declines and incident frailty: A population-based cohort study

# Yang Wang<sup>1†</sup>, Chenglong Li<sup>2,3,4†</sup>, Yanjun Ma<sup>2,3,4</sup>, Fanfan Zheng<sup>5</sup>\* and Wuxiang Xie<sup>2,3,4</sup>\*

<sup>1</sup>Department of Prevention and Health Care, Hospital of Health Science Center, Peking University, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup>Peking University Clinical Research Institute, Peking University First Hospital, Beijing, China, <sup>3</sup>PUCRI Heart and Vascular Health Research Center at Peking University Shougang Hospital, Beijing, China, <sup>4</sup>Key Laboratory of Molecular Cardiovascular Sciences, Peking University, Ministry of Education, Beijing, China, <sup>5</sup>School of Nursing, Peking Union Medical College, Chinese Academy of Medical Sciences, Beijing, China

**Background:** Maintaining physical function and delaying frailty are of significant importance in both quality of life and health longevity for successful aging. The objective of this study is to investigate whether different trajectories of long-term physical activity (PA) participation are associated with subsequent motor function declines and incident frailty in middle-aged and elderly adults.

**Materials and methods:** Data from 8,227 aged  $\geq$  50 years adults enrolled in the English Longitudinal Study of Aging were analyzed. Long-term PA participation trajectories were assessed using group-based trajectory modeling over the first 6-year period from wave 1 (2002–2003) to wave 4 (2008–2009). The longitudinal associations of PA trajectories with motor function declines and incident frailty were evaluated by a linear mixed model and Cox regression model, respectively, with follow-up of 10 years from wave 4 to wave 9 (2018–2019).

**Results:** Five distinct trajectories of long-term PA participation were identified in the aging cohort, including persistently low-active trajectory (N = 2,039), increasing active trajectory (N = 1,711), declining active trajectory (N = 216), persistently moderate-active trajectory (N = 2,254), and persistently highactive trajectory (N = 2,007). Compared with the persistently low-active group, the participants in persistently moderate- and high-active groups experienced significantly decelerated grip strength decline, decreased gait speed decline, and faster chair rises after multiple-adjustment. Similarly, participants maintaining moderate- and high-active PA were also associated with a lower risk of incident frailty (multiple-adjusted hazard ratio: 0.70, 95% confidence interval: 0.62–0.80, and 0.42, 95% CI: 0.36–0.49, respectively), compared with those with persistently low PA. Notably, the participants with the increasing active trajectory got similar health benefits as those with persistently moderate and high levels of PA.

**Conclusion:** In addition to persistent PA, increasing PA was linked to a slower decline in motor function and lower risk of incident frailty in the cohort. Our findings suggest that regular PA is never too late.

KEYWORDS

physical activity, trajectory, incident frailty, group-based trajectory modeling, grip strength, gait speed, chair rise

# Highlights

- Trajectories of long-term participation in physical activity can be varied among middle and older adults.
- Persistently moderate-, high-active, and increasing participation in physical activity were associated with decelerated motor function decline and reduced risk of incident frailty.
- Strategies focusing on maintaining or increasing active physical activity might promote healthy aging.
- It's never too late to start or enhance regular physical activity for middle-aged and elderly adults.

#### Introduction

The world's population aged 60 years or older will increase from 841 million in 2013 to more than two billion by 2050 (1). The aging process is characterized by a decline in functional performance and an increase in morbidity, which, although they are two separate conditions, are both related to disability. The total sum of global years lived with disability increased from 562 million to 853 million from 1990 to 2017 (2). Impaired physical functions, such as muscle strength, balance, and gait performance deficits, are common underlying traits among disability. The transition from robustness to disability is a longlasting, continuous and insidious process that may take years (3). A stage in the transition is referred to as frailty characterized by a decline in functioning across multiple physiological systems and accompanied by an increased vulnerability to stressors (4, 5). Frailty is multidimensional, with physical and psychosocial factors playing a part in its development, an extreme consequence of the normal aging process and dynamic, which means that an individual can fluctuate between states of severity of frailty (6). It is potentially preventable, up to a probable point of no return when it becomes a pre-death phase with profound implications for clinical practice and public health (6). Growing evidence shows that frailty increases the risks of falls, hospitalization, admission to long-term care and mortality (4, 5). In clinical practice, frailty can help clinicians identify patients who may benefit from aggressive interventions and those who might suffer harm from them (7). Together, maintaining function and delaying frailty are of significant importance in both quality of life and longevity.

Increasing evidence reports the benefits yielded by regular physical activity (PA) on the motor function in older people by preserving mobility, muscle strength, and balance (8-10). However, there is a methodological limitation that PA are evaluated at single time-point (primarily the baseline level) or short time-scales without considering the longterm dynamic nature of PA behavior. Group-based trajectory modeling (GBTM) allows grouping of subjects presenting with similar baseline values and longitudinal patterns of change according to their direction and magnitude (11). Using this method, some studies have detected different PA trajectories among older adult cohorts (12-14). Three studies examined the association of PA trajectories with mortality in older adults (15-17). One study investigated the relationship between PA trajectories with contemporaneous physical performance changes in older men (18). But, there isn't an investigation of the temporal association of long-term PA participation trajectories with subsequent motor function changes and incident frailty.

Therefore, the main objectives of this study were to investigate different trajectories of long-term PA participation over a 6-year span by the GBTM and evaluate their associations with subsequent motor function decline and incident frailty in middle-aged and elderly adults. Our hypotheses are that older adults maintaining PA over time will have a slower motor function decline and a lower risk of incident frailty compared with persistently inactive subjects or those reducing PA levels, and that increasing PA even at older ages promotes healthy aging characterized by reduced motor function decline and incident frailty.

# Materials and methods

#### Study population

The English Longitudinal Study of Ageing (ELSA) is a biennial, ongoing prospective, nationally representative cohort study of community-based English adults aged 50 years and older, which collected data in 2002–2003 (wave 1) and follow-up assessments were conducted until 2018–2019 (wave 9). Briefly, this is a population-based prospective cohort study examining the determinants and consequences of frailty. Detailed design and methods of the study have been published previously (19).

Data from wave 1 to wave 4 (2008–2009) were analyzed to evaluate PA participation trajectories, and wave 4 to wave 9 to assess incident frailty and changes of motor function. Wave 4 was the baseline assessment of frailty and motor function. Excluded participants were those who: (1) developed frailty at wave 4; (2) failed to follow-up from wave 4 to wave 9. Participant selection process of the present study was described in **Figure 1**.

The ELSA was approved by the London Multicenter Research Ethics Committee (MREC/01/2/91). All participants provided written informed consent.

#### Physical activity assessments

The frequency of mild, moderate and vigorous PA was measured by self-reported questionnaire in the ELSA, with a card describing different types of activities presented for participants when being asked about these questions. Further details are provided in the **Supplementary methods**.

The scoring system for assessing PA consisted of the threestage approach in the present study. Firstly, the frequency of participating in mild, moderate and vigorous activities was assigned a score of 1 (hardly ever or never), 2 (one to three times per month), 3 (at least once per week), respectively (20). Secondly, the standardized Z scores of assigned scores were generated by subtracting the corresponding mean and dividing by standard deviation (SD), separately. Lastly, a weighted global activity Z scores were calculated to evaluate different intensities of PA. The weights were chosen based on metabolic equivalent of tasks (MET) (21). After calculation, mild, moderate, and vigorous intensity of PA were assigned MET weights of 2.3, 4.4, and 7.2, respectively. **Supplementary Table 1** provides the detailed information for MET weights calculation that agreed with previous studies (22).

The frailty index based on an accumulation of age-related deficits and was generated according to a standard procedure (23). Deficits in health were included in the frailty index in the

present study if they matched the following criteria: the deficit represented multiple physiological systems; the prevalence of deficits increased with age; the deficit was not too universal in middle-age and the prevalence of the deficit should not be less than 1%.

After screening baseline data of the ELSA, 32 variables were selected to calculate the frailty index, including diseases (based on self-reports or physical measurements), disability in activities of daily living (ADL) and signs of psychological unhealthy (**Supplementary Table 2**). All variables were recoded, with "0" and "1" indicating the absence and the presence of a deficit, respectively. An additional value of "0.5" for variables with an intermediate response (e.g., "sometimes" or "suspect") was added. The frailty score was generated for each participant according to the number of deficits present in a person divided by the 32 deficits considered. The frailty score was a continuous variable ranging from 0 to 1, with greater scores indicating higher degree of frailty. The frailty score  $\geq 0.25$  had been proposed to indicate frailty, with reference to previous studies (6).

#### Assessment of motor function

Grip strength was measured three times for each hand using a Smedley dynamometer in the ELSA, and the maximum measurements were used in our analyses. The measurement method of grip strength is consistent with the recent similar study (24). In addition, some studies have found similar testretest reliability with the mean of two or three trials and the maximum of three trials (25).

Gait speed was measured by asking the participants to walk at their usual pace and use any assistive devices at an 8 ft (2.44 m) marked course. The mean of two trails (m/s) was calculated. The method of measuring gait speed is consistent with previous research (26).

The time (in seconds) it takes to get up and sit down is known as the timed chair rise. Participants sit in a chair and cross their arms over the chest with feet resting on the floor. They were asked to stand up and sit down five times as quickly as possible without using their arms. The complete time was recorded in the five-repetition chair stand test (CS-5). According to previous research, chair rises measurement method is valid (26).

The changes in grip strength, gait speed and timed five chair rises from wave 4 to wave 9 (2002–2003 to 2018–2019) were taken as dependent variables.

#### Covariates

Covariates included demographic and health factors were collected at wave 4. The covariates were selected on basis



of potential cofounders known to be related with frailty and motor function, including demographic factors (age, sex, ethnicity, educational background, cohabitation status), health behaviors (current smoking, alcohol consumption, and vigorous exercise), and health condition (hypertension, diabetes, stroke, cardiovascular diseases, cancer, chronic lung diseases, depressive symptoms, functional limitations, body mass index [BMI], and physical function measurements). The detailed information of covariates was described in the **Supplementary methods**.

#### Statistical analysis

The GBTM was performed by the SAS Proc Traj procedure to distinguish potential trajectories of long-term PA participation based on weighted Z scores of PA across a 6-year period from waves 1 to 4 in the ELSA. The GBTM used maximum likelihood estimation to identify participants sharing similar trajectory of weighted Z scores, which can process data distributions including censored normal, Poisson and Bernoulli,

and was an appropriate option when handling non-monotonic trajectories (27). Then, the most appropriate trajectory group was determined for each participant, which was included in further multivariate analysis as the independent variable. In the **Supplementary methods**, a detailed description of trajectory modeling was presented.

For the primary analysis, linear mixed models were used to assess the longitudinal associations between PA trajectories and subsequent motor function changes, with the intercept and slope of time fitted as random effects to account for interindividual differences. Considering capability of linear mixed models in handling response data missing at random, we didn't implement imputation methods. The longitudinal association between PA trajectories and incident frailty was evaluated using proportional hazard regression (Cox regression) model. Detailed descriptions of the statistical models were provided in the **Supplementary methods**.

In addition, an exploratory analysis was performed separately in the mild, moderate and vigorous intensity PA trajectories to find out the influence of different intensity PA

10.3389/fpsyt.2022.939310

on the primary results. Several sensitivity analyses were carried out to examine the robustness of the conclusions of the primary analysis. To address reverse causation, the participants who reported difficulties with daily life activities such as bathing, dressing, eating, getting in/out of bed and walking across a room were excluded, during waves 1 to 4.

All statistical analyses were conducted using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute, Cary, NC, United States). A two-tailed alpha of 0.05 was referred to as statistically significant level.

#### Results

#### **Baseline characteristics**

A total of 8,227 frailty-free participants from the ELSA were included in the analysis. Detailed description of participant selection was shown in **Figure 1**. Of the included participants, the mean age was  $57.8 \pm 9.2$  years and 45.9% were male.

# Physical activity participation trajectories from wave 1 to 4

Five trajectories of long-term PA participation based on weighted activity Z scores were identified from waves 1 to 4 of the ELSA. The five trajectories were shown in **Figure 2**, including: (1) persistently low-active trajectory (N = 2,039), representing low participation in PA during waves 1 to 4; (2) increasing active trajectory (N = 1,711), representing initially low participation in PA but turned to elevating afterward; (3) declining active trajectory (N = 2,254), representing constantly moderate-active trajectory (N = 2,254), representing constantly moderate participation; (5) persistently high-active trajectory (N = 2,007), representing highly participation.

**Table 1** displays the baseline characteristics of the study participants by five PA trajectories. Compared with the other PA trajectory groups, participants in the persistently high-active and increasing active trajectory groups were more likely to be men, had lower BMI, frailty index and better motor function performance.

## Physical activity participation trajectories and subsequent motor function changes

The longitudinal associations of the PA trajectories with subsequent motor function changes are shown in Table 2. After multiple-adjustment, the participants with persistently moderate and high PA trajectories experienced decelerated grip strength decline ( $\beta = 0.999$  kg, 95% confidence interval [CI]: 0.314–1.684, P = 0.004;  $\beta = 1.334$  kg, 95% CI: 0.641–2.026, P < 0.001), decreased gait speed decline ( $\beta = 4.655$  cm/s, 95% CI: 1.582–7.727, P = 0.003;  $\beta = 7.949$  cm/s, 95% CI: 4.783–11.116, P < 0.001), and faster chair rises ( $\beta = -0.519$  s, 95% CI: -0.812 to -0.226, P = 0.001;  $\beta = -0.904$  s, 95% CI: -1.199 to -0.608, P < 0.001) compared with participants with the persistently low-active trajectory. Notably, the increasing active trajectory was associated with subsequent motor function comprehensive improvement (grip strength:  $\beta = 1.799$  kg, 95% CI: 1.009–2.589, P < 0.001; grip speed:  $\beta = 5.012$  cm/s, 95% CI: 1.475–8.548, P = 0.005; timed five chair rises:  $\beta = -0.904$  s, 95% CI: -1.199 to -0.608, P < 0.001), while the longitudinal associations of the declining active trajectory with motor function changes were not found.

Further analyses were conducted in the mild, moderate and vigorous intensity PA (**Supplementary Table 3**). Similar to global PA trajectories, five trajectories were identified for mild and moderate intensity PA, while four trajectories were identified for vigorous intensity PA, as shown in **Supplementary Figures 1–3**. The subgroup analyses found similar results to the global PA results, although the significant association was mainly observed in the vigorous intensity PA.

### Physical activity participation trajectories and subsequent incident frailty

There were 1,866 incidents of frailty during a 10-year followup period, data summarized in **Table 3**. In contrast to subjects with the persistently low-active trajectory, participants with persistently moderate and high trajectories had a significant lower risk of incident frailty, with a multivariate-adjusted HR of 0.70 (95% CI: 0.62–0.80, P < 0.001) and 0.42 (95% CI: 0.36– 0.49, P < 0.001), respectively (**Table 3**). Importantly, similar to the longitudinal associations of PA trajectories with motor function changes, participants with increasing active trajectory also had a significantly lower risk of incident frailty (HR = 0.60, 95% CI: 0.50–0.72, P < 0.001), while the association of the declining active trajectory with the risk of incident frailty was not identified (**Table 3**). The subgroup analyses with different intensities of PA remain generally consistent with our primary findings (**Supplementary Table 4**).

#### Sensitivity analyses

According to the sensitivity analyses that excluded participants who reported daily activities difficulties during waves 1–4, the associations of PA trajectories with motor function declines and incident frailty remained the same as those from the main analyses (Supplementary Tables 5, 6).

68



#### FIGURE 2

Trajectories of participation in global physical activities by participants from the ELSA over a 6-year span. (1) Persistently low-active trajectory (N = 2,039), representing low participation in physical activity (PA) during waves 1–4; (2) increasing active trajectory (N = 1,711), representing initially low participation in PA but turned to elevating afterward; (3) declining active trajectory (N = 2,254), representing high participation at early stages but turned to decreasing afterward; (4) persistently moderate-active trajectory (N = 2,254), representing constantly moderate participation; (5) persistently high-active trajectory (N = 2,007), representing highly participation.

TABLE 1 Baseline characteristics of study population according to physical activity trajectories.

Characteristics <sup>a</sup>	All N = 8,227	Increasing active N = 1,711	Persistently low N = 2,039	Declining active N = 216	Persistently moderate N = 2,254	Persistently high N = 2,007	P-value <sup>b</sup>
Male (%)	3,780 (45.9%)	872 (51.0%)	872 (42.8%)	90 (41.7%)	949 (42.1%)	997 (49.7%)	< 0.001
Age (years)	$57.8\pm9.2$	$52.1\pm7.5$	$56.2\pm9.8$	$64.0\pm9.6$	$61.6\pm8.8$	$59.4\pm7.5$	< 0.001
White (%)	7,945 (96.6%)	1,635 (95.6%)	1,919 (94.1%)	207 (95.8%)	2,205 (97.8%)	1,979 (98.6%)	< 0.001
High level education (%)	2,810 (34.2%)	585 (34.2%)	389 (19.1%)	60 (27.8%)	779 (34.6%)	997 (49.7%)	< 0.001
Living alone (%)	1,400 (17.0%)	39 (2.3%)	197 (9.7%)	64 (29.6%)	637 (28.3%)	463 (23.1%)	< 0.001
Current smoking (%)	757 (9.2%)	26 (1.5%)	116 (5.7%)	36 (16.7%)	362 (16.1%)	217 (10.8%)	< 0.001
Drinking $\geq$ once per week (%)	3,353 (40.8%)	84 (4.9%)	274 (13.4%)	125 (57.9%)	1,407 (62.4%)	1,463 (72.9%)	< 0.001
Depressive symptoms (%)	496 (6.0%)	15 (0.9%)	86 (4.2%)	30 (13.9%)	245 (10.9%)	120 (6.0%)	< 0.001
Hypertension (%)	2,545 (30.9%)	62 (3.6%)	329 (16.1%)	117 (54.2%)	1,156 (51.3%)	881 (43.9%)	< 0.001
Diabetes (%)	209 (2.5%)	2 (0.1%)	35 (1.7%)	10 (4.6%)	101 (4.5%)	61 (3.0%)	< 0.001
Stroke	91 (1.1%)	2 (0.1%)	25 (1.2%)	5 (2.3%)	39 (1.7%)	20 (1.0%)	< 0.001
Cardiovascular disease (%)	353 (4.3%)	16 (0.9%)	62 (3.0%)	22 (10.2%)	153 (6.8%)	100 (5.0%)	< 0.001
Chronic lung disease (%)	168 (2.0%)	6 (0.4%)	28 (1.4%)	12 (5.6%)	80 (3.5%)	42 (2.1%)	< 0.001
Cancer (%)	239 (2.9%)	5 (0.3%)	27 (1.3%)	13 (6.0%)	96 (4.3%)	98 (4.9%)	< 0.001
BMI (kg/m <sup>2</sup> )	$27.7\pm4.8$	$27.4\pm4.6$	$28.6\pm5.3$	$28.2 \pm 4.9$	$27.9\pm4.7$	$27.0\pm4.3$	< 0.001
Frailty index	0.07 (0.04-0.13)	0.05 (0.03-0.10)	0.10 (0.05-0.16)	0.12 (0.06-0.18)	0.08 (0.04-0.14)	0.05 (0.02-0.09)	< 0.001
Grip strength (kg)	$33.0 \pm 11.2$	$36.5\pm11.3$	$31.7\pm11.3$	$27.9 \pm 10.5$	$30.7\pm10.5$	$34.5\pm10.8$	< 0.001
Gait speed (cm/s)	$98.4\pm28.0$	$103.8\pm28.7$	$90.3 \pm 27.5$	$82.0 \pm 23.4$	$95.5\pm26.6$	$106.8\pm27.4$	< 0.001
Timed 5 chair rises (s)	$10.9\pm3.6$	$9.8\pm2.9$	$11.4\pm4.0$	$12.4\pm3.9$	$11.6\pm3.7$	$10.4\pm3.2$	< 0.001

<sup>a</sup>Data are presented as mean ± SD, *n* (%), or median (quartile 1-quartile 3). <sup>b</sup>*P*-value reported for differences between trajectory groups using analysis of variance, chi-square test, or Kruskal-Wallis test.

Besides, "The subgroup analyses based on gender and age range were performed. Findings in subgroup analyses were consistent with the results of previous analyses (Supplementary Tables 8–15)."

#### Discussion

By following a longitudinal cohort of 8,227 middleaged and older adults from the ELSA, we identified five distinct trajectories of long-term PA participation over a 6-year span and observed prospective associations of PA trajectories with subsequent 10-year incident frailty and motor function performance declines, including grip strength, gait speed and timed five chair rises. Compared with those in the persistently low-active group, individuals in all other trajectories, except for those with the declining active trajectory, had slower motor function declines and a lower risk of incident frailty. Importantly, individuals with an increasing active trajectory had similar or even lower physical performance declines and risk of incident frailty than those with a persistently moderate or high active trajectory. Our findings are encouraging, not confined to participants with persistently active participation in PA, who can still gain substantial benefits in the quality of life by becoming more physically active irrespective of past physical activity levels, providing further evidence to the broad public health benefits of PA. In clinical practice, the elderly is encouraged to exercise regularly to reduce the incidence of frailty that help clinicians identify patients who may benefit from aggressive interventions and increases the risks of falls, hospitalization, admission to long-term care and mortality (4, 5). To our knowledge, this is the first study to evaluate temporal associations of long-term PA participation trajectories with subsequent motor function declines and incident frailty in middle-aged and elderly adults.

Previous studies on the relationship between long-term PA participation trajectories and motor function changes are lack of prospectiveness and applied to some certain populations (18, 28). Laddu et al. identified three PA groups using the GBTM approach only in older men and demonstrated that men in moderate and high activity trajectory groups had contemporaneous higher performance outcomes and experienced smaller declines in nearly each performance outcome than men in the low activity trajectory group (18). Pettee Gabriel et al. used latent class growth analysis, identified five PA trajectory groups only in middle-aged women and found that women included in the middle and highest physical activity groups demonstrated  $\geq$  5% better physical functioning performance in late midlife than those who maintained low physical activity levels (28). Despite different approaches, we both demonstrated five similar trends in PA trajectory and found that increasing active participation in PA could reduce the rate of physical performance declines, even for those who were physically inactive at an early age. But neither of the previous studies could verify the temporal correlation between

TABLE 2 Mean differences of changes in physical function between global physical activity trajectories.

Global physical activity trajectories	Grip strength (kg)		Gait speed (cm/s)		Timed 5 chair rises (s)	
	β (95% Cl) <sup>a</sup>	P-value	β (95% Cl) <sup>a</sup>	P-value	β (95% Cl) <sup>a</sup>	P-value
Persistently low-active	Reference		Reference		Reference	
Increasing active	1.799 (1.009, 2.589)	< 0.001	5.012 (1.475, 8.548)	0.005	-0.513 (-0.789, -0.236)	< 0.001
Declining active	0.785 (-0.683, 2.253)	0.295	2.789 (-4.083, 9.662)	0.426	-0.072 (-0.727, 0.582)	0.829
Persistently moderate-active	0.999 (0.314, 1.684)	0.004	4.655 (1.582, 7.727)	0.003	-0.519 (-0.812, -0.226)	0.001
Persistently high-active	1.334 (0.641, 2.026)	< 0.001	7.949 (4.783, 11.116)	< 0.001	-0.904 (-1.199, -0.608)	< 0.001

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, education, cohabitation status, current smoking, alcohol consumption, depressive symptoms, hypertension, diabetes, stroke, cardiovascular diseases, chronic lung diseases, cancer, functional limitations, BMI, and physical function measurements at wave 4.

TABLE 3 Hazard ratios and 95% confidence intervals of incident frailty by global physical activity trajectories.

Global physical activity trajectories	Events/Total	Risk for incident frailty <sup>a</sup>		
		HR (95% CI)	P-value	
Persistently low-active	596/2,039	Reference		
Increasing active	202/1,711	0.60 (0.50, 0.72)	< 0.001	
Declining active	89/216	0.93 (0.73, 1.17)	0.527	
Persistently moderate-active	668/2,254	0.70 (0.62, 0.80)	< 0.001	
Persistently high-active	311/2,007	0.42 (0.36, 0.49)	< 0.001	

<sup>a</sup>Adjusted for age, sex, ethnicity, education, cohabitation status, current smoking, alcohol consumption, depressive symptoms, hypertension, diabetes, stroke, cardiovascular diseases, chronic lung diseases, cancer, functional limitations, and BMI.

PA trajectories and the physical performance declines. With the prospective design, we confirm and expand upon observations by Pettee Gabriel et al. (28) and other investigators (18, 29–31) by prospectively assessing associations of PA trajectories with subsequent motor changes in men and women aged 50 years and older. And our findings also provide encouraging information that individuals with increasing active participation in PA had minimal and comparable rates of motor function declines to those with persistently active participation in PA. Our findings suggest that regular physical activity is never be too late.

In the current study, gait speed, grip strength, and timed five chair rises were used as indicators of motor function. Gait speed has been considered to be an invaluable health functional vital sign and a core indicator of many health outcomes especially mortality and disability (32, 33). Although the decline of gait speed in this study didn't reach the risk-effect reduction of 10 cm/s confirmed by the systematic review of association between gait speed with mortality and cardiovascular disease (33), the differences observed among the PA trajectories in this study met a threshold of meaningful change in gait speed (4-6 cm/s) (34, 35). Slower gait speed declines may reflect the enhancement of multi-system organ function by being physically active. The grip strength can represent global muscle strength in older people in the community (36). Of note, faster grip strength decline may reveal immediacy of death rather than age-related decline, and be more accurate at detecting the risk of mortality in very old adults (37, 38). Peterson et al. found that each 0.1 decrease in normalized grip strength was associated with a 15 and 12% increased risk of mortality in older Mexican American men and women, respectively (39). The chair rise test can be commonly used as a proxy for the power and strength of the lower limbs. The results of a previous study indicated that participants who performed poorly on the timed five chair rise test at baseline were at a significantly higher risk of developing disability (40). Additionally, it is one of the preferred ways to assess physical function in sarcopenia (41). The effect of regular physical activity on these meaningful indicators of motor function suggests the health benefits of regular physical activity.

Physical activity is known to preserve or improve physical function and delay or reverse frailty (42). Data from UK cohort study showed that active participants had a lower risk of frailty compared with inactive participants (43). Borda et al. also reported that PA was significantly associated with a lower risk of developing frailty in the Mexican Health and Aging Study cohort (44). Based on mobile healthcare and wearable technologies, Li et al. found that for 1 SD decrease in the temporal activity (more random activity fluctuations) correlations the risk of frailty increased by 31%; the risk of disability increased by 15–25%; and the risk of death increased by 26% (45). More recently, Yamada et al. found that older adults are more likely to experience incident frailty/disability due to decreased PA during the COVID-19 pandemic (46). Although previous studies have advanced our knowledge regarding PA

and incident frailty, there isn't an investigation of the temporal association between long-term PA trajectories and incident frailty, thus providing an incomplete picture of the total evidence base on this subject. The current study confirmed previous findings and provided new evidence for a temporal association between long-term PA participation trajectories and subsequent incident frailty. This study showed that lower risks of incident frailty were obtained not only by persistently moderate or high active older adults but also by those who become more physically active regardless of their baseline level.

Our study has several strengths that make our findings more valid and robust. First, we prospectively assessed a temporal association of PA trajectories with subsequent motor function declines and incident frailty in a relatively large and nationallyrepresentative sample with a long follow-up of 10 years. Such a prospective cohort design improves the ability to draw casual conclusions. Second, we explored all possible patterns of PA over the span of 6 years using the novel GBTM method that could address limitations of only considering activity participation at a single time point by efficiently incorporating measurements of activity participation at multiple time points. Finally, we used validated measures for assessing motor function and replicated results with relatively small heterogeneity by controlling confounding factors and sensitivity analysis.

Notwithstanding these strengths, our study has several limitations. Firstly, the ELSA's regional basis may limit our ability to generalize our results across ethnically diverse populations. Secondly, we used self-reported PA frequency when evaluating PA trajectories, thus recall errors are inevitable especially in older adults. Over-reporting of PA levels, if present, would lead to an underestimation of the actual effect of PA (47). In addition, we did not consider duration of PA when assessing PA trajectories. Thirdly, a total of 2,823 (25.55%) individuals were excluded from the analysis due to loss during follow up or develop frailty at wave 4. Individuals who were excluded were older and had higher percentages of living alone and higher prevalence of chronic diseases at baseline, compared with included older adults (Supplementary Table 7). Hence, selection bias could restrict the generalizability of our results. Fourthly, GBTM method inherently simplifies the variability of individual trajectories within classes. Individuals may show more change than others within the same group, and conclusions about individual outcomes should be approached with caution (11). Fifthly, our study is based on observation, and reverse causality cannot be excluded. PA trajectories may be influenced by health status. To address the issue, we performed sensitivity analyses in that participants reported daily activities difficulties during waves 1-4 were further excluded and observed consistent results. Finally, there may still be confounding bias due to unmeasured confounding factors such as pro-inflammatory cytokine interleukin-6 (48).
#### Conclusion

In summary, this study demonstrated that not only persistently active participation in PA, but also gradually improved PA were associated with subsequent a slower decline in motor function and a lower risk of incident frailty in middleaged and older adults. Strategies focusing on maintaining or increasing PA may promote healthy aging and longevity.

#### Data availability statement

Access to original ELSA datasets can be obtained by visiting the website (https://www.elsa-project.ac.uk/).

#### **Ethics statement**

The ELSA was approved by the London Multicenter Research Ethics Committee (MREC/01/2/91). The patients/participants provided their written informed consent to participate in this study.

#### Author contributions

FZ and WX: had full access to all the data in the study and took responsibility for the integrity of the data and the accuracy of the data analysis. YW, FZ, and WX: study concept, design, and drafting of the manuscript. YW, CL, FZ, and WX: acquisition, analysis, or interpretation of data. YW, CL, and WX: statistical analysis. WX: obtained funding, administrative, technical, or material support, and supervision. All authors critical revision of the manuscript for important intellectual content and approved the submitted version.

#### Funding

This work was supported by the National Natural Science Foundation of China (project no. 81974490), the Newton

#### References

1. Chatterji S, Byles J, Cutler D, Seeman T, Verdes E. Health, functioning, and disability in older adults—present status and future implications. *Lancet.* (2015) 385:563–75. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(14)61462-8

International Fellowship from the Academy of Medical Sciences, UK (project no. NIF001-1005-P56804), and 2019 Irma and Paul Milstein Program for Senior Health Research Project Award. The funding sources had no role in the design and conduct of the study, collection, management, analysis, and interpretation of the data, preparation, review, or approval of the manuscript, and decision to submit the manuscript for publication.

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the original data creators, depositors, copyright holders, the funders of the data collections, and their contributions for access of data from the English Longitudinal Study of Aging. The original data creators, depositors, or copyright holders bear no responsibility for the current analysis or interpretation.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.939310/full#supplementary-material

4. Fried LP, Tangen CM, Walston J, Newman AB, Hirsch C, Gottdiener J, et al. Frailty in older adults: Evidence for a phenotype. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2001) 56:M146–56. doi: 10.1093/gerona/5 6.3.146

5. Clegg A, Young J, Iliffe S, Rikkert MO, Rockwood K. Frailty in elderly people. Lancet. (2013) 381:752–62. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(12)62167-9

6. Hoogendijk EO, Afilalo J, Ensrud KE, Kowal P, Onder G, Fried LP. Frailty: implications for clinical practice and public health. *Lancet.* (2019) 394:1365–75. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(19)31786-6

<sup>2.</sup> James SLAD, Abate KH. Global, regional, and national incidence, prevalence, and years lived with disability for 354 diseases and injuries for 195 countries and territories, 1990-2017: A systematic analysis for the global burden of disease study 2017. *Lancet.* (2018) 392:1789–858. doi: 10.1016/S0140-6736(18)32279-7

<sup>3.</sup> Cieza A, Sabariego C, Bickenbach J, Chatterji S. Rethinking disability. BMC Med. (2018) 16:14. doi: 10.1186/s12916-017-1002-6

7. Lindman BR, Alexander KP, O'Gara PT, Afilalo J. Futility, benefit, and transcatheter aortic valve replacement. *JACC Cardiovasc Interv.* (2014) 7:707–16. doi: 10.1016/j.jcin.2014.01.167

8. Pahor M, Guralnik JM, Ambrosius WT, Blair S, Bonds DE, Church TS, et al. Effect of structured physical activity on prevention of major mobility disability in older adults: the LIFE study randomized clinical trial. *JAMA*. (2014) 311:2387–96. doi: 10.1001/jama.2014.5616

9. Mangione KK, Miller AH, Naughton IV. Cochrane review: Improving physical function and performance with progressive resistance strength training in older adults. *Phys Ther.* (2010) 90:1711–5. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20100270

10. Chalé-Rush A, Guralnik JM, Walkup MP, Miller ME, Rejeski WJ, Katula JA, et al. Relationship between physical functioning and physical activity in the lifestyle interventions and independence for elders pilot. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2010) 58:1918–24. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2010.03008.x

11. Nagin DS. Group-based trajectory modeling: An overview. Ann Nutr Metab. (2014) 65:205–10. doi: 10.1159/000360229

12. Laddu DR, Cawthon PM, Parimi N, Hoffman AR, Orwoll E, Miljkovic I, et al. Trajectories of the relationships of physical activity with body composition changes in older men: The MrOS study. *BMC Geriatr.* (2017) 17:119.

13. Aggio D, Papachristou E, Papacosta O, Lennon LT, Ash S, Whincup PH, et al. Association between 20-year trajectories of nonoccupational physical activity from midlife to old age and biomarkers of cardiovascular disease: A 20-year longitudinal study of British men. *Am J Epidemiol.* (2018) 187:2315–23. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwy157

14. Aggio D, Papachristou E, Papacosta O, Lennon LT, Ash S, Whincup PH, et al. Trajectories of self-reported physical activity and predictors during the transition to old age: a 20-year cohort study of British men. *Int J Behav Nutr Phys Act.* (2018) 15:14. doi: 10.1186/s12966-017-0642-4

15. Laddu D, Parimi N, Cauley JA, Cawthon PM, Ensrud KE, Orwoll E, et al. The association between trajectories of physical activity and all-cause and cause-specific mortality. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2018) 73:1708–13. doi: 10.1093/gerona/gly037

16. Sanchez-Sanchez JL, Izquierdo M, Carnicero-Carreno JA, Garcia-Garcia FJ, Rodriguez-Manas L. Physical activity trajectories, mortality, hospitalization, and disability in the toledo study of healthy aging. *J Cachexia Sarcopenia Muscle*. (2020) 11:1007–17. doi: 10.1002/jcsm.12566

17. Aggio D, Papachristou E, Papacosta O, Lennon LT, Ash S, Whincup P, et al. Trajectories of physical activity from midlife to old age and associations with subsequent cardiovascular disease and all-cause mortality. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. (2020) 74:130-6. doi: 10.1136/jech-2019-212706

18. Laddu DR, Parimi N, Stone KL, Lapidus J, Hoffman AR, Stefanick ML, et al. Physical activity trajectories and associated changes in physical performance in older men: The MrOS study. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2020) 75:1967–73. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glaa073

19. Steptoe A, Breeze E, Banks J, Nazroo J. Cohort profile: The English longitudinal study of ageing. *Int J Epidemiol.* (2013) 42:1640-8. doi: 10.1093/ije/dys168

20. Hamer M, Muniz Terrera G, Demakakos P. Physical activity and trajectories in cognitive function: English longitudinal study of ageing. *J Epidemiol Community Health*. (2018) 72:477–83. doi: 10.1136/jech-2017-210228

21. Ainsworth BE, Haskell WL, Herrmann SD, Meckes N, Bassett DR Jr., Tudor-Locke C, et al. 2011 Compendium of physical activities: A second update of codes and MET values. *Med Sci Sports Exerc.* (2011) 43:1575–81. doi: 10.1249/MSS. 0b013e31821ece12

22. Pang Y, Lv J, Kartsonaki C, Yu C, Guo Y, Du H, et al. Association of physical activity with risk of hepatobiliary diseases in China: A prospective cohort study of 0.5 million people. *Br J Sports Med.* (2021) 55:1024–33. doi: 10.1136/bjsports-2020-102174

23. Searle SD, Mitnitski A, Gahbauer EA, Gill TM, Rockwood K. A standard procedure for creating a frailty index. *BMC Geriatr.* (2008) 8:24. doi: 10.1186/1471-2318-8-24

 Landre B, Fayosse A, Ben Hassen C, Machado-Fragua MD, Dumurgier J, Kivimaki M, et al. Terminal decline in objective and self-reported measures of motor function before death: 10 year follow-up of Whitehall II cohort study. *BMJ*. (2021) 374:n1743. doi: 10.1136/bmj.n1743

25. Roberts HC, Denison HJ, Martin HJ, Patel HP, Syddall H, Cooper C, et al. A review of the measurement of grip strength in clinical and epidemiological studies: Towards a standardised approach. *Age Ageing.* (2011) 40:423–9. doi: 10. 1093/ageing/afr051

26. James K, Schwartz AW, Orkaby AR. Mobility assessment in older adults. N Engl J Med. (2021) 385:e22. doi: 10.1056/NEJMvcm2009406

27. Twisk J, Hoekstra T. Classifying developmental trajectories over time should be done with great caution: a comparison between methods. *J Clin Epidemiol.* (2012) 65:1078–87. doi: 10.1016/j.jclinepi.2012.04.010

28. Pettee Gabriel K, Sternfeld B, Colvin A, Stewart A, Strotmeyer ES, Cauley JA, et al. Physical activity trajectories during midlife and subsequent risk of physical functioning decline in late mid-life: The study of women's health across the nation (SWAN). *Prev Med.* (2017) 105:287–94. doi: 10.1016/j.ypmed.2017.1 0.005

29. Brach JS, FitzGerald S, Newman AB, Kelsey S, Kuller L, VanSwearingen JM, et al. Physical activity and functional status in community-dwelling older women: A 14-year prospective study. *Arch Intern Med.* (2003) 163:2565–71. doi: 10.1001/archinte.163.21.2565

30. Laddu DR, Wertheim BC, Garcia DO, Brunner R, Groessl E, Shadyab AH, et al. Associations between self-reported physical activity and physical performance measures over time in postmenopausal women: The women's health initiative. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2017) 65:2176–81. doi: 10.1111/jgs.14991

31. de Souto Barreto P, Ferrandez AM. Static or dynamic predictors of physical activity (PA)? A tracking study based on 12- and 38-month follow-ups in older adults. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* (2014) 59:326–30. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2014.04.010

32. Middleton A, Fritz SL, Lusardi M. Walking speed: The functional vital sign. J Aging Phys Act. (2015) 23:314–22. doi: 10.1123/japa.2013-0236

33. Veronese N, Stubbs B, Volpato S, Zuliani G, Maggi S, Cesari M, et al. Association between gait speed with mortality, cardiovascular disease and cancer: A systematic review and meta-analysis of prospective cohort studies. *J Am Med Dir Assoc.* (2018) 19:981.e–8.e. doi: 10.1016/j.jamda.2018.06.007

34. Perera S, Mody SH, Woodman RC, Studenski SA. Meaningful change and responsiveness in common physical performance measures in older adults. *J Am Geriatr Soc.* (2006) 54:743–9. doi: 10.1111/j.1532-5415.2006.00701.x

35. Perera S, Studenski S, Newman A, Simonsick E, Harris T, Schwartz A, et al. Are estimates of meaningful decline in mobility performance consistent among clinically important subgroups? (Health ABC study). *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2014) 69:1260–8. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glu033

36. Porto JM, Nakaishi APM, Cangussu-Oliveira LM, Freire Júnior RC, Spilla SB, Abreu DCC. Relationship between grip strength and global muscle strength in community-dwelling older people. *Arch Gerontol Geriatr.* (2019) 82:273–8. doi: 10.1016/j.archger.2019.03.005

37. Granic A, Davies K, Jagger C, M Dodds R, Kirkwood TBL, Sayer AA. Initial level and rate of change in grip strength predict all-cause mortality in very old adults. *Age Ageing.* (2017) 46:970–6. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afx087

38. Syddall HE, Westbury LD, Dodds R, Dennison E, Cooper C, Sayer AA. Mortality in the hertfordshire ageing study: Association with level and loss of hand grip strength in later life. *Age Ageing*. (2017) 46:407–12. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afw222

39. Peterson MD, Zhang P, Duchowny KA, Markides KS, Ottenbacher KJ, Snih SA. Declines in strength and mortality risk among older Mexican Americans: Joint modeling of survival and longitudinal data. *J Gerontol A Biol Sci Med Sci.* (2016) 71:1646–52. doi: 10.1093/gerona/glw051

40. Makizako H, Shimada H, Doi T, Tsutsumimoto K, Nakakubo S, Hotta R, et al. Predictive cutoff values of the five-times sit-to-stand test and the timed "up & go" test for disability incidence in older people dwelling in the community. *Phys Ther.* (2017) 97:417–24. doi: 10.2522/ptj.20150665

41. Cruz-Jentoft AJ, Baeyens JP, Bauer JM, Boirie Y, Cederholm T, Landi F, et al. Sarcopenia: European consensus on definition and diagnosis. *Age Ageing*. (2010) 39:412–23. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afq034

42. Angulo J, El Assar M, Alvarez-Bustos A, Rodriguez-Manas L. Physical activity and exercise: Strategies to manage frailty. *Redox Biol.* (2020) 35:101513.

43. Gil-Salcedo A, Dugravot A, Fayosse A, Dumurgier J, Bouillon K, Schnitzler A, et al. Healthy behaviors at age 50 years and frailty at older ages in a 20-year follow-up of the UK Whitehall II cohort: A longitudinal study. *PLoS Med.* (2020) 17:e1003147. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.1003147

44. Borda MG, Pérez-Zepeda MU, Samper-Ternent R, Gómez RC, Avila-Funes JA, Cano-Gutierrez CA. The influence of lifestyle behaviors on the incidence of frailty. *J Frailty Aging*. (2020) 9:144–9. doi: 10.14283/jfa.2019.37

45. Li P, Lim ASP, Gao L, Hu C, Yu L, Bennett DA, et al. More random motor activity fluctuations predict incident frailty, disability, and mortality. *Sci Transl Med.* (2019) 11:eaax1977. doi: 10.1126/scitranslmed.aax1977

46. Yamada M, Kimura Y, Ishiyama D, Otobe Y, Suzuki M, Koyama S, et al. The influence of the COVID-19 pandemic on physical activity and new incidence of frailty among initially non-frail older adults in Japan: A follow-up online survey. J Nutr Health Aging. (2021) 25:751–6. doi: 10.1007/s12603-021-1634-2

47. Hamer M, de Oliveira C, Demakakos P. Non-exercise physical activity and survival: English longitudinal study of ageing. *Am J Prev Med.* (2014) 47:452–60.

48. McKechnie DGJ, Papacosta AO, Lennon LT, Ramsay SE, Whincup PH, Wannamethee SG. Associations between inflammation, cardiovascular biomarkers and incident frailty: The British regional heart study. Age Ageing. (2021) 50:1979– 87. doi: 10.1093/ageing/afab143

#### Check for updates

#### OPEN ACCESS

EDITED BY Gianfranco Spalletta, Santa Lucia Foundation (IRCCS), Italy

#### REVIEWED BY

Yinghua Guo, People's Liberation Army General Hospital, China Shuping Tan, Beijing Huilongguan Hospital, Peking University, China Nerisa Banaj, Santa Lucia Foundation (IRCCS), Italy

\*CORRESPONDENCE Lirong Liang Ilrcruie@163.com

#### SPECIALTY SECTION This article was submitted to Aging Psychiatry,

a section of the journal Frontiers in Psychiatry

RECEIVED 17 July 2022 ACCEPTED 29 September 2022 PUBLISHED 31 October 2022

#### CITATION

Feng L, Li J, Lv X, Chu S, Li C, Zhang R, Cao X and Liang L (2022) Temporal trends in anxiety and depression prevalence and their association with adverse outcomes in patients hospitalized for acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Beijing, China, from 2004 to 2020. *Front. Psychiatry* 13:996451.

doi: 10.3389/fpsyt.2022.996451

#### COPYRIGHT

© 2022 Feng, Li, Lv, Chu, Li, Zhang, Cao and Liang. This is an open-access article distributed under the terms of the Creative Commons Attribution License (CC BY). The use, distribution or reproduction in other forums is permitted, provided the original author(s) and the copyright owner(s) are credited and that the original publication in this journal is cited, in accordance with accepted academic practice. No use, distribution or reproduction is permitted which does not comply with these terms.

## Temporal trends in anxiety and depression prevalence and their association with adverse outcomes in patients hospitalized for acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease in Beijing, China, from 2004 to 2020

#### Lin Feng<sup>1</sup>, Jiachen Li<sup>1</sup>, Xiaoshuang Lv<sup>2</sup>, Shuilian Chu<sup>1</sup>, Changwei Li<sup>3</sup>, Ruiyuan Zhang<sup>3</sup>, Xi Cao<sup>3</sup> and Lirong Liang<sup>1\*</sup>

<sup>1</sup>Department of Clinical Epidemiology, Beijing Institute of Respiratory Medicine and Beijing Chao-Yang Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>2</sup>Department of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine, Beijing Institute of Respiratory Medicine and Beijing Chao-Yang Hospital, Capital Medical University, Beijing, China, <sup>3</sup>Department of Epidemiology, Tulane University School of Public Health and Tropical Medicine, New Orleans, LA, United States

**Aims:** To investigate the temporal trend in anxiety and/or depression prevalence in patients hospitalized for acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (AECOPD) in Beijing and their association with adverse outcomes.

**Materials and methods:** Hospital admission records from 2004 to 2020 with a primary discharge diagnosis of AECOPD were retrieved from Beijing Public Health Information Centre database. The anxiety and depression were identified from discharge diagnoses of each record. Joinpoint regression was used to analyze the temporal trend and calculate the annual percentage change (APC) for the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression. Generalized linear model was used to analyze the associations between anxiety and/or depression and patients' adverse outcomes.

**Results:** A total of 382,125 records were included, most of which were male (66.0%) and aged  $\geq$  75 years (59.7%). Three segments in the temporal trend were observed, with a mild increase during 2004–2009 (APC: 5.9%, 95% CI: -14.9 to 31.7%), followed by a sharply increase during 2009–2012 (APC: 60.4%, 95% CI: 10.6 to 132.7%), then stabilized at about 3% during 2012–2020 (APC: 1.9%, 95% CI: -0.4 to 4.3%). On average, anxiety, and/or depression was more prevalent in females, the aged and those admitted in secondary

hospitals (all P < 0.001). Patients with anxiety and/or depression had lower in-hospital mortality (IHM) (OR = 0.74, 95% CI: 0.63–0.88), but longer hospital stay (OR = 1.10, 95% CI: 1.07–1.13), more medical costs (OR = 1.12, 95% CI: 1.08–1.17) and higher risks of readmission for AECOPD at 30-, 90-, 180-day, and 1-year (ORs ranged from 1.22 to 1.51).

**Conclusion:** The prevalence of anxiety and/or depression in patients hospitalized for AECOPD in Beijing stabilized at approximately 3% after 2012. Anxiety and/or depression is associated with a heavier burden on patients, health care, and medical insurance systems. Appropriate diagnosis and effective treatment of anxiety and depression is crucial for patients with AECOPD.

KEYWORDS

anxiety, depression, chronic obstructive pulmonary disease, temporal trend, influence, China

#### Introduction

Chronic Obstructive Pulmonary Disease (COPD) is one of the top three global causes of death and top ten global causes of disability-adjusted life years (DALYs) (1). Anxiety and depression are common in patients with COPD, with an estimated prevalence of 6–74% and 8–80%, respectively (2–7). As important comorbidities in COPD, anxiety and depression are associated with increased risks of exacerbations (2, 8), emergency care use (9), and medical costs (10), contributing to a substantial disease burden of COPD (6).

It's worth noting that most of results reported in previous studies related to the prevalence, associated factors and influences of depression and/or anxiety were restricted to stable COPD patients from outpatient or community settings (2, 9, 11). Different from those with stable COPD, patients hospitalized for acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (AECOPD) are often in a severer physical condition and worse quality of life (12), which are closely related to the occurrence of depression and/or anxiety symptoms (3). Meanwhile the presence of depression and/or anxiety could also worsen the condition of COPD as well as the quality of life of patients (13–15). Accordingly, the anxiety and depression could be more prevalent among patients hospitalized for AECOPD than those with stable COPD, but limited data has been reported in the previous study.

Apart from the point prevalence, the temporal trends of anxiety and depression prevalence in AECOPD are also of paramount importance in understanding the changes in mental health status over time, which has significant implications for health policy and healthcare provision in systematically influencing clinical practice (16). Although of high priority (12, 17), the existing literature fails to assess the temporal trends in the prevalence of anxiety and depression among those hospitalized for AECOPD.

In the meantime, there is still controversy regarding the impact of anxiety and depression on the prognosis of patients hospitalized for AECOPD. Some authors have reported a worse disease progression (18–20), while others have failed to find any link between anxiety nor depression and a worse prognosis (8, 21). More evidence from large-sample representative study is needed.

Therefore, the present study focused on patients hospitalized for AECOPD with two aims: (1) to describe the temporal trends of anxiety and/or depression prevalence among patients hospitalized for AECOPD in Beijing; (2) to estimate the associations between comorbid anxiety and/or depression and the in-hospital outcomes as well as the risks of readmission for AECOPD within 1-year after discharge.

#### Materials and methods

#### Study design

This study is a city-wide electronic medical records (EMR) -based study of patients hospitalized for AECOPD in Beijing, with a cross-sectional study design to describe the temporal trends of the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression, along with a retrospective cohort study design to estimate the associations between anxiety and/or depression and the in-hospital outcomes as well as the risks of readmission for AECOPD at 30-, 90-, 180-days, and 1-year.

The present study was approved by the Research Ethics Board of Beijing Chaoyang Hospital (2018-ke-303). Data were de-identified before analysis. It is impossible to identify patients at the individual level either in this article or in the retrieved database. Given the anonymous and mandatory nature of the data, informed consent was not required or necessary.

#### Data source

AECOPD hospitalization records were retrieved form a hospital discharge database operated by the Beijing Public Health Information Centre. This database covers discharge records from all secondary- and tertiary-level hospitals in Beijing. As only secondary- and tertiary-level hospitals could provide inpatient service, this database provides good representative of hospitalized patients in Beijing and can be used to analyze hospitalization outcomes. These patient-level records contain data on patient's demographic characteristics, hospital name, date of admission, discharge diagnoses along with corresponding International Classification of Diseases, 10th Revision (ICD-10) codes, and so on. All hospitalization records for patients aged  $\geq 20$  years with a primary discharge diagnosis of AECOPD (ICD-10 codes of J44.0-J44.9) from January 1st 2004 to December 30th 2020 were included in the current analyses.

#### Measurement

Anxiety (ICD-10 codes of F40.0-F40.9, F41.1-F41.9) and depression (ICD-10 codes of F32.0-F32.9, F33.0-F33.9, F41.2) were identified from discharge diagnoses in each hospitalization record. Patients with only anxiety diagnosis, only depression diagnosis, both anxiety and depression diagnoses were considered as in the only anxiety subtype, only depression subtype, and both anxiety and depression subtype. The other combined diseases were also identified from discharge diagnoses and the corresponding Charlson Comorbidity Index (CCI) was calculated (22). Use of mechanical ventilation (MV), including non-invasive MV and invasive MV, was determined using ICD-10 code J15.501, which was available in the dataset from 2012 to 2020. The length of hospital stay (LOHS) was defined as days from admission to discharge of each record. The medical cost was total cost during each hospitalization and was converted into 2020 Chinese Yuan (CNY) values (1 CNY = 0.145 US dollar) based on the year-specific health care consumer price index of China (23). The readmission for acute exacerbation was defined as another hospitalization with a primary diagnosis of AECOPD (ICD-10 codes of J44.0-J44.9) happened afterward (within 30-, 90-, 180-days, 1-year), which was identified in our hospital discharge database.

#### Statistical analysis

Descriptive statistics were presented as means and standard deviations or medians and interquartile ranges for

continuous variables with or without normal distributions and as frequencies and percentages for categorical variables. Characteristics between groups were compared using  $\chi^2$ -test or Fisher's exact test for nominal categorical data, the Mantel-Haenszel Chi-Square test for ordered categorical data, and the Wilcoxon rank sum test or Kruskal-Wallis test for continuous variables without normal distribution, respectively.

The prevalence of anxiety and/or depression and the subtypes (only depression, only anxiety, both anxiety and depression) were presented annually in the total hospitalization records for AECOPD as well as the subgroups defined by gender, age group and institute level. The temporal trend analyses were conducted using Joinpoint Regression Program developed by United States National Cancer Institute. The turning points in the temporal trend of the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression could be identified and the annual percentage change (APC) for each time segment could be calculated. The program assumes that proportions changed at a constant percentage every year on a log scale in each time segment. The average annual percent change (AAPC)-a weighted average of APCs from the Joinpoint models, with weights equal to the length of the APC interval-was also computed as a summary measure of the trend over the whole observation period.

The generalized linear models were used to investigate the associations between co-diagnosis of anxiety and/or depression and patients' prognoses, with a random effect to account for multiple hospitalization records of one patient. The binominal distribution and logit link were used to investigate the associations between co-diagnosis of anxiety and/or depression and receiving MV, in-hospital mortality (IHM) and readmission for AECOPD after discharge. The gamma distribution and log link were used to investigate the associations between co-diagnosis of anxiety and/or depression and log link were used to investigate the associations between co-diagnosis of anxiety and/or depression and LOHS, medical costs. Model covariates included admission year, gender, age, CCI, and institute level. Statistical analyses were performed using SAS 9.4 (SAS Institute Inc., Cary, NC, USA). Statistical significance was set as two-sided P < 0.05.

#### Results

# Patients' characteristics and the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression

A total of 382,125 patient discharge records were identified, submitted by 78 tertiary hospitals and 77 secondary hospitals. Most patients (59.6%) were 75 years old or older and 66.0% of them were male. The types of anxiety and depression diagnosis and the corresponding ICD-10 code were shown in **Supplementary Table 1**. As shown in **Table 1**, a total of 2.1% (7,912 of 382,125) patients had a co-diagnosis of anxiety and/or depression. The prevalence of anxiety and/or depression was higher for females than for males and increased with age,

	Total	With anxiety and/or depression	Р
Overall	382,125	7,912 (2.1%)	
Gender			
Male	252,055	4,438 (1.8%)	< 0.001
Female	130,070	3,474 (2.7%)	
Age			
Median (IQR)	77.0 (69.0-83.0)	79.0 (72.0-84.0)	
20-59 years	28,893	367 (1.3%)	< 0.001
60-74 years	125,190	2,145 (1.7%)	
$\geq$ 75 years	228,042	5,400 (2.4%)	
P trend			< 0.001
Institute level			
Secondary hospitals	108,861	2,424 (2.2%)	< 0.001
Tertiary hospitals	269,824	5,368 (2.0%)	
Charlson comorbidit	y index		
0	148,424	3,182 (2.1%)	0.012
1	128,378	2,656 (2.1%)	
$\geq 2$	105,157	2,074 (2.0%)	
P trend			0.003

TABLE 1 The characteristics and the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression among patients hospitalized for AECOPD from 2004 to 2020 in Beijing, China.

IQR, interquartile range; Institute level missing (n = 3,440), Charlson Comorbidity Index missing (n = 166).

with the highest prevalence seen among patients aged  $\geq$  75 years (all *P* < 0.001). Details about the prevalence of its subtypes are showed in **Supplementary Table 2**.

#### Trends of anxiety and/or depression in patients hospitalized for acute exacerbation of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 2004–2020

Figure 1A shows the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression and its subtypes among patients with AECOPD for each calendar year. During the observation period, the prevalence increased significantly from 0.3% in 2004 to 3.1% in 2020. Trends in the prevalence of three subtypes exhibit different patterns (Figure 1B). During 2004–2012, the prevalence of only anxiety increased continuously, and then stabilized at about 1%. The prevalence of only depression and the prevalence of both anxiety and depression stayed at about 0.1% during 2004–2011. In 2012, the former increased sharply and stabilized at about 1%, while the latter has been increasing since 2011 and reaching about 1% in 2020. The annual prevalence data are in Supplementary Table 3.

The temporal trends in the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression were compared by subgroups and the corresponding

results are displayed in **Figure 2**. The prevalence for female patients were close to those for male patients from 2004 to 2011, and then became almost twice as those for male patients. The prevalence for three age groups all fluctuated during study period, and mainly manifested as the older age the higher the prevalence. However, the prevalence for patients aged 20–59 years old exceeded that for patients aged 60–74 years old in 2020. The temporal trends in the prevalence for patients in secondary hospitals and for those in tertiary hospitals were similar during study period, with sharp increases in 2011 and 2012. The temporal trends in the prevalence of three subtypes stratified by subgroups are showed in **Supplementary Figures 1–3**.

In Joinpoint Regression, the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression increased significantly during study period with an AAPC of 12.3% [95% confidence interval (CI): 3.1 to 22.3%]. Two turning points with three segments were observed in the temporal trend of prevalence, with a mild increase during 2004-2009 (APC: 5.9%, 95% CI: -14.9 to 31.7%), followed by a sharply increase during 2009-2012 (APC: 60.4%, 95% CI: 10.6 to 132.7%), and then stabilized during 2012-2020 (APC: 1.9%, 95% CI: -0.4 to 4.3%). In subgroups, APCs for female patients increased during 2012-2020 with 5.8% (95% CI: 2.6 to 9.0%) while male patients did not have a significant change during that period (APC: 0.6%, 95% CI: -1.9 to 3.1%). Over the entire observation period, patients aged 20-59 had a continuous upward trend without a significant turning point; while in 2012, one turning point was found in those aged 60-74; and in 2009 and 2012, two turning points were found in those aged  $\geq$  75. During 2009–2012, the APC of secondary hospitals was higher than that of tertiary hospitals (73.1% vs. 54.9%) (details in Table 2).

# The associations of anxiety and/or depression and patients' outcomes

As shown in **Table 3**, patients with anxiety and/or depression had lower IHM (2.1% vs. 3.0%), longer LOHS (13.0 days vs. 12.5 days), more medical cost (19,515 CNY vs. 17,004 CNY), but similar mechanical ventilation rates (5.5% vs. 5.2%, P = 0.356). Among those alive at discharge and followed up at least for 1 year, patients with anxiety and/or depression had higher risks of readmission for AECOPD at 30-day (20.5% vs. 16.9%), 90-day (32.95 vs. 25.7%), 180-day (42.2% vs. 33.2%), and 1-year (53.6% vs. 43.3%) (all P < 0.001). Patients in three different subtypes had different mechanical ventilation rates, LOHS and risks of readmission for AECOPD after discharge (all P < 0.001).

After multivariate adjustment, patients with anxiety and/or depression still had a lower risk of IHM (OR = 0.74, 95% CI: 0.63 to 0.88), but longer LOHS (OR = 1.10, 95% CI: 1.07 to 1.13), more medical costs (OR = 1.12, 95% CI: 1.08 to 1.17) and higher



risks of readmission for AECOPD after discharge at 30-day (OR = 1.22, 95% CI: 1.04 to 1.43), 90-day (OR = 1.39, 95% CI: 1.24 to 1.55), 180-day (OR = 1.44, 95% CI: 1.31 to 1.59) and 1-year (OR = 1.51, 95% CI: 1.38 to 1.64). Details in Table 4.

The multivariate analyses of only depression, only anxiety, both depression and anxiety on the in-hospital outcomes and readmission for AECOPD were shown in **Supplementary Table 4**. No significant difference was observed among three different subtypes except for the LOHS (*P* for interaction, 0.020).

#### Discussion

During the observation period of this EMR-based observational study, the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression increased sharply from 2009 to 2012, before stabilizing at approximately 3%. The prevalence of subtypes of anxiety and/or depression and subgroups stratified by gender, age group and institute level all increased, however, they showed varying temporal patterns. Anxiety and/or depression was more prevalent among the elderly, female patients and those hospitalized in secondary hospitals. Patients with anxiety and/or depression had a lower risk of IHM, but longer LOHS and higher medical costs, as well as higher risks of readmission for AECOPD after discharge within 1 year.

During 2009–2012, the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression among AECOPD inpatients increased sharply. An improvement of the regional mental health service system leading by local government could be responsible for this increase (24). All general hospitals in Beijing were required to establish psychiatric departments (25). Psychiatric specialists provided extensive training to clinicians in general hospitals, and marked increases in psychiatric beds and psychiatric professionals were observed (25).



Our results indicate that the systemic improvement in the diagnostic capacity of common mental disorders in general hospitals, particularly in secondary hospitals. Since 2012, the prevalence of depression and/or anxiety among AECOPD inpatients has remained stable, fluctuating between 2.4 and 3.1%. This may be indicative of the true prevalence of comorbid anxiety and depression among **AECOPD** inpatients.

Diagnosis of anxiety and depression is essential to delivering effective psychiatric treatments for AECOPD patients. In recent years, approximately 3% AECOPD inpatients were codiagnosed with anxiety and/or depression in Beijing, which is lower than those reported in Taiwan (depression: 9.0%) and the United States (anxiety: 9.6%; depression: 14.2%) (19, 21). This difference can be attributed to several factors. It relates, in part, to the difficulty in identifying and diagnosing anxiety and depression among AECOPD inpatients. Symptoms of these mental disorders are similar to those of AECOPD,

	Overall trend	p	L '	Trend segment 1 <sup>a</sup>		Trenc	Trend segment 2			Trend segment 3	
	AAPC (95% CI)	Р	Period	APC (95% CI)	Ρ	Period	APC (95% CI)	Ρ	Period	APC (95% CI)	Ρ
Overall	12.3 (3.1, 22.3)	0.008	2004-2009	5.9(-14.9,31.7)	0.570	2009-2012	60.4(10.6,132.7)	0.018	2012-2020	1.9 (-0.4, 4.3)	0.093
Gender											
Male	11.6 (1.6, 22.6)	0.023	2004-2009	6.1 (-15.9, 33.8)	0.577	2009-2012	60.1 $(4.4, 145.6)$	0.035	2012-2020	0.6 (-1.9, 3.1)	0.605
Female	14.1 (2.3, 27.3)	0.018	2004-2009	4.6 (-22.0, 40.2)	0.738	2009-2012	61.7 (2.5, 155.3)	0.041	2012-2020	5.8(2.6,9.0)	0.002
Age group											
20-59	10.1(4.9, 15.6)	0.001	$2005-2020^{b}$	10.1 (4.9, 15.6)	< 0.001						
60-74	14.7 (9.4, 20.2)	< 0.001	2004-2012	29.6(17.6, 42.9)	< 0.001	2012-2020	$1.4 \left(-2.1, 5.1\right)$	0.399			
$\geq 75$	14.1 (5.7, 23.1)	0.001	2004-2009	8.7 (-11.9, 34.2)	0.391	2009-2012	63.5 (20.6,121.7)	0.005	2012-2020	2.7(0.8, 4.6)	0.009
Institute level											
Secondary	14.5 (5.4, 24.3)	0.001	2004-2009	9.1 (-12.2, 35.6)	0.387	2009-2012	73.1 (21.9,145.7)	0.006	2012-2020	1.0(-1.0, 3.1)	0.281
Tertiary	11.5(-0.6, 25.0)	0.062	2004-2009	4.9 (-21.6, 40.4)	0.717	2009-2012	54.9 (-6.2,155.8)	0.080	2012-2020	2.3 (-0.9, 5.7)	0.143

<sup>b</sup>No patient aged 20–59 year diagnosed with depression and/or anxiety in 2004.

	With an	xiety and/or depres	ssion		Subtypes		
	Yes N = 7,912	NO N = 37,4213	Р	Only depression N = 2,911	Only anxiety $N = 3,288$	Both N = 1,713	Р
Receiving mechanical ventilation, $n$ (%) <sup>a</sup>	384 (5.5)	13,678 (5.2)	0.356	146 (5.3)	180 (6.8)	58 (3.7)	< 0.001
In-hospital mortality, <i>n</i> (%) <sup>b</sup>	162 (2.1)	10,708 (3.0)	< 0.001	55 (1.9)	77 (2.4)	30 (1.8)	0.265
Length of hospital stay, day, median (IQR)	13.0 (9.0–18.0)	12.5 (8.9–17.2)	< 0.001	12.9 (9.0–17.0)	13.0 (9.0–19.8)	13.0 (9.0–17.0)	< 0.001
Medical cost, CNY <sup>c</sup> , median (IQR)	19,515 (13,127–30,160)	17,004 (11,445–25,808)	< 0.001	19,148 (12,978–28,924)	19,653 (13,046–31,224)	19,783 (13,700–30,407)	0.064
30–day readmission for AECOPD, <i>n</i> (%) <sup>d</sup>	1,493 (20.5)	5,8970 (16.9)	< 0.001	625 (21.9)	597 (18.6)	364 (21.6)	0.003
90-day readmission for AECOPD, <i>n</i> (%) <sup>d</sup>	2,404 (32.9)	8,9939 (25.7)	< 0.001	954 (33.4)	993 (30.9)	601 (35.7)	0.002
180-day readmission for AECOPD, <i>n</i> (%) <sup>d</sup>	3,080 (42.2)	11,6129 (33.2)	< 0.001	1,225 (42.9)	1,260 (39.2)	768 (45.65)	< 0.001
1-year readmission for AECOPD, <i>n</i> (%) <sup>d</sup>	3,910 (53.6)	15,1169 (43.3)	< 0.001	1,511 (52.9)	1,636 (51.0)	949 (56.4)	0.001

TABLE 3 The differences in in-hospital outcomes and the risks of readmission for AECOPD after discharge between those with anxiety and/or depression and those without.

IQR, interquartile range; Fisher's exact test for binary variables; Wilcoxon rank sum test and Kruskal-Wallis test for continuous variables.

<sup>a</sup>Hospitalization recodes in 2012–2020, N = 268,456.

<sup>b</sup>Hospitalization recodes in 2007–2020, N = 361,776.

<sup>c</sup>Converted to CNY 2020.

 $^{\rm d}{\rm Hospitalization}$  recodes a live at discharge in 2004–2019, N = 356,862.

TABLE 4 The multivariate analyses of the associations between depression or anxiety and patients' in-hospital outcomes and the risks of readmission for AECOPD after discharge.

	Model 1		Model 2	
	Odds ratio (95% CI)	Р	Odds ratio (95% CI)	Р
Receiving mechanical ventilation <sup>a</sup>	1.06 (0.74, 1.51)	0.759	1.09 (0.76, 1.56)	0.648
In-hospital mortality <sup>b</sup>	0.73 (0.62, 0.86)	< 0.001	0.74 (0.63, 0.88)	< 0.001
Length of hospital stay	1.09 (1.05, 1.12)	< 0.001	1.10 (1.07, 1.13)	< 0.001
Medical cost	1.10 (1.05, 1.15)	< 0.001	1.12 (1.08, 1.17)	< 0.001
30-day readmission for AECOPD <sup>c</sup>	1.11 (0.94, 1.30)	0.214	1.22 (1.04, 1.43)	0.015
90-day readmission for AECOPD <sup>c</sup>	1.28 (1.14, 1.43)	< 0.001	1.39 (1.24, 1.55)	< 0.001
180-day readmission for AECOPD <sup>c</sup>	1.35 (1.22, 1.48)	< 0.001	1.44 (1.31, 1.59)	< 0.001
1-year readmission for AECOPD <sup>c</sup>	1.43 (1.31, 1.56)	< 0.001	1.51 (1.38, 1.64)	< 0.001

Model 1: adjusted for admission year.

Model 2: adjusted for sex, continuous age, continuous Charlson Comorbidity Index, institute level and admission year.

CI, confidence interval.

<sup>a</sup>Hospitalization recodes in 2012–2020, N = 268,456.

<sup>b</sup>Hospitalization recodes in 2007–2020, N = 361,776.

<sup>c</sup>Hospitalization recodes alive at discharge in 2004–2019, N = 356,862.

including dyspnea, oppression in chest, palpitations, fatigue, sleep disturbances, loss of appetite, reduced physical activity, and hopelessness (4, 26). Therefore, there is a need for more experienced psychiatric professionals as well as a well-established system to improve future diagnosis capabilities. On the other hand, in previous studies, psychological scales such as the Hospital Anxiety and Depression Scale (HADS) and

Hamilton Anxiety Rating Scale (HAMA) were used to detect AECOPD patients suffering from anxiety and/or depression (3, 8, 20). Accordingly, these studies reported higher prevalence of anxiety and depression than we did (ranging from 44.4 to 68.2%) (3, 8). It should be noted, however, that anxiety and depression based on scales may be affected by AECOPD symptoms (27), these measures are not comparable to the clinical diagnoses (28).

10.3389/fpsyt.2022.996451

The results of another EMR-based study of 26,591 veterans with AECOPD admissions in the United States, of whom 97% were male, showed that those with anxiety and/or depression were younger than those without psychiatric comorbidity, who had an average age of 61.9 years and 3.1 comorbid diagnoses on average (18). By contrast, anxiety and/or depression was more prevalent among the elderly in our study. Perhaps this is due to the difference in the study populations, as veterans may be more likely to get anxiety and depression from their prior war experience (29). Moreover, similar to a previous study, female patients with AECOPD were more likely to experience anxiety and depression (18). This could be explained as female patients are more sensitive to respiratory symptoms, experiencing more negative emotions, thus leading to higher risks of anxiety and depression (30). Furthermore, female COPD patients are more likely to face barriers to receiving appropriate treatment (31). Poor female COPD management may also contribute to the progression of the disease, increasing their risk of depression and anxiety. In addition, an increasing prevalence of anxiety and depression in patients with AECOPD aged 20-59 years in recent years was observed. There is still much uncertainty about the causes, but more attentions should be paid to mental health among young and middle-aged people and explore their influences.

After the COVID-19 pandemic outbreak, the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression increased by about 15% (from 2.7 to 3.1%). This slight increase could be due to a number of factors. As a result of the uncertainties and fears of the virus infection, mass lockdowns and economic recession, people have higher psychological distress during the COVID-19 pandemic (32, 33). Furthermore, COPD patients are more likely to experience disorders of mental illness during COVID-19 pandemic because of worse access to necessary medical care for COPD (34, 35). In view of the fact that our study period ended in 2020, more data in subsequent years are required to determine whether the COVID-19 pandemic has a profound impact on the prevalence of anxiety and depression among patients hospitalized for AECOPD.

In a retrospective study of Taiwan's health insurance database, which included 4,204 first-ever AECOPD patients, 73% were male and the mean age was 75 years, those dying in hospital (7.4%) had less depression than those survived (9.1%) (21). Similarly, we found AECOPD patients with anxiety and/or depression was associated with a lower risk of IHM. This association has not been fully elucidated. According to previous studies, COPD patients suffering from anxiety and/or depression could not objectively evaluate their condition and might experience subjectively worsening lung disease (36, 37). AECOPD inpatients with anxiety and/or depression may overestimate the severity of an exacerbation and, therefore, are not in as severe physical condition as those without anxiety nor depression. Due to the lack of severity measurements, neither

our study nor the other study in Taiwan were able to evaluate this hypothesis. For a more conclusive conclusion, a prospective cohort study is required. Moreover, we observed patients with anxiety and/or depression had longer LOS and spent more money in the hospital. This association was also observed in a prospective cohort study that excluded patients who died during their hospitalization (38). The explanation for this association is still unclear. Even so, anxiety and depression are undoubtedly important burden for AECOPD patients, the health care systems and the medical insurance systems.

In our prospective study of 504 patients with stable COPD, anxiety and depression were associated with an increased risk of acute exacerbations in the following year (11). Similarly, our present study demonstrates that comorbid anxiety and/or depression is associated with increased the risks of 30-, 90-, 180-days, and 1-year readmission for AECOPD in patients hospitalized for AECOPD, which has not been reported before. There are several mechanisms that linking anxiety and depression to the prognosis of COPD. Physiologically, anxiety and depression can activate the sympathetic nervous system and the hypothalamic-pituitaryadrenal axis, leading to a weakened immune system and increased vulnerability to respiratory infection and exacerbation of COPD (39, 40). Psychologically, COPD patients with anxiety and/or depression have decreased self-efficacy, resulting in insufficient management of their diseases manifested as poor medication adherence and participation in pulmonary rehabilitation (41-43).

Anxiety and depression are extra-pulmonary treatable traits of COPD patients (17). In current clinical guideline, there is no evidence that anxiety and depression should be treated differently in the presence of COPD (12). Moreover, recent studies showed that some COPD treatments such as mind-body exercise, breathing-based walking, and pulmonary rehabilitation could also improve patients' anxiety and depression symptoms (44–46). Multidisciplinary disease management for COPD patients with psychological assessment and follow-up by clinical psychologist also showed promising preliminary results (47). Consequently, it is imperative to identify anxiety and depression in COPD patients, especially those with acute exacerbations, in order to provide them with adequate psychological treatment and ultimately improve their prognosis.

#### Strengths and limitations

This is, to the best of our knowledge, the first and largest long-term study conducted in a city over a 17year period, using a representative database of AECOPD hospitalizations. Additionally, we used the Joinpoint Regression Program to identify points where these trends changed and to estimate the APC to uncover underlying causes, such as changes in policy or program implementation at specific points in time. There are also several limitations should be noted. First, as with all studies utilizing medical records, it was impossible for us to determine whether a hospitalization record was for a patient experiencing their first episode of anxiety and/or depression or for a patient experiencing recurrent episodes. The lack of data in our database also prevented us from examining the potential effects of socioeconomic status, smoking, or alcohol consumption, exacerbation severity, and pharmaceutical treatments on comorbid anxiety and/or depression. Second, anxiety and/or depression is likely to be underdiagnosed in our study population, resulting in systematically underestimated prevalence rates in AECOPD inpatients. And the temporal trends in our study mixed the changes of prevalence and improvements in diagnostic capability. Taken together, our temporal trend does not accurately reflect the "true" epidemic trend in anxiety and/or depression in patients hospitalized for AECOPD. However, we provide with useful information for policymakers regarding the prevalence of anxiety and depression among patients hospitalized with AECOPD. Third, no temporal trend analysis for only anxiety, only depression, both anxiety and depression was conducted because their prevalence are too low to fit the Joinpoint regression model. Fourth, there is inevitably survivor bias in a retrospective cohort, which may lead to a null interpretation for anxiety and depression being associated with patients' prognoses, particularly IHM. Finally, the data are from Beijing, and our findings may not be generalizable to patients with AECOPD in other provinces of China. Future studies using nationwide records are warranted to better reflect the burden of this condition in China as a whole.

#### Conclusion

Our study showed that the prevalence of anxiety and/or depression among patients hospitalized for AECOPD in Beijing stabilized at approximately 3% after a sharp increase during 2009–2012. Anxiety and/or depression is associated with a longer LOS, more medical cost, and higher risk of readmission for AECOPD. It is imperative to identify anxiety and depression in AECOPD patients, and to provide them with adequate psychological treatment and ultimately to reduce the disease burden on patients, health care and medical insurance systems.

#### Data availability statement

The original contributions presented in the study are included in the article/Supplementary material, further inquiries can be directed to the corresponding author.

#### **Ethics statement**

The studies involving human participants were reviewed and approved by the Research Ethics Board of Beijing Chaoyang Hospital (2018-ke-303). The ethics committee waived the requirement of written informed consent for participation.

#### Author contributions

LF and LL designed the analysis. LL acquired the data resource, supervised the work, and edited the final version of the manuscript. LF analyzed the data and wrote the first draft. JL, XL, SC, CL, RZ, and XC provided expertise as well as edited the contents of the manuscript. All authors contributed to the article and approved the submitted version.

#### Funding

This work was supported by grants from the Beijing Municipal Science and Technology Commission (grant no. Z201100005520028).

#### Acknowledgments

We thank the data collection teams.

#### **Conflict of interest**

The authors declare that the research was conducted in the absence of any commercial or financial relationships that could be construed as a potential conflict of interest.

#### Publisher's note

All claims expressed in this article are solely those of the authors and do not necessarily represent those of their affiliated organizations, or those of the publisher, the editors and the reviewers. Any product that may be evaluated in this article, or claim that may be made by its manufacturer, is not guaranteed or endorsed by the publisher.

#### Supplementary material

The Supplementary Material for this article can be found online at: https://www.frontiersin.org/articles/10.3389/ fpsyt.2022.996451/full#supplementary-material

#### References

1. World Health Organization. *The Global Health Observatory, Global Health Estimates: Life Expectancy and Leading Causes of Death and Disability.* (2022). Available online at: https://www.who.int/data/gho/data/themes/mortality-and-global-health-estimates (Accessed February 2022).

2. Lou P, Chen P, Zhang P, Yu J, Wang Y, Chen N, et al. Effects of smoking, depression, and anxiety on mortality in Copd patients: a prospective study. *Respir Care.* (2014) 59:54–61. doi: 10.4187/respcare.02487

3. Long J, Ouyang Y, Duan H, Xiang Z, Ma H, Ju M, et al. Multiple factor analysis of depression and/or anxiety in patients with acute exacerbation chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2020) 15:1449–64. doi: 10.2147/copd.S245842

4. Willgoss TG, Yohannes AM. Anxiety disorders in patients with Copd: a systematic review. *Respir Care.* (2013) 58:858–66. doi: 10.4187/respcare.01862

5. Zhang MW, Ho RC, Cheung MW, Fu E, Mak A. Prevalence of depressive symptoms in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a systematic review, meta-analysis and meta-regression. *Gen Hosp Psychiatry*. (2011) 33:217–23. doi: 10.1016/j.genhosppsych.2011.03.009

6. Zareifopoulos N, Bellou A, Spiropoulou A, Spiropoulos K. Prevalence, contribution to disease burden and management of comorbid depression and anxiety in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a narrative review. *COPD.* (2019) 16:406–17. doi: 10.1080/15412555.2019.1679102

7. Yohannes AM, Willgoss TG, Baldwin RC, Connolly MJ. Depression and anxiety in chronic heart failure and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: prevalence, relevance, clinical implications and management principles. *Int J Geriatr Psychiatry*. (2010) 25:1209–21. doi: 10.1002/gps.2463

8. Martinez-Gestoso S, Garcia-Sanz MT, Carreira JM, Salgado FJ, Calvo-Alvarez U, Doval-Oubina L, et al. Impact of anxiety and depression on the prognosis of copd exacerbations. *BMC Pulm Med.* (2022) 22:169. doi: 10.1186/s12890-022-01934-y

9. Blakemore A, Dickens C, Chew-Graham CA, Afzal CW, Tomenson B, Coventry PA, et al. Depression predicts emergency care use in people with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a large cohort study in primary care. *Int J Chronic obstruct Pulm Dis.* (2019) 14:1343–53. doi: 10.2147/COPD.S179109

10. Pollok J, van Agteren JE, Esterman AJ, Carson-Chahhoud KV. Psychological therapies for the treatment of depression in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev.* (2019) 3:CD012347. doi: 10.1002/14651858. CD012347.pub2

11. Huang J, Bian Y, Zhao Y, Jin Z, Liu L, Li G. The impact of depression and anxiety on chronic obstructive pulmonary disease acute exacerbations: a prospective cohort study. *J Affect Disord.* (2021) 281:147–52. doi: 10.1016/j.jad. 2020.12.030

12. Global Initiative for Chronic Obstructive Lung Disease, *Gold Reports 2022*. (2022). Available online at: https://Goldcopd.Org/2022-Gold-Reports-2/ (accessed March 1, 2022).

13. Salte K, Titlestad I, Halling A. Depression is associated with poor prognosis in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease - a systematic review. *Dan Med J.* (2015) 62:A5137.

14. Pooler A, Beech R. Examining the relationship between anxiety and depression and exacerbations of Copd which result in hospital admission: a systematic review. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2014) 9:315–30. doi: 10.2147/ copd.S53255

15. Pedrozo-Pupo JC, Campo-Arias A, Ceballos-Ospino GA. Quality of life and depression in copd patients in the Colombian Caribbean. *Clin Respir J.* (2021) 15:944–8. doi: 10.1111/crj.13385

16. Tran J, Norton R, Conrad N, Rahimian F, Canoy D, Nazarzadeh M, et al. Patterns and temporal trends of comorbidity among adult patients with incident cardiovascular disease in the Uk between 2000 and 2014: a population-based cohort study. *PLoS Med.* (2018) 15:e1002513. doi: 10.1371/journal.pmed.100 2513

17. Cardoso J, Ferreira AJ, Guimarães M, Oliveira AS, Simão P, Sucena M. Treatable traits in copd – a proposed approach. *Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis.* (2021) 16:3167–82. doi: 10.2147/copd.S330817

18. Abrams TE, Vaughan-Sarrazin M, Van der Weg MW. Acute exacerbations of chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and the effect of existing psychiatric comorbidity on subsequent mortality. *Psychosomatics.* (2011) 52:441–9. doi: 10. 1016/j.psym.2011.03.005

19. Singh G, Zhang W, Kuo YF, Sharma G. Association of psychological disorders with 30-day readmission rates in patients with copd. *Chest.* (2016) 149:905–15. doi: 10.1378/chest.15-0449

20. Alqahtani JS, Aldabayan YS, Aldhahir AM, Al Rajeh AM, Mandal S, Hurst JR. Predictors of 30- and 90-day Copd exacerbation readmission: a prospective cohort study. Int J Chron Obstruct Pulmon Dis. (2021) 16:2769–81. doi: 10.2147/COPD. \$328030

21. Ho TW, Tsai YJ, Ruan SY, Huang CT, Lai F, Yu CJ, et al. In-hospital and one-year mortality and their predictors in patients hospitalized for first-ever chronic obstructive pulmonary disease exacerbations: a nationwide population-based study. *PLoS One.* (2014) 9:e114866. doi: 10.1371/journal.pone.0114866

22. Charlson ME, Pompei P, Ales KL, MacKenzie CR. A new method of classifying prognostic comorbidity in longitudinal studies: development and validation. *J Chronic Dis.* (1987) 40:373–83. doi: 10.1016/0021-9681(87)90171-8

23. Compiled by National Bureau of Statistics China. *China Statistical Yearbook* [*Internet*]. Xicheng: Compiled by National Bureau of Statistics China (2021).

24. The People's Government of Beijing Municipality. Guidelines on strengthening the construction and development of Beijing mental health service system. *Bull Beijing Municipal Peoples Govern*. (2011) 28:64–8.

25. Commission BMH. *Statistical bulletin on the development of health services in beijing*. (2012). Available online at: www.phic.org.cn/ (accessed March 23, 2013).

26. Underner M, Cuvelier A, Peiffer G, Perriot J, Jaafari N. [The influence of anxiety and depression on copd exacerbations]. *Rev Mal Respir.* (2018) 35:604–25. doi: 10.1016/j.rmr.2018.04.004

27. Hansen H, Beyer N, Frolich A, Godtfredsen N, Bieler T. Inter-day test-retest reproducibility of the Cat, Ccq, Hads and Eq-5d-3l in patients with severe and very severe Copd. *Patient Relat Outcome Meas.* (2021) 12:117–28. doi: 10.2147/PROM. \$306352

28. Griffith MF, Chen HP, Bekelman DB, Feemster LC, Spece LJ, Donovan LM, et al. Comorbid anxiety and depression, though underdiagnosed, are not associated with high rates of low-value care in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Ann Am Thorac Soc.* (2021) 18:442–51. doi: 10.1513/AnnalsATS.201912-877OC

29. Inoue C, Shawler E, Jordan CH, Jackson CA. Veteran and Military Mental Health Issues. Treasure Island, FL: Statpearls (2022).

30. Du J, Mayer G, Hummel S, Oetjen N, Gronewold N, Zafar A, et al. Mental health burden in different professions during the final stage of the Covid-19 lockdown in China: cross-sectional survey study. *J Med Internet Res.* (2020) 22:e24240. doi: 10.2196/24240

31. Gut-Gobert C, Cavailles A, Dixmier A, Guillot S, Jouneau S, Leroyer C, et al. Women and Copd: do we need more evidence? *Eur Respir Rev.* (2019) 28:180055. doi: 10.1183/16000617.0055-2018

32. Xiong J, Lipsitz O, Nasri F, Lui LMW, Gill H, Phan L, et al. Impact of covid-19 pandemic on mental health in the general population: a systematic review. J Affect Disord. (2020) 277:55–64. doi: 10.1016/j.jad.2020.08.001

33. Shi L, Lu ZA, Que JY, Huang XL, Liu L, Ran MS, et al. Prevalence of and risk factors associated with mental health symptoms among the general population in China during the Coronavirus disease 2019 pandemic. *JAMA Netw Open.* (2020) 3:e2014053. doi: 10.1001/jamanetworkopen.2020.14053

34. Yohannes AM. Copd patients in a Covid-19 society: depression and anxiety. *Expert Rev Respir Med.* (2021) 15:5–7. doi: 10.1080/17476348.2020.1787835

35. Huang Y, Zhao N. Generalized anxiety disorder, depressive symptoms and sleep quality during Covid-19 outbreak in China: a web-based cross-sectional survey. *Psychiatry Res.* (2020) 288:112954. doi: 10.1016/j.psychres.2020. 112954

36. Ovsyannikov ES, Avdeev SN, Budnevsky AV, Shkatova YS. Influence of anxiety/depression on the subjective evaluation of cough in patients with chronic obstructive pulmonary disease and obesity. *Medicina (Kaunas).* (2019) 55:134. doi: 10.3390/medicina55050134

37. Stage KB, Middelboe T, Pisinger C. Depression and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease (Copd). Impact on survival. *Acta Psychiatr Scand.* (2005) 111:320–3. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0447.2004.00497.x

38. Ng TP, Niti M, Tan WC, Cao Z, Ong KC, Eng P. Depressive symptoms and chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: effect on mortality, hospital readmission, symptom burden, functional status, and quality of life. *Arch Intern Med.* (2007) 167:60–7. doi: 10.1001/archinte.167.1.60

39. Barnes PJ, Celli BR. Systemic manifestations and comorbidities of Copd. Eur Respir J. (2009) 33:1165-85. doi: 10.1183/09031936.00128008

40. Herbert TB, Cohen S. Depression and immunity: a meta-analytic review. Psychol Bull. (1993) 113:472-86. doi: 10.1037/0033-2909.113.3.472

41. Bailey PH. The dyspnea-anxiety-dyspnea cycle-copd patients' stories of breathlessness: "it's scary /when you can't breathe". *Qual Health Res.* (2004) 14:760–78. doi: 10.1177/1049732304265973

42. Ciechanowski PS, Katon WJ, Russo JE. . Depression and diabetes: impact of depressive symptoms on adherence, function, and costs. *Arch Intern Med.* (2000) 160:3278–85. doi: 10.1001/archinte.160.21.3278

43. Moise N, Ye S, Alcantara C, Davidson KW, Kronish I. Depressive symptoms and decision-making preferences in patients with comorbid illnesses. *J Psychosom Res.* (2017) 92:63–6. doi: 10.1016/j.jpsychores.2015. 12.001

44. Lin FL, Yeh ML, Lai YH, Lin KC, Yu CJ, Chang JS. Two-month breathingbased walking improves anxiety, depression, dyspnoea and quality of life in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease: a randomised controlled study. J Clin Nurs. (2019) 28:3632–40. doi: 10.1111/jocn.14960

45. Li Z, Liu S, Wang L, Smith L. Mind-body exercise for anxiety and depression in copd patients: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Int J Environ Res Public Health*. (2019) 17:22. doi: 10.3390/ijerph17010022

46. Gordon CS, Waller JW, Cook RM, Cavalera SL, Lim WT, Osadnik CR. Effect of pulmonary rehabilitation on symptoms of anxiety and depression in Copd: a systematic review and meta-analysis. *Chest.* (2019) 156:80–91. doi: 10.1016/j.chest. 2019.04.009

47. Kuint R, Cohen Goichman P, Mizrachi A, Breuer R, Abutbul A, Berkman N, et al. The effect of a multidisciplinary integrated approach on outcomes in chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Israel Med Assoc J.* (2020) 22:761–4.

# Frontiers in **Psychiatry**

Explores and communicates innovation in the field of psychiatry to improve patient outcomes

The third most-cited journal in its field, using translational approaches to improve therapeutic options for mental illness, communicate progress to clinicians and researchers, and consequently to improve patient treatment outcomes.

## Discover the latest **Research Topics**



#### Frontiers

Avenue du Tribunal-Fédéral 34 1005 Lausanne, Switzerland frontiersin.org

#### Contact us

+41 (0)21 510 17 00 frontiersin.org/about/contact



